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THE PRC CITY GAS DISTRIBUTION
FLAGSHIP OF CHINA RESOURCES GROUP

China Resources Gas Group Limited (“CR Gas”), substantially
owned by China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited, one
of the largest state-owned conglomerates in China, is a leading
gas utilities group in China, which is principally engaged in
downstream city gas distribution business including piped natural
gas distribution, natural gas filling stations operation and sales of
gas appliances. Its operations are strategically located in areas
of China, which are economically more developed and densely
populated and areas with rich reserves of natural gas.

Leveraging on the excellent industry fundamentals and the Group’s
execution competency, CR Gas continues to expand rapidly in 2015
via organic and acquisition growths. At the end of 2015, CR Gas’s
portfolio is consisted of 220 city gas projects in 22 provinces of
China including 14 provincial capitals and 3 direct administrative
municipalities with an annual gross gas sales volume of some 14.9
billion cubic meters and 23.61 million customers.

As optimization of energy structure and environmental pollution
control will promote the sustainable growth of natural gas
consumption in China, the PRC government has, in recent years,
taken various measures to promote the development and utilization
of less polluting energy sources. The natural gas industry accords
with the core development idea of innovation, harmony, green, open
and sharing as compared with conventional energy resources such
as coal and crude oil. The PRC government has therefore been very
supportive of the development of the natural gas industry in order
to meet its stated goal of natural gas making 10% or more of the
total Chinese energy sources by 2020, up from the current 6% level.

The natural gas market in China is still in the important development
period, as China remains the most important region in the
global rise of natural gas development. CR Gas is well placed
to take advantage of such a favorable operating environment
and to become the most respectable leader in the PRC’s gas
industry by continuously expanding through organic and external
growths; diligently enhancing its operational efficiency in pursue
of excellence; delivering a safe and reliable supply of clean
energy as well as the caring, competent and efficient service to
our customers; offering growing and sustainable performance
to shareholders; creating extensive professional and personal
development opportunities to employees; and contributing to the
protection and improvement of the Chinese and global environment.
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The Group will continue to expand steadily via sustainable
organic growth and quality external acquisitions.
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OVERALL RESULTS

The downstream city gas industry in China experienced a challenging
year during 2015 with gas demand softening due to the deceleration of
the Chinese economic growth and the significant drop in price of oil and
related products which reduced the price competitiveness of gas. This
is aggravated by the slow down in industrial activity and hence demand
for gas by industrial users, as reflected by the relatively weak Chinese
economy which registered a lower 6.9% GDP growth rate compared to
7.4% in 2014. The overall 2015 gas volume demand growth in China was
only 5.7%, same level as the 5.6% registered in 2014.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED - Annual Report 2015
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Despite these challenging environment, the Group’s gross gas sales
volume increased by 9% and connected residential customers increased
by 14%. Turnover for 2015 increased by 8% to HK$31,096 million and
profit attributable to the Company’s equity holders increased 14% to
HK$2,838 million. The Group’s city gas distribution business in China
continued to contribute significant profit and cash inflow to the Group.
The Group has become the largest city gas distributors in the PRC with
gross annual gas sales volume of 14.9 billion cubic meters and 23.61
million customers.

FAVOURABLE DOWNSTREAM NATURAL GAS
INDUSTRY FUNDAMENTALS IN THE PRC

The on-going economic growth and urbanisation in China have continued
to increase the demand for energy in China. In order to diversify energy
base and reduce reliance on more polluting energy sources such as
coal and crude oil, the PRC government has, in recent years, taken
concrete measures to promote the development and utilisation of less
polluting energy sources. Natural gas is considered an effective and
cleaner substitute for conventional energy sources such as coal and
crude oil. The PRC government has therefore been very supportive of
the development of the natural gas industry in China.

The percentage of natural gas in total energy consumption in the PRC
is very low compared to international levels. According to BP Statistical
Review of World Energy June 2015, for 2014, natural gas only accounted
for 6% of China’s total primary energy consumption, which is far lower
than the international average of 23.7%.

To increase natural gas supply, the “West to East Gas Transmission”
pipelines were constructed with the support of the PRC government to
bring natural gas from the Xinjiang Autonomous Region to the coastal
regions of the PRC. Construction of the second and third phases of the
“West to East Gas Transmission” pipelines from Central Asia and the
“Sichuan to East” pipelines from the gas rich Sichuan Province to coastal
regions as well as the “Myanmar to Yunnan” gas pipeline have been
completed. Construction of the “West to East Gas Transmission” Phase
4, Russia to North-East China gas pipeline as well as Liquefied Natural
Gas terminals in coastal cities of the PRC are actively in progress.
Natural gas price reform to close the price gap between imported and
local gas prices and eventually to reach market driven level are also
being implemented. Once realised, these measures are expected to
significantly increase the supply of natural gas and its demand in China
in the foreseeable future.

EBRRERBRAT - T -LFFH 3
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The National Development and Reform Committee (“NDRC”) has
announced that gas will account for 10% or more of the energy sources
in China by 2020, up from the current 5.6% level. Despite the challenging
environment in 2015 as noted above, the Group is confident that the PRC
Government’s long-term strategic vision of heavily promoting the use of
natural gas to diversify its energy sources and combat pollution remains
unchanged. All relevant policies and measures will be constantly fine-
tuned by NDRC to achieve this goal. This will continue to boost the
demand and availability of natural gas in China and will continue to
offer significant opportunity for future growth in the downstream gas
industry in China.

On 28th February, 2015, NDRC announced that with effect from 1st
April, 2015, the ceiling city gate gas price of non-residential users for
existing volume will increase by RMB0.04/m® and that for incremental
volume will reduce by RMBO0.44/m3. This effectively merges the gas
prices of existing and incremental gas volumes resulting in an overall
net reduction in blended price of city gate gas. On 19th November
2015, NDRC announced that with effect from 20th November, 2015,
the ceiling city gate gas price for non-residential users is reduced by
RMBO0.70/m®. These unprecedented two times reduction of city gate
price within a year since gas price reform started in 2011, signals the
unwavering objective of NDRC to support the development of Chinese
gas industry to ultimately achieve market based gas price for the PRC.
These measures to enhance the price competitiveness of gas will ensure
that the NDRC's target of gas comprising about 10% or more of the
total energy sources in China by 2020 is achievable. With the coming
availability of abundant cheaper gas globally and in China within the
next 3 to 5 years, such market driven approach of gas pricing will spike
the continue demand for gas and will be extremely positive for the entire
downstream city gas industry.

The above factors augur well for the natural gas industry in China and
offer significant opportunity for the continuous growth of the Group in
the foreseeable future.

4 CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED - Annual Report 2015
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Strong Commitment to Cleaner Energy
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SUSTAINABLE EXPANSION AND GROWTH OF
BUSINESS

During 2008, the Company acquired a portfolio of 7 city gas distribution
projects from China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited. The
acquisition allows the Company to enter into the fast growing city gas
distribution business in China and provided the Group with a sound
foundation to tap into the burgeoning city gas distribution business in
the PRC by capturing the rapid increase in demand for natural gas in
China and leveraging China Resources Group’s strong presence and
brand name in China.

From 2009 to 2014, the Group acquired another 198 city gas projects.
These projects are mainly located in regions where there are rich natural
gas reserves and the economically more developed Eastern Board as
well as densely populated provincial capitals and emerging cities of
China. The Group also focuses on developing gas distribution projects
in areas where there are existing or potential piped natural gas supply.
During 2015, the city gas projects acquired from 2008 to 2014 continue
to grow organically in line with the growth in natural gas supply in China.

During 2015, the Company continued to make new acquisitions from
the market and acquired 18 city gas projects. As at 31st December,
2015, CR Gas portfolio included 220 city gas projects and its footprint
covered 22 Chinese provinces and included 3 direct administrative
municipalities, 14 provincial capitals and 72 prefecture level cities.

On 8th March, 2015, CR Gas has signed a Framework Agreement for a
proposed 49% city gas joint venture in Qinhuangdao with Qinhuangdao
Government. Qinhuangdao is a coastal city in Hebei Province with
an annual GDP of RMB125 billion and annual gas consumption of
230 million mé. The existing gas concession area covers Harbour
Zone, Beidaihe Zone, Shanhaiguan Zone, New Development Zone and
Beidaihe New Zone, with more than 390,000 connected households,
6 gas stations (5 CNGs and 1 LNG) and 1,357km pipeline. This joint
venture was subsequently set up in October 2015.

On 9 March, 2015, CR Gas announced that it will invest RMB612.5 million
to set up a 49% joint venture with Qingdao Energy Group. Qingdao is
one of the most economically developed cities in China with annual GDP
exceeding RMB940 billion with vast demand for piped natural gas in the
foreseeable future. The current market share of Qingdao Energy Group
is over 70% and the gas sale volume is some 380 million m®. The volume
is expected to double to some 800 million m® by 2020.

6 CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED - Annual Report 2015
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As one of the biggest remaining projects in China, this project will bring
immediate profit contribution in 2016 and eventually become one of
our top projects by sales volume. The joint venture is expected to be
completed in 1TH2016.

On 12th April, 2015, CR Gas entered into Cooperation Agreement with
government owned Dalian Gas to establish a 40% joint venture, in
Dalian. Dalian is a major city in Liaoning province with an annual GDP
of RMB766 billion, population of 5.94 million and annual natural gas
consumption of 98.75 million m® currently. The gas sales volume has
a lot of upside potential in view of the size of its population and GDP.
The joint venture will cover concession area in high-tech industrial zone,
Zhongshan, Xigang, Shahekou, Ganjingzi and the new airport business
zone districts. The joint venture is expected to be set up in 2H2016.

The Company considers the establishment of the above joint ventures
would accelerate gas infrastructure development and modernise gas
distribution and management in Qinhuangdao, Qingdao and Dalian to
improve economic efficiency and to tap their vast potentials in the future.
The joint ventures will enable the Group to further extend its coverage
and footprint in the PRC. The Group has existing city gas operations in
various cities in the North East Region of China. These joint ventures
will create synergy with the Group’s existing gas operations, thereby
will broaden the Group’s revenue base as well as enhance and sustain
its earning capabilities.
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CAPITAL MARKET PERFORMANCE

From 2008 to 2015, the share price of the Company has increased by
6.76 times from HK$3.42 to HK$23.15 and its market capitalisation has
increased by 16.70 times from HK$3.083 billion to HK$51.486 billion.

From 2008-2015, the profit of the Group increased by 11.98 times from
HK$237 million to HK$2.84 billion, turnover increased by 10.40 times
from HK$2.99 billion to HK$31.10 billion and total assets increased by
16.15 times from HK$3.71 billion to HK$59.90 billion.

Based on Bloomberg'’s report, as at 31st December, 2015, the Company
was covered by 25 analyst reports which is the highest number among
all listed peers in Hong Kong.

Baa1

International rating agencies, Standard & Poor’s, Moody’s and Fitch,
have during 2015 affirmed the Company’s investment grade ratings
of BBB+/Baa1/BBB+ respectively, affirming the healthy state of the
Company’s financial position as well as its quality income stream from
its Pan-China city gas project portfolio.

The yield on the Company’s 10 year US$750 million bond has consistently
been lower than those of comparable peers, indicating strong demand
of the bond and confidence in the Company’s future by credit investors.

The Company continues to receive many prestigious international
and domestic acknowledgements from respected publications and
institutions in 2015. Platts named us as the “Second Fastest Growing
Energy Company” in Asia in Top 250 Global Energy Company Rankings.
Our ranking continued its climb and advanced significantly in 2015
to position 181 from position 218 in 2014. Asia Newsweek Magazine
awarded the Company the “Best Results Performance Company” and
the “Green New Energy Enterprise”.
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BENCHMARKING TO ENHANCE EFFICIENCY

The Group’s growth during 2008 to 2014 have been mainly driven by
acquisition. Going forward, the Group will focus more on improving the
operational efficiency and performance of its existing city gas projects,
as the number of available acquisition targets, especially bigger city
gas projects, have been reducing over the years. This shift in emphasis
to organic growth, coupled with the projected significant increase in
upstream gas supply over the next few years, is expected to deliver
majority of the gas sales volume growth over the foreseeable future. In
this respect, the Group has continued to carry out the company-wide
Lean Management Campaign started in 2012 with the aim of utilising
minimum amount of resources to maximise value added product and
service delivery to customers in timely manners.

The Group also kicked off the company-wide Benchmarking Campaign in
2013 with the objective of learning and implementing the best practices
in the downstream city gas industry. This is to enable the Group to
measure up with the best and eventually outperform the peers.

The Benchmarking practice, which is continuing relentlessly throughout
the Group’s member companies, has integrated seamlessly with the
Lean Management measures, by comparing benchmarks, finding
differences, learning from others. These Benchmarking measures will
accelerate the materialisation of the Company’s goal.
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HONESTY & INTEGRITY CULTURE

In 2012, the Company launched the campaign of establishing the
Integrity & Honesty Culture across the Company and requires every
staff to sign the Honesty & Integrity Declaration ( {ii{z4& =) ).
The Group always regards Honesty & Integrity as its foundatlon of
development, and has issued and implemented a series of measures in
recent years, including Regulation on Honesty & Integrity ( (GIEARE
I2¥#%) ) and Rules for Staff Responsible for Honesty & Integrity Culture
(CHRIEARZEEIERE) ).
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to enhance its standard of corporate
governance by bench marking with good corporate governance
practices and has adopted a Corporate Governance Handbook based
on the Corporate Governance Code (the “Code”) issued by The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The Corporate
Governance Report is set out on pages 40 to 53 of this annual report.

RS20

h[E

Rk EE

Y ENNRE X THAERERNEEY
2 FEE-ERFEY  AEEDKRS
TR E B R 35 -

FEEBEHMALEERERRRYEFE
HZ 2 BRI AERETER Rt %
BER o

RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group is constantly alert to the threats or uncertainties with negative
consequences facing the industry and has been taking various measures
to safeguard the Group’s interest.

The system of annual and regular safety audit has been established
continuously on all operating member companies of the Group to ensure
compliance with national and local safety regulations.

10 CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED - Annual Report 2015
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Internal audit function covering both financial and operation audit has
been enhanced with new structure and increase in staff number. The
Group has set up 5 regional auditing centers and carried out 51 audits
at the Group and regional levels covering areas such financial, operation
and project construction. Various audit and risk management guidelines
have been revised and issued.

The Group has also set up the Preliminary Investment Review Committee
and carried out legal due diligence and reviews on investment proposals
and major contracts. Eight investment rules covering investments
in private enterprises, LNG gas stations, pre and post-investment
evaluation process, have been revised, issued and implemented.

To strengthen the institutionalisation of the legal and compliance system,
various guidelines on legal and compliance matters have been revised
and issued with follow-up trainings and education.

ENVIRONMENT AND SOCIAL CONTRIBUTIONS

The Group is supporting the ongoing green environmental policies of
the PRC government by actively expanding our cleaner natural gas
business. Based on the annualised gross amount of about 14.9 billion
m?® of natural gas distributed by the Group, it is estimated that annually
the Group helps to replace approximately 19.116 million tons of coal
usage and reduce approximately 43.2 million tons of carbon dioxide
emissions and 366,120 tons of pollutants.

The Group also carried out charitable activities as token of measure
to contribute to society. The Group’s member companies participated
in poverty alleviation, donation towards education, caring for
underprivileged groups and volunteer service activities in several
regions, proactively donated money and goods for various public welfare
activities in 2015, thus building good corporate images for the Group.

INCENTIVE AWARD SCHEME

The Company adopted an incentive award scheme (the “Incentive
Award Scheme”) on 1st December, 2008 and amended the scheme
on 16th March, 2010, for the purpose of recognizing and motivating
the contribution of employees and providing incentives to existing
employees. Details of the Incentive Award Scheme are set out in the
Directors’ Report.

EBRRERBRAT - T -LFFH 11
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TRAINING AND REWARD FOR EMPLOYEES

As at 31st December, 2015, the Group have approximately 44,624
employees. The Group values human resources and recognizes the
importance of attracting, training and retaining quality staff for its
continual success. In addition to the “Gas Faculty” in China Resources
University, which designs courses and provides training programs to the
Group’s workforce, the Group also operates 5 regional training centres
covering Eastern, Northern, Central, Southern and South-Western China.
These centres are located in our regional centres of Wuxi, Jining,
Zhengzhou, Fuzhou and Chengdu. Various types of management and
technical trainings are conducted through the Group for different levels
of staff to enhance their knowledge and skills. Improvements were also
carried out on the employee recruitment, assessment, remuneration and
staff retention policies to enhance the human resources management
process with the objective of recruiting, promoting and retaining the best
talents, from both internal and external sources. CR Gas’s management
team comprises utility professionals with significant expertise across
financial, regulatory, commercial and engineering disciplines. We
strive to provide and maintain a satisfying and rewarding working
environment for employees and commit to their training and professional
development. The Group remunerates its employees based on their
performance, work experience and the prevailing market wage level.
Further, bonuses are granted to employees and incentive awards are
made to employees based on merit and performance. The Group
believes this will assist to attract and retain quality staff and at the same
time encourage the employees to give their best performances.

T e
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OUTLOOK

The Group’s key business units in Jiangsu, Sichuan and Henan Regional
Centres have continued to register good operating performances.
Financial performance of Tianjin Project has turned profitable in 2015
and profit contribution from Chongging Project is expected to improve
steadily going forward.

Newly acquired Qinhuangdao Project has started to a contribute positively
to the Group’s gas volume. Acquisition of Qingdao and Dalian Projects will
be completed in 2016. These new projects will contribute significant to the
Group’s gas volume and bottom line in the next few years.

The Group has embarked on various operational enhancement
measures to boost the quality of its organic growth, starting with “Lean
Management” practice and “Bench-marking” measure in 2012 and 2013
respectively. The Group continues to focus intensely on these measures
to improve operation efficiencies relentlessly in 2015 and beyond.

The Group will ride on the continuing favourable industry fundamentals
and its experienced management team with strong execution record to
scale new heights via quality organic growth and external acquisitions.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to take this opportunity to express
our most sincere appreciation to our business partners, customers
and shareholders for their unfailing support as well as all the Group’s
employees for their hard work and dedication in carrying out their duties
and in achieving the Group’s business goal.

WANG CHUANDONG
Chairman

Hong Kong, 30th March, 2016
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The management team continuously enhances the
operational efficiency and core competency of the
Group to achieve sustainable organic growth.
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OPERATING RESULTS

The Group achieved an increase in turnover of 8% to HK$31,096 million
and recorded profit attributable to the Company’s equity holders of
HK$2,838 million for the year ended 31st December, 2015, an increase
of 14% over corresponding year. The operating profit from city gas
distribution business increased by 10% to HK$4,892 million and the cash
generated from operations increased from HK$6,689 million in 2014 to
HK$6,984 million in 2015.

The revenue of city gas distribution operation is derived from recurring
gas sales and one-time gas connection fee which respectively accounts
for 78% and 22% of the 2015 revenue (2014: 78% and 22% respectively).
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Report from the Chief Executive Officer

Gross gas sales volume increased 9% from 13.66 billion m® to 14.91
billion m3.

The total connected residential customers increased 14% from 20.74
million to 23.61 million, despite the softening of the private residential
property market in 2015. This was mainly because the number of public
housing units increased significantly in China under the government’s
policy to cushion the impact of the soft private property sector. The
increase in the retrofitting of old households with new gas connections
also helped to mitigate against the slowdown in the private residential
property market.

Tianjin Project (49% interest jointly-controlled enterprise) turned
profitable during 2015. This represents a significant improvement
compared to a loss of HK$89 million for 2014. The turnaround was mainly
due to the reduction of management and interest expenses, as well as
increase in heating and LNG procurement subsidies. Performance of
Tianjin Project is expected to continue to improve in 2016 and beyond.

New Investments

During 2015, the Company continued to make new acquisitions and
invested or paid HK$1,650 million in 18 city gas projects (including
Qingdao and Qinhuangdao Projects). Most of these projects are either
wholly owned or majority owned by the Group. Another 9 projects
totaling HK$166 million were invested at sub-business level. The above
investments totalled HK$1,816 million. As at 31st December, 2015, CR
Gas portfolio included 220 city gas projects and its footprint covered 22
Chinese provinces and included 3 direct administrative municipalities,
14 provincial capitals and 72 prefecture level cities.

In addition, as at 31st December, 2015, the Company has announced
or the Board has approved another 25 proposed city gas distribution
and related projects with proposed investments of HK$1,477 million.
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The Group has been active in seeking business opportunities to expand
its core business of downstream city gas operation in the PRC over the
recent years. Its existing city gas projects are strategically located in
various provinces in the PRC. The Investments are part of the on-going
expansion strategy of the Group with the aim of becoming the market
leader in the downstream city gas industry in the foreseeable future.

The Investments will enable the Group to further extend its coverage
and footprint in the PRC. The Group has existing city gas operations in
these provinces and has 17 regional offices set up in various strategic
locations in the PRC. The projects of the Investments will be efficiently
integrated and managed by the relevant regional office depending on
their geographical locations. As such, the Group considers that the
Investments create synergy with the Group’s existing gas operation,
thereby will broaden the Group’s revenue base as well as enhance and
sustain its earning capabilities.

The Group also conducts ongoing evaluation of past investments, which
are essential for making decisions on future investments.

Gas Price Revisions

In the effort to shift the cost burden away from the industrial sector,
the NDRC announced in March 2014, the country would introduce
three-tiered gas pricing for residential use. By the end of 2015, 49%
of our affected residential volume in cities such as Wuxi, Zhengzhou,
Nanjing, Shanghai, etc., have adopted step pricing system for residential
customers. This step pricing mechanism has lead to expansion of
residential dollar-margin in 2015.

Among all peers, CR Gas has the most number of residential customers,
thus benefit most from this measure and future upward revisions of
residential gas price.

16 CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED - Annual Report 2015
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Report from the Chief Executive Officer

On 28th February, 2015, the NDRC merged city gate prices of incremental
and existing gas volumes by lowering the price ceiling of incremental
volumes by RMBO0.44/m?* and raising the price ceiling for existing volumes
by RMBO0.04/m?® with effect from April 1st 2015. The blended average non-
residential gas price dropped as a result.

The non-residential city gate gas price ceiling was further reduced by a
much more significant amount of RMB0.70/m?® on 20th November, 2015.
This translates to about 28% drop in average city gas prices.

The above downward adjustments of blended city gate gas prices
increased the pricing competitiveness of natural gas and, in turn, demand
growth. The cuts, being the first after the gas price reform started in 2011
whereby gas prices have been steadily increasing since then, sent a
significant message: the PRC government is serious and willing to push
forward with the reform with both upward or downward price adjustments
to reflect market prices.

In the long run, the cheaper gas will greatly stimulate demand as abundant
cheaper gas is going to be available globally and in China within the next
3 to 5 years and will thus enable the NDRC to meet its future goal of gas
making 10% or more of the total Chinese energy sources, up from the
current 5.6% level. Such an environment will be extremely positive for
the entire downstream city gas industry. Going forward we expect that
city gate price of gas will see more frequent adjustments, half yearly or
even quarterly and eventually fully market driven once Shanghai Oil &
Gas Exchange market matures and third party gas access is allowed on
the main gas pipelines.
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“BENCHMARKING” TO ENHANCE
OPERATIONAL EFFICIENCY & CORE
COMPETENCY

“Benchmarking” is the process of comparing one’s business processes
and performance metrics to the best practices of the industry. The
Group has embarked on this best practice to benchmark across all
business units. “Benchmarking” has started off internally with intra-group
benchmarking and have extended to benchmarking against external best
practices of the industry.

Implementing “Benchmarking” measure is an indispensable choice for
CR Gas to accomplish the fundamental transformation of its growth
model from resources-driven growth to efficiency improvement, and is
also one crucial approaches taken by CR Gas to achieve its strategic
goal to become the leading world-class gas enterprise in China.

This combination of internal and external benchmarking helps each
member company to identify the most important gaps between its
current state and where it wants to be, create a road map for change
and generate the rigorous cost and performance baseline necessary to
effectively track progress on that road map over time in terms of cost
reductions and performance improvements. All member companies
were required to not only sign “Benchmarking Responsibility Contracts”
containing 82 benchmarking criteria with head office, but also to
implement those targets as their daily working standards. This ongoing
campaign has led to many satisfying results last year. For example,
the average period needed to install gas connection to commercial &
industrial customers was further reduced from 42 days to 38 days. Also
the average gas leakage rate has decreased further to 2.73%, lower
than the industrial average of 5%.
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Report from the Chief Executive Officer

CONTINUOUS EFFICIENCY IMPROVEMENT
OF REGIONAL CENTRES AND DESIGN &
CONSTRUCTION CENTRES

The Group has 17 Regional Centres to decentralise the management of
the day to day operation of the Group’s city gas projects across China.
Each Regional Centre is responsible for the day to day operation of
a cluster of cities within their respective regions. This enhances the
operation efficiencies and provides better services that respond faster
to changing local demand and conditions.

Members of the Group’s management team concurrently serve as
regional general managers. The arrangement minimises the increase
in headcounts or resources, thereby achieving the goal of attaining
maximum results with minimum resources.

The Group’s three Gas Pipeline Design and three Gas Pipeline
Construction Centers in Nanjing, Chengdu and Zhengzhou were
centralised and managed directly by the Head Office. The centralisation
of the Group’s design and construction activities will further enhance
standardisation of pipeline construction and central procurements
thereby resulting in further cost reductions. As of 2015, 51% of
construction activities and 91.5% of design activities were conducted

by the Group itself respectively.
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BUSINESS PROCESS STREAM-LINING AND
OPERATION ENHANCEMENT

The Group continues its systematic review of the business and
management processes of its various city gas projects. This ongoing
process is expected to continuously enhance the overall operational
efficiency of city gas projects.

The Group’s supply chain management was further streamlined with
rigorous tender system covering construction projects with the issue and
implementation of new or revised guidelines covering various categories
of projects and quality control measures. With the help of centralized
procurement IT system, most of our purchase materials have been
centralized, representing 78% of total material procurement expenditure
up to the end of 2015. The procurement costs have decreased by 7% as
a whole through centralized purchase, thereby reducing procurement
costs significantly.

Improvements were also carried out on the employee recruitment,
assessment, remuneration and staff retention policies to enhance the
human resources management process with the objective of recruiting,
promoting and retaining the best talents, from both internal and external
sources. CR Gas’s management team comprises utility professionals
with significant expertise and experiences across financial, regulatory,
commercial and engineering disciplines. We strive to provide and
maintain a satisfying and rewarding working environment for employees
and commit to their training and professional development.

With the objective of efficiency enhancement in view of the significant
increase in operation size of the Group in recent years, information
technology systems covering project management, top-up cards for gas
stations, office administration, centralized cash management, financial
reporting, human resources, centralized procurement and customer
service are continuously being rolled out across various levels of the
Group’s operation.

On the continuous enhancement of customer service, 11 standards on
Customer Service have been introduced to 115 member companies and
Customer Information has been promoted to 27 member companies.
In addition, we organized qualification certification training for 2,300
safety inspectors accumulatively to further protect customers’ safety and
improve their safety awareness. To further explore customers’ demand
and expectations, we collect and listen to customers’ opinions from
various channels and dedicate our efforts to provide quality services
and safe products to our customers.
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Report from the Chief Executive Officer

On the financial and tax management areas, the Group has successfully
promoted value-oriented management system to each member company
and thus effectively reduced costs and expenses. In particular, we
further enhanced the centralization of cash management with the
inclusion of more member companies in the system with significant
increase of cash pool size. By doing so, the Group has greatly reduced
the overall cost of borrowing. Furthermore, various taxation rationalization
and reduction measures were taken to reduce tax exposure and speed
of tax setoffs and refunds.

SAFETY MANAGEMENT ENHANCEMENT

The Group has formulated a number of safety management policies and
procedures as well as hiring qualified engineers and technical staff to
manage and prevent any potential accidents in the Group’s natural gas
related facilities which may cause damage to the environment.

In addition to our internally commissioned control, hazard prevention
and emergency recovery procedures, we have fully complied with the
relevant local and national environmental protection regulations and
licensing requirement.

EECEENErL

.
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To improve our safety standard, the Group implemented a range of
company-wide safety and environment conscious campaigns involving
23,538 persons; closely monitored safety performance by conducting
regular safety inspection of gas stations, branch pipelines, customer
pipelines, gas meters and gas appliances; carried out safety related
trainings and seminars in regional centers and hired more than 749
state certified safety technicians. In 2015, the Group made great
achievements in many pipeline network KPI indices. For example, the
pipeline leakage self-inspection rate has been enhanced to 91.76%
and the number of network third party damage accidents per hundred
kilometers has been reduced to 0.59, representing a reduction of 0.17%
as compared to last year.

The Group place emphasis on educating staff and users in respect
of safety procedures. Accordingly, regular trainings and seminars are
held for relevant staff. For end users, thorough explanations of safety
procedures are given and regular seminars as well as distribution of
brochures and booklets on safety are arranged.

APPRECIATION

| would like to express my deepest gratitude to our management
team and staff members for their unfailing hard work and dedication.
We would continue to work hand in hand to improve service to our
customers, increase efficiency to enhance the values of the shareholders
and employees.

SHI SHANBO
Executive Director & Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 30th March, 2016
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Financial & Operational Highlights

HMRERE FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
1
—E—1F —E—F ORd)
For the year ended Increase/
BZE+=-A=1+—HLEE 31st December, 2015 2014 (Decrease)
KE5|
Restated
TFHET FHT
HK$’000 HK$'000
o Turnover 31,095,756 28,717,025 8%
EH Gross profit 9,788,822 8,713,590 12%
KGR (ReER KA Profit from operations
EREERBENTIEE) (before finance cost and
share of JV & associates results) 4,891,555 4,433,622 10%
B3 A4 ) Profit for the period 3,803,107 3,349,129 14%
ARATIRAEFE AR ZF Profit attributable to the Company’s
equity holders 2,837,910 2,479,898 14%
CEEREENES Cash from operations 6,983,749 6,689,089 4%
EEEFBIRSF5E (Fi%2) Net cash from operating activities
(after tax payments) 5,690,055 5,476,262 4%
BREXRBFM (BIT) Basic EPS™ (HK$) 1.30 1.14 14%
BIRAHRE - B CBL) Interim dividend paid per share
(HK cents) 10 5 100%
BRKRHR S - G (81 Final dividend proposed per share
(HK cents) 23 20 15%
2EIRES - B GBI Total dividend per share for the year
(HK cents) 33 25 32%

MIEE (1)

AR

FREABNRE BITRM I INEF
BEEE  TEEXFTAFANER

Note: (1)

trustee.

EERRERERAT . T LEER

Basic earnings per share is calculated based on weighted average
number of issued shares, excluding restricted award shares held by
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#wm,
—E-FHF —E—E CRA)
For the year ended Increase/
BZE+=-A=1+—HLEE 31st December, 2015 2014 (Decrease)
KE5|
Restated
FHET FHET
HK$’000 HK$'000
WEE Total assets 59,896,272 57,751,698 4%
RITHEBRIA S Bank balance and cash 10,750,872 9,707,507 11%
RITREREERZEOD Total bank and note borrowings™ 14,899,191 14,929,154 0%
BEFE Net borrowings 4,148,319 5,221,647 (21%)
RRTRAFFE AEIERA Equity attributable to the
Company’s equity holders 17,009,359 16,063,368 6%
JEPEIR = Non-controlling interests 5,477,647 5,064,551 8%
WA LE Total equity 22,487,006 21,127,919 6%
M (1) HPBEO43EETEENNET Note: (1)  Included therein were HK Dollar and US Dollar denominated loans
RETFHENERRES - REER and bond of some equivalent HK$14.3 billion. To minimise foreign
DHNEFIE - B ELBBUAAR exchange losses, it is planned to change these to RMB denominated
BAHENERSETEE - ZT—K loans or to settle them. The amounts planned for 2016 and 2017 are
ER =T ENEESED B A40 HK$4 billion and HK$4.5 billion respectively.
B8 TT RASIEATT
—E-HF —T—mF
BER Financial Indicators 2015 2014
KET
Restated
EES Gross profit margin 31.5% 30.3%
R Net profit margin 9.1% 8.6%
BN L % Current ratio 0.8x 0.9x
FEAREELLERO Net Debt to equity ratio 24.4% 32.5%
BERAELERO Debt to capitalization ratio® 39.9% 41.4%
BEARLEO Debt to assets ratio® 24.9% 25.9%
N E AR B HE® Return on weighted average equity® 16.6% 15.4%
B 5 Notes:
(1) FEABELREEEFHEEARRERR (1) Net Debt/equity gearing ratio is the ratio of net borrowings to shareholders’
ARE LA o equity.

(2 EAXRBBELEERTREBRESLHAR
TTERBERBABEMLLS)

(B) EEABBHIERTREBRERGEFAE
ERENLD -

(4) WMEIBEEHFEE BREA11.0% (=
T—FE)  10.0% (ZZT—PUE) o

24
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CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED

Debt/capitalization gearing ratio is the ratio of total bank and note borrowings
to total bank borrowings and total equity.

Debt/asset gearing ratio is the ratio of total bank and note borrowings to total
assets.

If merger reserve is excluded, return was 11.0% (2015), 10.0% (2014).

- Annual Report 2015
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EBBE OPERATIONAL PERFORMANCE
R-Z-1F RZZ—mF
+=A=+-H +=-A=+-H
As at As at #n CRd),/ %
EERY Operational Performance 31st December, 2015 31st December, 2014 Change/%
HE¥H Number of projects 220 205 15
HERE (HBYAK) Gross sales volume (million m3) 14,913 13,660 9.2%
ERRAF Residential 3,863 3,467 11.4%
THERP Commercial & Industrial 9,337 8,576 8.9%
piiE=Rs Gas Station 1,713 1,617 5.9%
BRAF Connected Customers
BERAF Residential 23,608,806 20,738,125 2,870,681
T¥/RFP Industrial 9,541 7,909 1,632
EERP Commercial 164,305 134,263 30,042
MREE R Number of Gas Station
(CNG/LNG/L-CNG) (CNG/LNG/L-CNG) 317(217/67/33) 279(194/55/30) 38(23/12/3)
MR E LT HERE Average sales volume of single Gas
(BBYAX/F) Station (million m¥/per year) 5.40 5.80 (6.9%)
THERE BA/EF Average Gas Tariff/Cost/Gross Margin
(ARMEIHN) (RMB per m?) 2.94/2.23/0.71 091/2.24/0.67  0.03/(0.01)/0.04
BERAF Residential 2.21/1.96/0.25 2.16/1.99/0.17 0.05/(0.03)/0.08
IHLERF Commercial & Industrial 3.06/2.25/0.81 2.99/2.27/0.72  0.07/(0.02)/0.09
=R Gas station 3.64/2.42/1.22 3.62/2.551.07  0.02/(0.13)/0.15
FHRREFE Average Gas Gross Profit Margin 23.7% 22.2% 1.5%pt
BERREF Residential 11.2% 7.8% 3.4%pt
TEERP Commercial & Industrial 26.4% 24.0% 2.4%pt
pillE=l Gas station 33.7% 29.5% 4.2%pt
(CNG/LNG) (CNG/LNG) (36.4%/25.8%) (30.1%/19.6%)
THERERBA Average Residential Connection Fee
(ARE®) (RMB) 2,990 3,160 (170)
ITHXAFOHERHMHAR Installed designed capacity for C&I
(IAKEH) customers (m? per day) 62,869,040 47,431,293 15,437,747
/ERE (%) [Utilization rate (%) 40.7% 49.5% (8.8%)pt
ERAFBEXR Penetration Rate of Residential
Household 44.4% 41.5% 2.9%pt
EWRE (RE) Total Length of Pipeline (km) 116,241 98,512 17,729
EHRRERERAT - —T—HAFF® 25
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FINANCIAL RESULTS

The Group’s results for 2015 were mainly driven organic growth. The
Group’s turnover for the year amounted to HK$31,096 million (2014:
HK$28,717 million).

The city gas distribution business contributed an after tax but before
non-controlling interest profit of HK$3,803 million (2014: HK$3,349
million) and profit attributable to shareholders of the Company of
HK$2,838 million (2014: HK$2,480 million).

Turnover

The turnover of the city gas distribution operation for the year ended
31st December, 2015 amounted to HK$31,096 million, an increase of
8% over that of 2014. The increase was mainly due to the increase in
gas sales volume by 9% from 13.66 billion m® to 14.91 billion m® and
the increase in connection fee income by 10% from HK$6,236 million to
HK$6,869 million. The increase in gas sales and connection fee income
were in turn driven by the following factors:

(1) 33% increase in the daily installed capacity for commercial &
industrial (*C&I”) customers from 47.43 million m® to 62.87 million

m3.

(2) 14% increase in the number of connected households from 20.74
million to 23.61 million.

Gross Margin

The city gas distribution operation registered an overall gross profit
margin of 31.5% for 2015, which was 1.2 points higher than the 30.3%
for 2014. This was because the gross margin of gas sales increased
slightly from 22.2% to 23.7% despite gross margin of connection fee
decreased from 59.8% to 58.9% due to changes in city mix resulting in
a reduction in average connection fee per household from RMB3,160
in 2014 to RMB2,990 in 2015. The higher overall gas sales margin
was mainly due to higher margin achieved in sales to commercial and
industrial customers arising from dollar margin expansion during gas
price reductions and the increase in residential dollar margin due to
tiered pricing implement through residential customers.
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EERENWR DM
Management Discussion and Analysis

Other income, costs and expenses

Other income of HK$892 million comprised mainly interest income
arising from cash pool deposits placed in banks, sale of household gas
equipment and related installation fee as well as pipeline construction
income. Reduction of HK$15 million over that of 2014 was mainly due to
decrease in pipeline and related project construction revenue.

The increase in absolute amounts of selling and distribution as well
as administration expenses in 2015 were mainly due to numerous new
projects acquired from 2013 to 2015, these recently acquired projects
need time to attain higher operating efficiency. The main increases
were staff costs and pipelines and related assets depreciation which
increased by HK$362 million and HK$65 million respectively. As a
percentage of revenue, selling and distribution expenses as well as the
administration expenses were 10.0% and 8.1% respectively, (2014: 9.5%
and 8.2% respectively).

Finance cost increased by HK$4 million because of the increase in
floating interest rates on bank loans.

There was an increase of HK$85 million contribution from joint ventures
during the year compared to previous year. The increase is in line with
the steady performance of the joint ventures.

There was an increase of HK$15 million contribution from associates
during the year compared to previous year. The increase was mainly
due to the steady improvement of the financial results of the Group’s
Chongging Project.

Taxation expense is 28.4% of profit before taxation (2014: 29.6%). This
is higher than the 25% standard tax rate mainly due to PRC taxation
expenses related to internal group restructuring and withholding tax on
payments of offshore dividends.
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Strong operating and free cash flow generation

The city gas distribution operation continued to generate healthy
cash flow with a net operating cash flow after tax of HK$5,690 million
and free operating cash flow of HK$1,994 million in 2015 before
external acquisition expenditure. The Group recorded a cash balance
of HK$10,751 million at the end of 2015. The Group has continued to
leverage on its strong balance sheet to raise low cost finance during
2015 and has a total bank loans and senior notes of HK$14,899 million
outstanding as at 31st December, 2015, with a gross debt to total asset
ratio of 25% (2014: 26%). The Group maintains a very healthy balance
sheet with low gross debt ratio, high EBITDA to interest cover ratio of
12.8 times at 31st December, 2015 (2014: 11.6 times).

Reasonable rates of return

In view of the fact that the Group is still in expansion phase, the city gas
distribution operation registered reasonable return on equity of 16.7% in
2015 (2014: 15.4%). The Group acquired 27 new projects in 2015. The
rates of returns are expected to improve once all these newly acquired
projects start to attain higher operating efficiency and generate more
returns in 2016 and thereafter.

Major contributors

Previously, the earlier projects of Chengdu, Wuxi and Suzhou acquired
in 2008 used to account for more than 80% of the gas sales volume,
connection fee and net profit contribution. As the Group has acquired
more new projects from 2009 to 2015, their contribution percentages
have decreased and taken up by others such as Chongging, Tianjin,
Zhengzhou, Zhenjiang, Fuzhou, Nanjing, Xiamen, Yueyang and Wuhan.
Over the next few years, the percentage contribution from all projects
are expected to gradually become more evenly distributed in the future.
The broadening of the Group’s earning base will insure the Group from
relying heavily on any single city gas project.

The top 10 gas sales volume contributors accounted for 62% of the
total gross gas sales volume of the Group. The top 10 profit contributors
accounted for 50% of the Group’s net profit before corporate expenses.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Liquidity and Financial Resources

The net cash inflow after tax from operations during the year amounted
to HK$5,690 million (2014: HK$5,476 million).

To fund its acquisition expansion, the Group spent HK$1.8 billion in
capital expenditure during the year. The Group spent HK$3.7 billion
in upgrading and expanding of its existing city gas pipelines and
related facilities (2014: HK$3.8 billion). The above required funding
was financed by the operating cash flow, bank borrowings and cash
on hand of the Group. As at year end, the Group’s free cash on hand
was HK$10.8 billion (2014: HK$9.7 billion). Among the cash balance
8% was denominated in Hong Kong dollar and 91% in Renminbi and
1% in US dollar.

It is the Group’s policy to use the cash flow generated from operations
and appropriate level of borrowings as the principal source of fund to
finance major expansion and acquisition. As at the end of the year, the
Group has total bank and note borrowings of HK$14.9 billion (2014:
HK$14.9 billion). 28% (2014: 22%) of the borrowings is considered
as current liabilities and repayable within one year, the remaining are
repayable in two to seven years. Renminbi, Japanese, Hong Kong dollar
and US dollar denominated borrowings accounted for 3%, 2%, 57%
and 38% of the total borrowings respectively (2014: 4%, 1%, 57% and
38%). 58% (2014: 59%) of borrowings are interest bearing bank loans
on floating rate terms and 42% (2014: 41%) are interest bearing bank
loans and senior notes with fixed interest rate.

The cash balance of the Group was HK$10.8 billion as at the year end.
The gearing ratio of the Group at the end of the year, calculated as total
bank and note borrowings over total assets, was 25% (2014: 26%). The
EBITDA to interest cover ratio was at the healthy level of 12.8 times
(2014: 11.6 times). The financial position and liquidity of the Group is
very healthy and stable.

The Group has been granted a total of HK$8.5 billion (2014: HK$8.5
billion) term loan facilities with maturities from 2016 to 2018. The facilities
are unsecured and with floating interest rates. As at the end of the year,
100% (2014: 100%) of the facilities has been drawn down.
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Other than the above mentioned committed facilities, the Group
has no other committed borrowing facilities. For day-to-day liquidity
management and maintaining flexibility in funding, the Group has
managed to obtain sufficient uncommitted short-term facilities from
banks.

Charge of Assets

As at 31st December, 2015, bank deposits of HK$51 million were
pledged as securities for trade payable to suppliers of natural gas
and certain property, plant and equipment and trade receivables
with carrying values of HK$139 million were pledged to secure bank
borrowings.

Property, Plant and Equipment

During the year ended 31st December, 2015, the Group’s city gas
distribution business spent HK$228 million on machinery and equipment
and HK$2,221 million on construction in progress.

Contingent Liabilities

As at 31st December, 2015, the Group did not have any material
contingent liabilities.

Financial Management and Treasury Policy

The financial risk management of the Group is the responsibility of
the Group’s treasury function at the head office in Hong Kong. One of
the major objectives of the Group’s treasury policies is to manage its
exposure to fluctuation in interest rates and foreign currency exchange
rates. It is the Group’s policy not to engage in speculative activities.

Most of the Group’s assets and liabilities are denominated in Hong
Kong dollar, US dollar and Renminbi with some denominated in JPY.
The Group does not expect significant exposure to foreign exchange
fluctuations in this regard.
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Mr. Wang Chuandong, aged 52, was appointed as an Executive Director and
General Manager of the Company on 3rd November, 2008. He was appointed
as the Chairman of the Board with effect from 1st June, 2012. He is also the
Chairman of the Company’s Nomination Committee and a member of the
Investment Committee. He was appointed as a Director and the General Manager
of China Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited in February 2007. He is currently a
Deputy General Manager of China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited. Mr.
Wang joined China Resources Petrochems (Group) Company Limited (currently
known as Sinopec (Hong Kong) Petroleum Holding Company Limited) in 1985
and was previously its Director and Deputy General Manager. He has over 25
years of corporate management experience in the area of petroleum and related
products trading and distribution and holds a Bachelor's Degree in Science
majoring in Petroleum Refining from the China University of Petroleum and a
Master of Business Administration Degree from the University of Texas, USA.
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Mr. Shi Shanbo, aged 50, was appointed as an Executive Director and Chief
Executive Officer of the Company on 1st June, 2012 and is also a member of the
Nomination Committee and Corporate Governance Committee of the Company.
He is currently the Assistant General Manager of China Resources (Holdings)
Company Limited. Mr. Shi joined China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited
in 1991, and was a Non-executive Director of China Resources Beer (Holdings)
Company Limited (formerly known as China Resources Enterprise, Limited),
China Resources Land Limited and China Resources Power Holdings Company
Limited, and Vice Chairman and General Manager of China Resources Cement
Holdings Limited, which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited. He was a Director of China Resources Sanjiu Medical &
Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd., a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange. He
was the Chairman of China Resources Jinhua Co., Ltd. (now known as Skyworth
Digital Co., Ltd), a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange, from
November 2006 to March 2010. He was previously the Audit Director and Deputy
General Manager of the Finance Department of China Resources (Holdings)
Company Limited and the General Manager of China Resources Textiles
(Holdings) Company Limited. Mr. Shi holds a Master's Degree in Economics
from Dongbei University of Finance and Economics.
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Mr. Ge Bin, aged 52, was appointed as an Executive Director and Vice
Chairman of the Company on 20th February, 2014. He is responsible for
market development and gas business in the Greater Area of Shanghai,
Jiangsu, Fujian, Hunan, Hubei etc.. Mr. Ge joined China Resources
(Holdings) Company Limited in September 1996 and has been with China
Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited since September 2007 and held former
positions as Assistant General Manager, Deputy General Manager, Senior
Vice President. Mr. Ge holds a Master’s Degree in Engineering from Nanjing
Tech University, and holds a senior economist qualification.
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Mr. Ong Thiam Kin, aged 58, was appointed as an Executive Director
and Chief Financial Officer of the Company on 28th May, 2001. He is also
the Company Secretary of the Company and a member of the Company’s
Corporate Governance Committee. He is a fellow member of the Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants in the United Kingdom, the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and members of the national
accounting bodies of Singapore and Malaysia. He obtained a Master of
Business Administration Degree from the University of Southern Queensland,
Australia. He has more than 30 years of diverse range of experience in
professional accounting practice as well as senior financial positions in
various industries straddling countries in Southeast Asia, Hong Kong and
the PRC.
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Mr. Du Wenmin, aged 52, was appointed as a non-executive director of
the Company in March 2008, and is also a member of the Remuneration
Committee and Nomination Committee of the Company. He was appointed as
a non-executive director of China Resources Land Limited in August 2007, a
non-executive director of China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited
(formerly known as China Resources Enterprise, Limited) in September
2007, a non-executive director of China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
in August 2008, and a non-executive director of China Resources Power
Holdings Company Limited in July 2010. These companies are listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. Mr. Du is
the Deputy General Manager and Chief Human Resources Officer of China
Resources (Holdings) Company Limited. Mr. Du is also the Director of China
Resources National Corporation. Mr. Du was a director of China Resources
Sanjiu Medical & Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd., which is listed on the Shenzhen
Stock Exchange, and China Resources Double-Crane Pharmaceutical Co.,
Ltd., which is listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange. Mr. Du was previously
the Managing Director of China Resources Construction (Holdings) Limited
and the Internal Audit Director of China Resources (Holdings) Company
Limited. Mr. Du obtained a Master’'s Degree in Business and Administration
from the University of San Francisco, USA. He joined China Resources
(Holdings) Company Limited in 1985.
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r. Wei Bin, aged 46, was appointed as a non-executive director of China
Resources Gas Group Limited in November 2008, and is also the Chairman
of the Investment Committee and a member of Audit and Risk Management
Committee of the Company. He was appointed as a non-executive director
of China Resources Power Holdings Company Limited in July 2010, a non-
executive director of China Resources Land Limited in October 2010, a
non-executive director of China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited
(formerly known as China Resources Enterprise, Limited) in November 2010.
These companies are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited. Mr. Wei was appointed as a non-executive director of China
Vanke Co., Ltd. in March 2013, which is listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and the Shenzhen Stock Exchange. He has
been appointed as the Chief Accountant and the Chief Financial Officer of China
Resources (Holdings) Company Limited. He is also a director of Shan Dong
Dong-E E-Jiao Co., Ltd, which is listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange. He
was a Director of China Resources Sanjiu Medical & Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.,
which is listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange and China Resources Double-
crane Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd., which is listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange.

Mr. Wei holds a Bachelor's degree in Auditing from Zhongnan University of
Economics in China and a Master’s degree in Finance from Jinan University in
China, and is a Senior Accountant and a Senior Auditor in China. He is also a
non-practicing member of the Chinese Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
Mr. Wei joined China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited in 2001.
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Mr. Chen Ying, aged 45, was appointed as a non-executive director of the
Company in June 2012, and is also a member of the Investment Committee of the
Company. He is a non-executive director of China Resources Cement Holdings
Limited and China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited (formerly known
as China Resources Enterprise, Limited) in May 2012, and China Resources
Power Holdings Company Limited and China Resources Land Limited in June
2012. These companies are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited. Mr. Chen was appointed as a non-executive director of China
Vanke Co., Ltd. in March 2013, which is listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and the Shenzhen Stock Exchange. He is Chief
Strategy Officer of China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited since July 2013
and the General Manager of Strategy Management Department since October
2011. He was also a Director of China Resources Double-Crane Pharmaceutical
Co., Ltd., which is listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange, and China Resources
Sanjiu Medical & Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd., which is listed on the Shenzhen Stock
Exchange. He has worked as Project Engineer, Project Manager and Manager of
Procurement Department and Executive Director of China Resources Construction
(Holdings) Company Limited, a fellow subsidiary of the Company, from September
1993 to March 2002. He was also the Managing Director of China Resources
Land (Beijing) Limited from March 2002 to October 2011 and a Director of China
Resources Land Limited from March 2003 to February 2006. Mr. Chen obtained
a Bachelor's degree of Architectural Management from the Tsinghua University,
China in 1993 and a Master’s degree of Business Administration from University of
Oxford, the United Kingdom, in 2007. Mr. Chen joined China Resources (Holdings)
Company Limited in 1993.
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Mr. Wang Yan, aged 44, was appointed as a non-executive director of the
Company in August 2014, and is also a member of the Audit and Risk Management
Committee of the Company. He joined China Resources National Corporation in
July 1994. He worked for China Resources Petrochems (Group) Company Limited
(currently known as Sinopec (Hong Kong) Petroleum Holding Company Limited)
from 2000 to 2006. Mr. Wang was appointed as a director of China Resources
Gas Limited in November 2005. He was appointed as a Deputy General Manager
of China Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited from September 2007 to April 2012.
He was a Deputy General Manager of the Internal Audit Department of China
Resources (Holdings) Company Limited from April 2012 to January 2016 and was
appointed as the General Manager in February 2016. He was appointed as a non-
executive director of China Resources Power Holdings Company Limited, China
Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited (formerly known as China Resources
Enterprise, Limited), China Resources Land Limited and China Resources Cement
Holdings Limited in August 2014. Mr. Wang holds a Bachelor's Degree in
Economics from the Finance and Accounting Department, Capital University of
Economics and Business, a Master of Business Administration Degree from the
University of South Australia and is a qualified PRC Certified Accountant.
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Mr. Wong Tak Shing, aged 65, was appointed as an Independent Non-
executive Director of the Company in 1998. He is the Chairman of the Company’s
Remuneration Committee and members of the Audit and Risk Management
Committee, Nomination Committee, Investment Committee and Corporate
Governance Committee. Mr. Wong involves in various professional appointments
and public duties, including Chairman of the Appeal Tribunal Panel, Member of
Probate Committee of the Law Society of Hong Kong and Member of Working
Committee of the Law Society of Hong Kong (2011-2012) on proposed reform of
Trustee Ordinance, Cap 29. He was admitted as a solicitor of the Supreme Court
of Hong Kong in 1984, a solicitor of England & Wales and Australia respectively in
1989, a solicitor of Singapore in 1995 and was appointed as a China-Appointed
Attesting Officer with effect from 18th January, 2003 and full member (TEP) of the
Society of Trust and Estate Practitioners (STEP) with effect from 12th February,
2010. Mr. Wong has been in private practice in Hong Kong for over 20 years.
From 1984 to 1987, he worked as an assistant solicitor with two local law firms in
Hong Kong before setting up his own practice in 1987. Mr. Wong holds a Master’s
Degree in Laws from the Peking University of China and a Master’s Degree in Laws
from the University of London of England.
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Ms. Yu Jian, aged 62, was appointed as an Independent Non-executive Director
of the Company on 17th March, 2010. She is the Chairman of the Company’s
Corporate Governance Committee and member of the Nomination Committee and
the Audit and Risk Management Committee. She actively involves in various bodies
and associations, including President of the Shenzhen Federation of Entrepreneurs
and Shenzhen Entrepreneurs Association. Ms. Yu was previously the Chairman
of Shenzhen Water (Group) Co., Ltd., the General Manager of Shenzhen Gas
Corporation Limited and Vice-President of China Urban Water Association. Ms. Yu
graduated from the Harbin University of Civil Engineering and Architecture and is
a Senior Engineer with professorship.
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Mr. Yu Hon To, David, aged 68, was appointed as an Independent Non-
executive Director on 28th December, 2012. He is also the Chairman of
the Audit and Risk Management Committee and member of each of the
Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee of the Company. Mr.
Yu is a fellow member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England
and Wales and an associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. He has extensive experience in the fields of auditing,
corporate finance, financial investigation and corporate management. He
was formerly a partner of an international accounting firm. He is currently an
Independent Non-executive Director of China Renewable Energy Investment
Limited, Great China Holdings Limited, Haier Electronics Group Co., Ltd,
Keck Seng Investments (Hong Kong) Limited, Media Chinese International
Limited, New Century Asset Management Limited (which is the manager
of New Century Real Estate Investment Trust, a Hong Kong Collective
Investment Scheme listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange), One
Media Group Limited, Playmates Holdings Limited, Bracell Limited (formerly
known as Sateri Holdings Limited) and Synergis Holdings Limited, which
are Main Board listed companies in Hong Kong.
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Mr. Qin Chaokui, aged 47, was appointed as an Independent Non-executive
Director and member of the Nomination Committee and Corporate Governance
Committee of the Company on 28th December, 2012. He is a professor,
doctoral supervisor and Head of Gas Engineering Research Centre of the
School of Mechanical and Energy Engineering, Tongji University, performing
research in the field of gas utilization, transmission/distribution, and production.
He is currently a member of Renewable Energy Utilization in Buildings Sub-
group of MOHURD (Ministry of Housing and Urban-Rural Development
of People’s Republic of China), a member of Shanghai Municipal Urban-
Rural Development & Transportation Commission Science and Technology
Committee, a council member of China Gas Association, a member of Gas
Sub-society of China Civil Engineer Society. He is currently member of editorial
boards of some academic periodicals, including “Gas and Heat”, “Building
Energy Conservation”, “City Gas” etc. Mr. Qin graduated from Tongji University

and holds a Doctor’s Degree in Engineering.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Ms. Qin Xuwen, aged 54, was appointed as a Senior Vice President of China
Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited in February 2014. She is responsible for
operation and management of Greater Jiangsu Area and in charge of Greater
Anhui Area, and concurrently serves as the General Manager of Nanjing
Jiangning China Resources Gas Co., Ltd. She was the General Manager of
Nanjing China Resources Gas Co., Ltd. from 2006 to 2013.

Mr. Zhu Likun, aged 49, was appointed as a Senior Vice President of
China Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited in February 2014, responsible
for operation, safety and information technology management. Mr.
Zhu holds a Bachelor’'s Degree majoring in Petro-chemical Industry
Automation from the Nanjing University of Chemical Technology
(currently known as Nanjing Tech University), a Master's Degree
majoring in International Economics from the Soochow University, and
a Senior Engineer qualification. He joined China Resources (Holdings)
Company Limited in August 2003.

Ms. Cheng Jie, aged 41, was appointed as a Senior Vice President of
China Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited in February 2014, responsible
for the Finance Department and the Internal Audit Department. Ms. Cheng
holds a Bachelor's Degree in Business Administration from Zhongnan
University of Finance and Economics. She has worked in China Resources
Gas (Holdings) Limited since June 2005, where she once served as the
Financial Controller. Prior to joining China Resources Gas (Holdings)
Limited, Ms. Cheng served as a senior manager in investment banking
division of Head & Shoulders Securities.

Mr. Zheng Xifeng, aged 58, was appointed as a Vice President of China
Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited in September 2007, responsible
for internal corporate affairs. Mr. Zheng holds a Bachelor's Degree in
Law from the School of Law of Xiamen University, a Master of Business
Administration Degree from the University of San Francisco in the United
States, and the qualification as Senior International Business Engineer.
He joined China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited in August
1985 and has been with China Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited since
September 2007.

Mr. Huang Weizhong, aged 50, was appointed as a Vice President of
China Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited in September 2007, responsible
for investment and PRC legal affairs as well as Beijing Representative
Office. Mr. Huang holds a Master’'s Degree majoring in International
Finance from the Fudan University and licenses to practice as a lawyer
and an engineer. He joined China Resources (Holdings) Company
Limited in March 2000 and has been working for China Resources Gas
(Holdings) Limited since March 2007.
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Mr. Yan Xiaojun, aged 42, was appointed as Vice President of China
Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited in March 2012, responsible for
operation and management of Greater Liaoning Area and concurrently
acts as the General Manager of Liaoning Area. He served as various
posts in Suzhou Xin Qu Gas Corporation (BRM¥TEREAF) from
1996 to 2003, including Scheduling, Engineering Design, Pipelines
Deputy Director, Business Deputy Director, Deputy Director of the Chief
Engineer Office, Workshop Director and Production Chief Director, he
also served as Assistant General Manager in Suzhou China Resources
Gas Co., Ltd. from 2003 to 2005, Executive Deputy General Manager of
Chengdu City Gas Co., Ltd. from 2005 to 2009 and General Manager
of Kunming China Resources Gas Co., Ltd. from 2009 to 2011. Mr. Yan
graduated from Tongji University and holds a Bachelor’s Degree in Gas
Profession.

Mr. Zhu Ping, aged 50, was appointed as a Vice President of China
Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited in March 2012, assisting in operation
and management of Greater Sichuan and Greater Northwest Areas. He
has been with China Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited since September
2004, where he once served as the Head of Administration. Mr. Zhu had
served as a Deputy General Manager in Huainan Gas Corporation (&
TE & A F]), an Executive Deputy General Manager in Yuyao Urban Gas
Co., Ltd. (BT ER AR 2 7)) from 2000 to 2001, and Senior Project
Manager and General Manager in Wenzhou Xinao Gas Co., Ltd. &/
TEMRE AR ATF]) from 2001 to 2004.

Mr. Shi Baofeng, aged 44, was appointed as a Vice President of China
Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited in March 2012, responsible for human
resources management and the Greater Guangdong Area. Mr. Shi holds
a Master of Business Administration Degree from the Southwest Jiaotong
University and a Master Degree from the China Europe International
Business School; he also holds a Senior Engineer qualification. He
joined China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited in 2006 and China
Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited in March 2007.

Mr. Chen Guoyong, aged 54, was appointed as Vice President of
China Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited in March 2012, responsible
for operation and management of the Greater Henan and Shanxi Area,
and concurrently serves as General Manager of Zhengzhou China
Resources Gas Co., Ltd.. He is currently a Committee Member of the Gas
Transmission and Distribution Professional of the China Civil Engineering
Society. He joined the Design Institute of Jining Gas Company in 1984
and served as an Assistant Engineer from 1985 to 1986. Mr. Chen
served as Director of the Dispatch Office and an Engineer of Jining Gas
Company from 1986 to 2000, Deputy Secretary of the CPC Committee
and Deputy General Manager of Jining Gas Company from 2000 to
2005, Secretary of CPC Committee and General Manager of Jining Gas
Company from 2005 to 2007, and Vice Chairman and General Manager
of Jining China Resources Gas Co., Ltd. from 2007 to 2015.
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Mr. Lu Hong, aged 45, was appointed as Vice President of China
Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited in March 2012, responsible for
operation and management of the Greater Fujian and Jiangxi Area, and
concurrently serves as General Manager of the Greater Fujian Area and
Vice Chairman of Xiamen China Resources Gas Co., Ltd.. Mr. Lu holds
a Bachelor’s Degree in Commercial Enterprise Management from Tianjin
University of Commerce. He served at various posts (from staff member
to Executive Deputy General Manager) in Beijing Jinye Real Estate
Development Co., Ltd. (At R&ZHEFHE) from 1993 to 2000, Chairman
of Fuzhou Jingyou New Building Materials Co., Ltd. (&1 & A &
ABR7AF]) from 2000 to 2004, and various posts (from staff member to
Deputy General Manager) in Fujian Anran Gas Co., Ltd. (@R L AMRE
[R 2 |]) from 2004 to 2007. He served as General Manager of Yueyang
China Resources Gas Co., Ltd. and Qianjiang China Resources Gas Co.,
Ltd. from 2007 to 2008, General Manager of Kunming China Resources
Gas Co. Ltd. from 2008 to 2009 and General Manager of Fuzhou China
Resources Gas Co., Ltd. from 2009 to April 2015.

Mr. Yang Zhangyi, aged 55, was appointed as Vice President of China
Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited in December 2014, and he also
serves as the General Manager of Jinran China Resources Gas Limited.
Mr. Yang was the Financial Controller of Suzhou China Resources Gas
Co., Ltd. from 2003 to 2005, the Financial Controller of Chengdu City
Gas Co., Ltd. from 2005 to 2007, the General Manager of Xiamen China
Resources Gas Co., Ltd. from 2007 to 2011, the General Manager
of Zhengzhou China Resources Gas Co., Ltd. from 2011 to 2015.
Mr. Yang has studied Ideological and Political Education in Nanjing
Normal University and Technology Economy and Management in Hohai
University; he is also a qualified accountant in the PRC.

Mr. Peng Junfu, aged 60, was appointed as Chief Engineer of China
Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited and General Manager of Greater
Chengdu Area in March 2012, responsible for assisting the management
of the Greater Chengdu Area, and concurrently serves as a Vice
Chairman of Chengdu Gas Co., Ltd., an Executive Committee Member
of China Gas Association, a Vice Chairman of Sichuan Gas Association,
a member of Sichuan Gas Industry Expert Pool (P9)I| &M RITEERE)
and a Labour Model of Sichuan province. He served at various posts
in Chengdu Gas Corporation (BEBTI AR A AR]) from 1980 to 2004,
including Vice Section Chief, Section Chief, Director of the Planning
Division, Director of Gas Resource Development Division, Director of
the Users Development Division, Manager of its Pipeline Branch, as
well as the Deputy General Manager and General Manager of Chengdu
Gas Corporation; he also served as Director, General Manager, Deputy
Secretary of CPC Committee and Legal Representative of Chengdu Gas
Co., Ltd., as well as a Member of Chengdu Municipal Senior Professional
Titles Accreditation Commission (Economic Disciplines) from 2004 to
2005; he also served as Director and General Manager of Chengdu Gas
Co., Ltd. From 2005 to 2012.
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The Group is dedicated to maintaining a good credible framework
of corporate governance with a view to being transparent, open and
accountable to its shareholders.

COMPLIANCE WITH CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
CODE

The Company has adopted the mandatory provisions of the Corporate
Governance Code (the “Code”) set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing
Rules. In line with the mandatory provisions of the Code, the Company
has adopted a Corporate Governance Handbook (the “Handbook”) on
23rd December, 2005 and subsequently updated in 2008, 2009, 2010,
2012, 2013, 2014 and 2015 respectively. The contents of the Handbook
include, among others, directors’ duties, model code for directors’
transactions in securities, model code for securities transaction by
relevant employees, the functions and terms of reference of the Audit,
Remuneration, Nomination, Investment and Corporate Governance
Committees, disclosure of information, communication with shareholders,
procedures for shareholders to propose a person for election as
a director and board diversity policy. All the mandatory provisions
under the Code have been adopted and reflected in the Handbook.
The Company has throughout the year complied with the mandatory
provisions of the Code except for the deviation from code provision
D.1.4 which is explained as follows:

Under the code provision D.1.4, the Company should have formal
letters of appointment for directors setting out the key terms and
conditions of their appointment. The Company did not have formal
letters of appointment for Directors. However, the Directors are subject
to retirement by rotation at least once every three years in accordance
with the Bye-Laws. In addition, the Directors are required to refer to
the guidelines set out in “A Guide on Directors’ Duties” issued by the
Companies Registry and “Guidelines for Directors” and “Guide for
Independent Non-executive Directors” (if applicable) published by
the Hong Kong Institute of Directors in performing their duties and
responsibilities as directors of the Company. Besides, the Directors are
required to comply with the requirements under statute and common
law, the Listing Rules, legal and other regulatory requirements and the
Company’s business and governance policies.

Save as mentioned above and in the opinion of the Directors, the
Company has met the code provisions set out in the Code throughout
the year.
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THE BOARD

As at the date of this annual report, the Board consists of four Executive
Directors, four Non-executive Directors and four Independent Non-
executive Directors, one of whom namely Mr. Yu Hon To, David has
the appropriate professional accounting experience and expertise as
required under the Listing Rules. The names and biographical details
of each Director are disclosed on pages 31 to 36 of this annual report.

Each Independent Non-executive Director has, pursuant to the
guidelines set out in rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, confirmed that he
is independent of the Company and the Company also considers that
they are independent. The term of office of each Non-executive Director,
including Independent Non-executive Director, is for a period of three
years subject to the requirement that one-third of all the Directors shall
retire from office by rotation at each annual general meeting pursuant
to the Bye-laws of the Company. The relationship (including financial,
business, family or other material/relevant relationship), if any, among
members of the Board are disclosed in this annual report. There is no
such relationship between the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer.
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FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible both for how the Company is managed and
the Company’s direction. Approval of the Board is required for the
strategy of the Group, yearly budget, major acquisition and disposal,
major capital investment, dividend policy, appointment and retirement
of Directors and senior management, remuneration policy and other
major operational, financial, risk management and internal control matters.
Day-to-day operations of the Group are the responsibility of the Company’s
management.

The Board has held periodic meetings during 2015. Details of individual
attendance of Directors are set out in the table below:

—2-1f —E-5f ZZ-1% —2-1% —Z-1% ZZ2-1%
=ZAAA ZB=tXA AAZtRA NA=+EH AA=+EA TZAttH
6th March, 26th March, 29th May, 25th August,  24th September, 17th December,
2015 2015 2015 2015 2015 2015
TEREE IEREE TEREE IEREE TEREE TEREE
Mr. Wang Mr. Wang Mr. Wang Mr. Wang Mr. Wang Mr. Wang

Chuandong Chuandong Chuandong Chuandong Chuandong Chuandong

HITEE Executive Directors
TEREE Mr. Wang Chuandong
REBLE Mr. Shi Shanbo

BinE Mr. Ge Bin

TRREE Mr. Ong Thiam Kin
FHTES Non-executive Directors
HXREE Mr. Du Wenmin

WREE Mr. Wei Bin

RELE Mr. Chen Ying

TERE Mr. Wang Yan

BUEHTEE  Independent Non-executive

Directors
BEBEE Mr. Wong Tak Shing
Falzt Ms. Yu Jian
BIEE A Mr. Yu Hon To, David
E3E Mr. Qin Chaokui

v V v v | v
v V 0 v | v
v V v v 0 v
v V v v | v
v V 0 0 0 0
0 0 0 0 0 0
v v 0 y 0 0
0 V 0 v 0 v
v V v 0 | v
v 0 | 0 | v
v 0 v 0 V v
v 0 0 v | v

i (TEAR TXER)
Vo= HRE
0 = BF

Remarks (also applicable to the tables set out below):
Y = attended
0 = didn't attend
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The Company has held one general meeting during 2015. Details of
individual attendance of Directors are set out in the table below:

—E-HF
B HEA=thAE
29th May,
Date 2015
=6 £33 IEREE
Mr. Wang
Meeting Chairman Chuandong
HITES Executive Directors
FEREE Mr. Wang Chuandong N
AEEEE Mr. Shi Shanbo 0
Bk Mr. Ge Bin v
TAREL Mr. Ong Thiam Kin v
FHITES Non-executive Directors
MXREE Mr. Du Wenmin o
PO ST Mr. Wei Bin o
FELE Mr. Wang Yan 0
PR IE 5 4 Mr. Chen Ying 0
BIYFHITES Independent Non-executive Directors
=HISH LA Mr. Wong Tak Shing N
TRzt Ms. Yu Jian N
BIEE S Mr. Yu Hon To, David N
REPREL Mr. Qin Chaokui 0
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Policy”) on 23rd
August, 2013. A summary of this Policy, together with the measurable
objectives set for implementing this Policy, and the progress made
towards achieving those objectives are disclosed as below.

Summary of the Policy

The Company sees diversity at Board level as an essential element in
maintaining a competitive advantage. A truly diverse Board will include
and make good use of differences in the skills, regional and industry
experience, background, gender and other qualities of the members
of the Board. These differences will be considered in determining
the optimum composition of the Board and when possible should be
balanced appropriately. All Board appointments are made on merit, in
the content of the skills and experience the Board as a whole requires
to be effective.
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Measurable Objectives

The Nomination Committee will discuss and agree annually all
measurable objectives for achieving diversity on the Board and
recommend them to the Board for adoption. At any given time, the Board
may seek to improve one or more aspects of its diversity and measure
progress accordingly. For the year under review, no measurable
objective was set by the Nomination Committee.

Implementation

As at the date of this report, the Board’s composition under major
diversified perspectives was summarized as follows:

50-59 (5)

Mo - ERANETRRESAK

5
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Note: the number in bracket represents the number of the Directors

DIRECTORS’ TRAINING

All Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. Each
newly appointed Director would receive the guides covering the statutory
and regulatory obligations of a director of a listed company. The relevant
updates on the latest developments regarding the Listing Rules and
other applicable regulatory requirements are also provided to the
Directors in order to ensure compliance and raise their concerns on
good corporate governance.

During the year, all the Directors have participated in the relevant
professional training, attended relevant briefings and gave talks which
covering the Company’s business and the statutory and regulatory
updates. The Company has received the confirmations of and/or records
of the training from the respective Directors.
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CHAIRMAN AND THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

As at the date of this annual report, the Chairman of the Board is Mr.
Wang Chuandong while Mr. Shi Shanbo is the Chief Executive Officer.
The Chairman provides leadership to the Board and formulate, together
with the Board, the business strategies and long-term objectives of the
Company whilst the Chief Executive Officer carries out the decisions
made by the Board and is in charge of the Company’s day-to-day
management.

BOARD COMMITTEES

To strengthen the functions of the Board and to enhance its expertise,
as at the date of this annual report, there are five committees namely,
the Audit and Risk Management, Remuneration, Nomination, Investment
and Corporate Governance Committees under the Board, with each
performing different functions.

Audit and Risk Management Committee

As at the date of this annual report, the Audit and Risk Management
Committee comprises of three Independent Non-executive Directors
namely Mr. Yu Hon To, David (Chairman), Mr. Wong Tak Shing and
Ms. Yu Jian and two Non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Wei Bin and
Mr. Wang Yan. The Committee’s role is to provide an independent and
objective review of the effectiveness of the financial reporting process,
internal control, risk management as well as internal audit function of

the Group. Its functions broadly fall into the following three main areas:

. responsible for making recommendations to the Board on the
appointment, reappointment and removal of external auditor, and
to approve the remuneration and terms of engagement of external
auditor and any matters related to the resignation or dismissal of
external auditor;

. review the financial statements of the Company’s annual and half-
year reports and accounts; and

° oversight the Company’s financial reporting system, internal
controls and risk management systems.

The terms of reference of the Audit and Risk Management Committee

have been uploaded to the website of the Stock Exchange and the
Company.
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During 2015 and up to the date of this annual report, the Audit and
Risk Management Committee has reviewed the financial statements
and yearly results announcement for 2014, and those for the half-yearly
results and yearly results for 2015. These include the review of the
Group’s financial and accounting policies and practices; the review
of the continuing connected transactions of the Company conducted
in 2015; and the review of the internal audit reports prepared by the
Company’s Audit Division.

The Audit and Risk Management Committee has held three meetings
during 2015. Details of individual attendance of its members are set out
in the table below:

£ o4=]
Chairman Members

MEERE  EEBA4L IB%%E B LE Falzt
Mr. Yu Mr.Wong Mr. Wang Yan Mr. Wei Bin  Ms. Yu Jian

Hon To, David  Tak Shing (RZB—RE (RZB-KEF

=A=+H =Z=B=t+H

EZE) BZE)

(appointed (appointed

on 30th on 30th

A Date March, 2016) March, 2016)

—HEFE=A-1H 20th March, 2015 v y Vo NERNA RERNA

—AFNA=1+H 20th August, 2015 V N 0 TEAN/A TERAN/A

—E-RE+-A++A 17th December, 2015 N N o T FAN/A TEAN/A
gHESe Remuneration Committee

FMZES eI 2REREE RRIRITE
%&%%&EIEAEE’J%M&%E*UB(%  BiE
BEARMNEAE S - REE S RE MR
BEtE - URBEATESZRSREBAEN
AN S F 2 HEE -

FMEZEeRESEED LHEMIMARA
NGEEYY

RAFREH  FNZ B S BB B I
TEFRERBELE (TR MEEELER
—BIERITEEEXREEAN -

The role and main function of the Remuneration Committee is to
determine and review the compensation and benefit policy of Executive
Directors and senior management, including but not limited to bonus
plan, Incentive Award Scheme and other long term incentive plan,
as well as bonus allocation and salary adjustment of each Executive
Director and senior management.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee have been
uploaded to the website of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

As at the date of this annual report, the Remuneration Committee
comprises of two Independent Non-executive Directors namely Mr. Wong
Tak Shing (Chairman) and Mr. Yu Hon To, David and one Non-executive
Director namely Mr. Du Wenmin.

HMESeN - ﬁigs;ﬁ e N During 2015, the Remuneration held one meeting. Details of individual
=TSR BB AR EES attendant of its members are set out in the table below:
ES &
Chairman Members
EEBLAE MEELE HXREE
A Date Mr. Wong Tak Shing Mr. Yu Hon To, David Mr. Du Wenmin
—Z-RFENB=-1+H 20th August, 2015 N V 0
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For the year ended 31st December, 2015, the remuneration of the
members of the senior management by band is set out below:

A

Remuneration band (HKD) Number of persons

1,000,0017C% 1,500,000/ 7T
1,500,001, 7T %2,000,000/% 7T
2,000,001 7T %2,500,000/% 7T
2,500,001% T % 3,000,000/ 7T
3,000,001/% 7T % 3,500,000/ 7T
3,500,001 7L 24,000,000/ 7T

HKD1,000,001 to HKD 1,500,000
HKD1,500,001 to HKD2,000,000
HKD2,000,001 to HKD2,500,000
HKD2,500,001 to HKD3,000,000
HKD3,000,001 to HKD3,500,000
HKD3,500,001 to HKD4,000,000

w o O = N o

FHEEHE R ERRSHFALTZESF
B ERETRIMEI6ZHE TUE
B WEN P BmRME14 -

REEES
RAZEBENIBERESRNEETSRE
NAR  UHHEEREALTHEES
MEESRHEEBEE -

EZEQREBEEC LHEEBIMRE

RAFHEH REZETHMERTE
EXIERELE (TR AZEEELER—F
FEMTEEHXREEIAR LB IEHR
TEFESHBEE Tkt mPHEE
& R ANERE SRR

Further particulars regarding the directors’ emoluments and the five
highest paid individuals as required to be disclosed pursuant to
Appendix 16 to the Listing Rules are set out in note 14 to the financial
statements.

Nomination Committee

The role and main function of the Nomination Committee is to review the
structure and composition of the Board, and to make recommendation
to the Board on the selection of individual nominated for directorships.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee have been uploaded
to the website of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

As at the date of this annual report, the Nomination Committee comprises
of two Executive Directors namely Mr. Wang Chuandong (Chairman), Mr.
Shi Shanbo and one Non-executive Director namely Mr. Du Wenmin and
four Independent Non-executive Directors namely Mr. Wong Tak Shing,
Ms. Yu Jian, Mr. Qin Chaokui and Mr. Yu Hon To, David.
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The selection criteria for Directors are the candidate(s) must have
substantial experience in business relevant to the Company or in
corporate management, or in relevant profession and must be able to
contribute effectively to the objectives of the Company. In identifying
suitable candidates for appointment to the Board, the Nomination
Committee will consider candidates on merit against objective criteria
and with due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board. Any
committee member may propose suitable candidates for directorship for
discussion and approval by the Nomination Committee, after which the
Board will consider and, if proper, approve such nomination. Directors
thus selected is subject to re-election by shareholders of the Company in
the next general meeting or next annual general meeting, as appropriate,
according to the Bye-laws of the Company.

During 2015, the Nomination Committee has reviewed the existing terms
of reference of the Nomination Committee as well as the composition of
the Board and its committees.

The Nomination Committee has held one meeting during 2015. Details of
the individual attendance of its members are set out in the table below:

Ed: 3 241

Chairman Members
IERNE FREBXE EEBRE Tzt RERKE RIREE mEERE
Mr. Wang Mr. Shi  Mr.Wong Tak  Ms. Yu Jian Mr. Qin Mr. Du Mr. Yu
Chuandong Shanbo Shing Chaokui Wenmin Hon To,
(R-EB—XE David
=A=+H (R=B—-XKE
BEE) =B=t+H
(appointed EZAE)
on 30th (appointed
March, 2016) on 30th
=F: Date March, 2016)
“E-R%=ZAZF7H  26th March, 2015 | y N 0 0 AHEANA NEBNIA

REEEe Investment Committee

RAZBENIRRERMDEETSEN T
3,000,0005% 7Tt 58,000,000 7t 2 % & F]
EHNEEG IR L FIERELIRE
R (RREKERLERS) -

REZESRERESD LHADRHEL -

RAFREHY  REAZEGH - BHTES
FEMEE  WMEFERTEFELE (X
) RREXEAR —RBUIERTEEE
SRR EANK -

The role and main function of the Investment Committee is to assist
the Board in making investment decisions (including acquisition or
divestment opportunity) within the investment threshold of US$3 million
to US$8 million or other thresholds as authorised by the Board from
time to time.

The terms of reference of the Investment Committee have been uploaded
to the website of the Company.

As at the date of this annual report, the Investment Committee comprises
of one Executive Director namely Mr. Wang Chuandong, two Non-executive
Directors namely Mr. Wei Bin (Chairman) and Mr. Chen Ying, and one
Independent Non-executive Director namely Mr. Wong Tak Shing.
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During 2015, the Investment Committee passed 10 written resolutions
by all members of the Investment Committee dated 6th February, 2015,
31st March, 2015, 9th April, 2015, 16th April, 2015, 19th May, 2015 and
15th October, 2015, respectively to review and approve 11 investment
proposals.

Corporate Governance Committee

The role and main function of the Corporate Governance Committee is to
assist the Board in developing and reviewing the policies and practices
on corporate governance which are applicable to the Group and making
recommendations to the Board.

The terms of reference of the Corporate Governance Committee have
been uploaded to the website of the Company.

As at the date of this annual report, the Corporate Governance Committee
comprises of three Independent Non-executive Directors namely Ms. Yu
Jian (Chairman), Mr. Wong Tak Shing and Mr. Qin Chaokui, and two
Executive Directors namely Mr. Shi Shanbo and Mr. Ong Thiam Kin.

During 2015, the Corporate Governance Committee has reviewed the
Company’s compliance with the Code during the year 2014.

The Corporate Governance Committee has held one meeting during
2015. Details of the individual attendance of its members are set out in
the table below:

ES: 4 K&
Chairman Members
Falzt REBRE ESBAE IMREE REERLE
Ms. Yu Jian Mr. Shi Mr. Wong Tak Mr. Ong Mr. Qin
=R:t] Date Shanbo Shing Thiam Kin Chaokui
“Z-RF=R-1+H 26th March, 2015 0 N N N I

B EXFBRBOARN - BERGEHER
8L TIRAI 518,51 (B)(1) T A BEEE -

Saved for the information disclosed above, there is no other information
required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51(B)(1) of the Listing
Rules.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has the overall responsibility of maintaining an effective risk
management and internal control system.

The Board, through the Audit and Risk Management Committee,
conducts annual review of the effectiveness of the Company’s systems
of risk management and internal control covering all material controls,
including financial controls, internal control and risk management
systems.

The Audit and Risk Management Committee considers the major
investigation findings on risk management and internal control matter
as delegated by the Board or on its own initiative and management’s
response to these findings.

The Audit and Risk Management Committee also considers the
adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of the Company’s
accounting, financial reporting and internal audit functions, and their
training programmes and budget.

The Internal Audit Division assists the Audit and Risk Management
Committee to review the effectiveness of such internal control system
in operation. The Division regularly carries out internal audit and
other related audit reviews and reports its findings and suggestions
for improvement on better internal controls to the Audit and Risk
Management Committee for their consideration. During the year,
the Internal Audit Division has also conducted reviews of key risk
management system of the Company. Its findings were reported to the
Audit and Risk Management Committee for consideration and would
form the basis for further improvement in the future.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code”) set out in Appendix 10
to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct in relation to Directors’
securities transactions. Having made specific enquiry of all Directors, the
Company confirmed that all Directors have complied with the required
standard set out in the Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR PREPARING
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge that it is their responsibilities in preparing the
consolidated financial statements. The statement by the Auditor about
their reporting responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements
is set out in the Independent Auditor’'s Report on pages 73 to 74.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The Company re-appointed Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as independent
auditor during the year. The remuneration for services provided during
the year to the Company’s Auditor includes:

—E-HEF

2015

FaxT

FriR AR 7% Services rendered HK$°000
EAT RS Audit services 11,372
IERETIRTS - PEAZEAEREE Non-audit services for: Interim results review 700
| BiTSER TR : Tax compliance 152

BTG AR : Tax consulting services 100

A5t Total 12,324
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Procedures for shareholders to convene special general meeting

In accordance with the Section 74 of the Companies Act 1981 of
Bermuda (“Companies Act”), the shareholders of the Company holding
at the date of the deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of
such of the paid-up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting
at general meetings of the Company, shall have the right to convene a
special general meeting of the Company. If the directors do not within
twenty-one days from the date of the deposit of the requisition proceed
duly to convene a meeting, the requisitionists representing more than
one half of the total voting rights may themselves convene a meeting.

The written requisition for the special general meeting can be lodged at
the Company’s principal office in Hong Kong at Room 1901-02, China
Resources Building, 26 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong.

Procedures for shareholders to put forward proposals at a general
meeting

Pursuant to the Sections 79 and 80 of the Companies Act, either any
number of the registered Shareholders holding not less than one-
twentieth (5%) of the paid-up capital of the Company carrying the
right of voting at general meetings of the Company (“Requisitionists”),
or not less than 100 of such registered Shareholders, can request
the Company in writing to (a) give to Shareholders entitled to receive
notice of the next general meeting notice of any resolution which may
properly be moved and is intended to be moved at that meeting; and (b)
circulate to Shareholders entitled to have notice of any general meeting
any statement of not more than 1,000 words with respect to the matter
referred to in any proposed resolution or the business to be dealt with
at that meeting.
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The requisition signed by all the Requisitionists may consist of
several documents in like form, each signed by one or more of the
Requisitionists; and it must be deposited at the Registered Office with a
sum reasonably sufficient to meet the Company’s relevant expenses, not
less than six weeks before the meeting in case of a requisition requiring
notice of a resolution or not less than one week before the meeting in the
case of any other requisition. Provided that if an AGM is called for a date
six weeks or less after the requisition has been deposited, the requisition
though not deposited within the time required shall be deemed to have
been properly deposited for the purposes thereof.

Procedures for shareholders to propose a person for election as
a director

Pursuant to Bye-law 113 of the Bye-Law of the Company, the Company
may from time to time in general meeting by ordinary resolution elect, or
authorize the Directors to elect or appoint, any person to be a Director
either to fill a vacancy or to act as an additional Director up to the maximum
number of Directors determined by the members in general meeting.

Pursuant to Bye-law 115 of the Bye-Law of the Company, no person,
other than a retiring Director, shall, unless recommended by the Board
for election, be eligible for election to the office of Director at any
general meeting, unless notice in writing of the intention to propose that
person for election as a Director and notice in writing by that person
of his willingness to be elected shall have been given to the Company
provided that the minimum length of the period, during which such
notices are given, shall be at least seven days. The period for lodgment
of such notices will commence no earlier than the day after the dispatch
of the notice of the meeting appointed for such election and end no later
than seven days prior to the date of such meeting.

The details procedures regarding the election are published on the
Company’s website under Corporate Governance section.
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Investor Relations

The Company has always recognised the importance of investor
relations activities, as it believes that effective communication with
shareholders and investors is very important to help investors to gain a
better understanding about the Company’s business performance and
strategies.

In 2015, we hosted different types of activities through which
shareholders and investors have increased their understanding about
the Company. During the year, the Company attended a total of 1,100
investor seminars, advisory meetings and telephone conferences and
met with numerous fund managers and analysts to introduce the
Company’s operating results, development strategies and business
updates.

The Company welcomes any suggestions and participation of
shareholders and investors. Any enquiries and suggestions may be
made by letter, telephone, fax or email to the Investor Relations
Department of the Company according to the contact information set
out below:

China Resources Gas Group Limited
Investor Relations Department

19th Floor, China Resources Building
26 Harbour Road

Wanchai

Hong Kong

E-mail: investor-relations@crgas.com.hk
Tel: 852-2593-8200
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PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The activities of its
principal subsidiaries and joint ventures are set out in Note 46 and Note
47 to the consolidated financial statements respectively.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Review of the business of the Group during the year and discussion on
the Group’s prospects, the Group’s compliance with relevant laws and
regulations which have a significant impact on the Group, relationships
with its key stakeholders and environmental policy are provided in the
Chairman’s Statement on pages 2 to 13, Report from the Chief Executive
Officer on pages 14 to 22, Management Discussion and Analysis
on pages 26 to 30 and Corporate Governance Report on pages 40
to 53 and Director’'s Report on pages 54 to 72 of this annual report.
Description of key risk factors and uncertainties that the Group is facing
is provided in the Chairman’s Statement and Report from the Chief
Executive Officer and note 5 to the consolidated financial statements
while the financial risk management objectives and policies of the
Group can be found in note 7 to the consolidated financial statements.
An analysis of the Group’s performance during the year using financial
key performance indicators is provided in Financial and Operational
Highlights on pages 23 to 25 of this annual report.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31st December, 2015
are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on page 75.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company during the
year are set out in the consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of the Group during the year are set out
in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on page 78 to the
consolidated financial statements.

The Company’s reserves available for distribution to shareholders at 31st
December, 2015, amounted to HK$7,791,695,000.
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FINAL DIVIDEND

The Directors have resolved to recommend the payment of a final
dividend of 23 HK cents per share. Together with the interim dividend of
10 HK cents per share paid in October 2015, total distribution for 2015
would thus be 33 HK cents per share (2014: 25 HK cents per share).

Subject to the approval of shareholders at the forthcoming annual
general meeting, the final dividend will be payable on 23rd June, 2016
to shareholders on the register of members of the Company on 8th
June, 2016.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from 30th May,
2016 to 2nd June, 2016, both days inclusive. In order to determine the
identity of members who are entitled to attend and vote at the annual
general meeting to be held on 2nd June, 2016, completed transfer forms
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the
Company’s Hong Kong branch share registrar and transfer office, Tricor
Secretaries Limited, at Level 22, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road
East, Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on 27th May, 2016.

Subject to the approval of shareholders at the annual general meeting,
the proposed final dividend will be payable to shareholders whose
names appear on the register of members of the Company on 8th
June, 2016 and the register of members of the Company will be closed
on 8th June, 2016. In order to qualify for the proposed final dividend,
completed transfer forms accompanied by the relevant share certificates
must be lodged with the Company’s Hong Kong branch share registrar
and transfer office, Tricor Secretaries Limited at Level 22, Hopewell
Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m.
on 7th June, 2016.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at the end of the year, the authorized share capital of the Company
was HK$1,000,000,000 dividend into 10,000,000,000 shares of HK$0.10
each, of which 2,224,012,871 shares had been issued and fully paid,
and the shareholders’ equity of the Group was HK$17,009,359,000.
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SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS

During 2015, the Company continued to make new acquisitions and
invested or paid HK$1,650 million in 18 city gas projects (including
Qingdao and Qinhuangdao Projects). Most of these projects are either
wholly owned or majority owned by the Group. Another 9 projects
totaling HK$166 million were invested at sub-business level. The above
investments totalled HK$1,816 million. As at 31st December, 2015, CR
Gas portfolio included 220 city gas projects and its footprint covered 22
Chinese provinces and included 3 direct administrative municipalities,
14 provincial capitals and 72 prefecture level cities.

In addition, as at 31st December, 2015, the Company has announced
or the Board has approved another 25 proposed city gas distribution
and related projects with proposed investments of HK$1,477 million.

The above “Investments”, comprising investments made and proposed
of RMB2,503 million, cover 43 projects in 18 provinces.

Other acquisitions are stated in Note 40 of the consolidated financial
statements.

GOING CONCERN

On the basis of current financial projections and facilities available, the
Group has adequate financial resources to continue its operation for the
foreseeable future. For this reason, the going concern basis continues to
be adopted in preparing the consolidated financial statements.

BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

The particulars of bank and other borrowings of the Group as at 31st
December, 2015 are set out in Note 33 to the consolidated financial
statements.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A financial summary of the Group for the last five financial periods is set
out on page 203 of this annual report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment and
investment properties of the Group during the year are set out in Note
17 and Note 19 to the consolidated financial statements respectively.
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INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Details of the movements in the goodwill and operating rights of the Group
during the year are set out in Note 23 and Note 24 to the consolidated
financial statements respectively.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31st December, 2015, the aggregate turnover
attributable to the five largest customers accounted for less than 7% of
the Group’s total turnover.

For the year ended 31st December, 2015, the aggregate purchases
attributable to the five largest suppliers accounted for approximately
84% of the Group’s total purchases, out of which 63% was attributable
to the largest supplier.

None of the Directors, their close associates or any shareholders (which
to the knowledge of the Directors own more than 5% of the Company’s
share capital) has any interest in any of the Group’s five largest
customers or suppliers.

DIRECTORS AND SERVICE CONTRACTS

The Directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of this
annual report are:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Wang Chuandong
Mr. Shi Shanbo

Mr. Ge Bin

Mr. Ong Thiam Kin

Non-executive Directors:

Mr. Du Wenmin
Mr. Wei Bin
Mr. Chen Ying
Mr. Wang Yan

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Mr. Wong Tak Shing
Ms. Yu Jian

Mr. Yu Hon To, David
Mr. Qin Chaokui
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The Company has received an annual confirmation from each
Independent Non-executive Director with each confirming his
independence pursuant to rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and the
Company still considers such Directors are independent of the Company.

Pursuant to bye-law 110(A) of the Company, Mr. Shi Shanbo, Mr. Ge
Bin, Ms. Yu Jian and Mr. Yu Hon To, David shall retire from office by
rotation at the forthcoming annual general meeting and shall be eligible
for re-election.

None of Directors, including Directors proposed for re-election at
the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company, has a
service contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which
is not determinable by the Group within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.

The term of office of each Non-executive Director, including Independent
Non-executive Director, is for a period of three years subject to
requirement that one-third of all the Directors shall retire from office by
rotation at each annual general meeting pursuant to the bye-laws of
the Company.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS AND CONTRACTS

There was no transaction, arrangement or contract of significance (to
which the Company or its subsidiary or its holding company or its fellow
subsidiary was a party) subsisting during or at the end of the financial
year in which a Director of the Company or his/her connected entities is
or was materially interested, either directly or indirectly.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The emolument payable to each Director is based on his relevant
qualifications, experience and expertise, his duties and responsibilities
and performance of the Company. The current market situation will also
be taken into account. Bonus and incentive awards may be granted to
individual Directors in recognition of their contribution to the Group. All
the aforesaid form the emolument policy and long term incentive for
Directors of the Company.
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DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN SECURITIES

Save as disclosed below, as at 31st December, 2015, none of the
Directors, chief executive of the Company and their associates had
any interests or short positions in any shares, underlying shares or
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the
“SFO”)) which were required to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests and short positions which they are deemed or taken
to have under such provisions of the SFO) or which were required,
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred
to therein, or which were required, pursuant to the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers, to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange.

(a) RAELQFRERTZBERNER (a) Interests in issued ordinary shares of the Company

FritfEs

BEEIL

HRRKXE R EE Aggregate

EEnR 514 Long or short Number of percentage

Name of Directors Capacity position shares of interest’

TEREE EmEBAA HE 1,010,000 0.0454%
Mr. Wang Chuandong Beneficial owner Long position

AEEEE E=AAA aS oy 50,000 0.0022%
Mr. Shi Shanbo Beneficial owner Long position

Bk EmEA A e 16,000 0.0007%
Mr. Ge Bin Beneficial owner Long position

ERBREE EnEBA HE 300,000 0.0135
Mr. Ong Thiam Kin Beneficial owner Long position

MXR%E EmEB A [S5) 54,000 0.0024%
Mr. Du Wenmin Beneficial owner Long position

Bt Note:
1. WARZZ—AF+ZA=+—8MN 1. This represents the percentage of aggregate long position in ordinary
BAARE BRI B BREERARE shares to the total issued shares of the Company as at 31st December,
BEEHTRONBE DL - 2015.
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(b) RARRBEEEEREE ZR) A
RAR ([EHEE]) SRITEBERR
HERDEERS

(b) Interests in issued ordinary shares and underlying shares
of China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited (“CR

Beer”), an associated corporation of the Company

Frih RS

BEAIL

HRSHKE R EE Aggregate

BEEME Long or short Number percentage

Name of Directors position of shares of interest’

IEREE HE 600,000 0.0247%
Mr. Wang Chuandong Long position

MXREE S~} 100,000 0.0041%
Mr. Du Wenmin Long position

FEXRE S~y 150,000 0.0062%
Mr. Wang Yan Long position
st Notes:

1. WARZZT—AF+—A=+—H0H 1. This represents the percentage of aggregate long position in ordinary

FERSHLBRIABROFRE
BEERREEHEETRONED
L o

2. EXMEENMERRBEHESUE
HSHREAHNEE -

(c) RALAMEBEIEERELARLT
(T#EHER]) ERTEBREABR
7 e S

shares and underlying shares of CR Beer to the total issued shares of

CR Beer as at 31st December, 2015.

2. All interests disclosed above are being held by the Director in his

capacity as beneficial owner.

(c) Interests in issued ordinary shares and underlying shares
of China Resources Land Limited (“CRL”), an associated

corporation of the Company

Frib s

wEES

HERKXE gl 24 Aggregate

EEHE Long or short Number percentage

Name of Directors position of shares of interest’

AEELEE iR 171,111 0.0025%
Mr. Shi Shanbo Long position

HXREE e 640,000 0.0092%
Mr. Du Wenmin Long position

PRIE S HE 500,000 0.0072%
Mr. Chen Ying Long position
BieE Notes:

1. WARZZ—AF+=—A=+—A80H 1. This represents the percentage of aggregate long position in ordinary

FEREHEBRIABROFRE
BEEREREHRCETRONED
L o

2. EXMEENMERRBEHESUE
HSHEAHNEE -

shares and underlying shares of CRL to the total issued shares of CRL

as at 31st December, 2015.

2. All interests disclosed above are being held by the Director in his

capacity as beneficial owner.
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(d) Interests in issued ordinary shares and underlying shares of

China Resources Power Holdings Company Limited (“CRP”),

an associated corporation of the Company

Frib s

BEAI

HFRRKRE BB EE Aggregate

EEHE Long or short Number percentage

Name of Directors position of shares of interest’

AEEELE HE 500,000 0.0104%
Mr. Shi Shanbo Long position

MXREE HE 480,240 0.0100%
Mr. Du Wenmin Long position

TEXRE HE 44,000 0.0009%
Mr. Wang Yan Long position
B E - Notes:

1. WARZZ—AF+_A=+—HFH 1. This represents the percentage of aggregate long position in ordinary

HEBRENEBRIABROTFELR
BEERENZHCETRONED
Lt o

2. LXHBRENMBERERAEEIAE
SEAANFNRE

shares and underlying shares of CRP to the total issued shares of CRP
as at 31st December, 2015.

2. All interests disclosed above are being held by the Director in his

capacity as beneficial owner.
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(e) RMAELQAMEB EEEBKREERAR
NE ([EBXR] ERTEHERRAE
B R0 s

(e) Interests in issued ordinary shares and underlying shares of
China Resources Cement Holdings Limited (“CR Cement”), an
associated corporation of the Company

FrikfEz

wEEL L

HFRRKR BRBEE Aggregate

EENA Long or short Number percentage

Name of Directors position of shares of interest’

AEEELE HE 280,000 0.0043%
Mr. Shi Shanbo Long position

PR JE o AR 230,000 0.0035%
Mr. Chen Ying Long position
B eE Notes:

1. WARZZ-—AF+-A=+—8MN 1. This represents the percentage of aggregate long position in ordinary

FERORE BT R BRIEFEEK
RERDEITRMONBE DL

2. LXHRBHMARARAEEIAE
SEBAFDEA

REErE

RZZZENF+ZA—H  ARARMB—IAE
RetrfEmIR e REETE ([REEE] &
It AEEHEBRENRNEREEE T AR
REBETER N2 MER RS - REARTYHE
A —HKAARR R EE L EEEF5%IA
tRE#EENAR (RERA  patE
BEERADILMNE EREQATMSAR
BEOBEDLARUAERERBEMBARFE
ZERNZETERRNADLL

REIEERTE TRERENERLSE R
SEHER - WREEB R BB AREE IR
AR BHERARENEREZRE @ I
FEIARRNRANEERRRSERMEE
BEPNE - RIEREESRANKL - BE
FHEIB SR A B T FAE R - IRIF AN
IR SR EN AR 1) R i E B AR B BEAR T 48
HEER REROD A ERDBIAART]
T2 EITRAR5% 50.6% K -

shares of CR Cement to the total issued shares of CR Cement as at
31st December, 2015.

2. All interest disclosed above are being held by the Director in his
capacity as beneficial owner.

INCENTIVE AWARD SCHEME

On 1st December, 2008, the Company adopted a share repurchased
cash award scheme (the “Incentive Award Scheme”) in which selected
employees of the Group or investee companies (being any company in
which the Company directly or indirectly owns 5% or more attributable
equity interests and in calculating the percentage interest so attributed
(the “Investee Company”), the percentage interest held in the Investee
Company shall be multiplied by the percentage interest in each level of
entity through which such interest is held by the Group), are entitled to
participate in the Incentive Award Scheme pursuant to the scheme rules.

The purpose of the Incentive Award Scheme is to recognise and
motivate the contribution of certain employees and to provide incentives
and to enable the Group and the Investee Companies in retaining its
existing employees and recruiting additional employees and to provide
them with a direct economic interest in attaining the long-term business
objectives of the Company. Unless early termination by the Board, the
Incentive Award Scheme shall be valid and effective for a term of 10
years commencing on the adoption date. The maximum aggregate
numbers of award shares which can be awarded under the Incentive
Award Scheme and to a selected employee throughout its duration are
limited to 5% and 0.5% respectively of the issued share capital of the
Company from time to time.
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Pursuant to the rules of the Incentive Award Scheme, the Company has
appointed BOCI-Prudential Trustee Limited as trustee (the “Trustee”),
pursuant to which existing shares will be purchased by the Trustee from
the market out of cash contributed by the Group and be held in trust for
the relevant selected employees until such shares are vested with the
relevant selected employees in accordance with the provisions of the
Incentive Award Scheme. A total of 70,000,000 shares were purchased
at an aggregate cost of approximately HK$253,534,680 (including
transaction costs) on 7th April, 2009, representing approximately 4.95%
of the issued share capital of the Company as at date of acquisition and
held by the Trustee. The Company does not intend to purchase any
further share under the Incentive Award Scheme.

On 16th March, 2010, the Company amended the Incentive Award
Scheme such that cash instead of award shares will be awarded under
the Incentive Award Scheme. The Company will utilize the proceeds
generated from disposal of the award shares held by the Trustee for
the awards made under the scheme. The awards will be subject to
the approval of the Company’s Remuneration Committee and the cash
under the award will only be given upon fulfillment of relevant vesting
conditions imposed on the date of grant of the award.

On 20th August, 2015, upon the approvals of the Remuneration
Committee, the Company granted 1,310,000 award shares which
vested immediately. During the year, the Trustee disposed of these
award shares which generated a net proceeds of HK$25,082,000, and
distributed these to selected employees including 3 executive directors.
Details of the movement of the award shares held by the Trustee are
as follows:

REROEE
Number of
award shares

RZZETNFNALHEE Purchased on 7th April, 2009 70,000,000
RIE-—FTFERHELHE Granted and disposed of during 2010 (1,818,000)
RIE——FRENREE Granted and disposed of during 2011 (7,741,496)
RZE——FREREE Granted and disposed of during 2012 (6,893,520)
RZE—=FREELEE Granted and disposed of during 2013 (2,268,500)
RIEBE—NFERENEE Granted and disposed of during 2014 (1,905,100)
RZZE—RAFREREE Granted and disposed of during 2015 (1,310,000)
R-ZE—RE+-A=+—H0N&EH Balance as at 31st December, 2015 48,063,384
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The Company has entered into certain connected transactions with
connected persons, details of which are set out bellow:

Continuing Connected Transactions

During the year, members of the Group have entered into continuing
connected transactions with connected persons, details of which are
subject to the reporting requirements under rule 14A.71 of the Listing
Rules and are summarised herein below. The Company’s auditor was
engaged to report on the Group’s continuing connected transactions in
accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000
(Revised) “Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of
Historical Financial Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740
“Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong
Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. The auditor has issued an unqualified letter containing
findings and conclusions in respect of the continuing connected
transactions disclosed by the Group as below in accordance with Main
Board Listing Rule 14A.56. The Independent Non-executive Directors
have reviewed the continuing connected transactions and confirmed that
the continuing connected transactions have been entered into:

(i) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;
(i) on normal commercial terms or better; and
(iii) according to the agreement governing them on terms that are fair

and reasonable and in the interests of the shareholders of the
Company as a whole.
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Details of the above-mentioned continuing connected transactions and

the actual amount incurred for the year ended 31st December, 2015 or

as at 31st December, 2015 are summarized as follows:

HE
—T-h%F
+ZR=+—H
IFFE

For the year
ended

31st December,
2015

BEW®
AREAERMBRRBILARARENER
DR (—FHRPREARKME ([RE]) KL
HBEBREERR  DRAAREEBHEL
A (EREBRIERAR (BER-F—
TEF-A—-HITY)  KREHERIER
DA (BER-E-FF+—A=ThAF
i) HREREEMIERLDA (HEN—
T-LF+-A—HFIZ)  EMEBRIE
RAR (BER-F-—ZF+-A+—H37]
i) REHEERRARAR (HRER-F—
ZEF-A—AFL)) MEERR) KEX
AR - BEIEF o

AREAERMBLRBILARARENER
R (—HKRPBEKINEREERF - D
ARAREEHENE LR (BIGREBKT
BRAF - KRFEEMRIBERAE - HURE
HEERRERLDA  EMNEBHRIERA
AREHEBRRERDR (A HESE
R-ZZB-—RF+T-A=1+HATL)) HEER
R) RERAR - BHIREF -

Sale and Purchase Agreement

Purchase of natural gas for 5 years by a number of
subsidiaries of the Company from Shanxi Natural
Gas Limited, a limited liability company established
in the People’s Republic of China ("PRC") which is the
substantial shareholder of subsidiaries of the Company
namely, Yangquan China Resources Gas Limited
(agreement entered on 1st December, 2010), Datong
China Resources Gas Co., Ltd (agreement entered on
29th November, 2010), Hongdong China Resources
Hengfu Gas Co., Ltd. (agreement entered on 1st
December, 2010), Huozhou China Resources Gas Co.,
Ltd. (agreement entered on 11th December, 2010) and
Yangqu China Resources Gas Co., Limited (agreement
entered on 1st December, 2010), respectively.

Purchase of natural gas for 3 years by a number of
subsidiaries of the Company from Shanxi Natural Gas
Limited* (ILLEERARRNBIR AR, a limited liability
company established in the PRC and is the substantial
shareholder of these subsidiaries of the Company
namely, Yangguan China Resources Gas Limited,
Datong China Resources Gas Co., Ltd, Hongdong
China Resources Hengfu Gas Co., Ltd., Huozhou
China Resources Gas Co., Ltd.* and Yangqu China
Resources Gas Co., Limited (all agreements entered
on 30th December, 2015) respectively).

AE1631,087,0007T
RMB631,087,000
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Strategic Cooperation Agreements
(i)(a) On 22nd November, 2010, the Company

entered into an agreement and subsequently
on 23rd April, 2013 entered into a
supplemental agreement in respect of placing
of deposits with China Resources Bank of
Zhuhai Co., Ltd., (“CR Bank”), a municipal
bank headquartered in Zhuhai, which
effective from the date of the supplemental
agreement until 31st December, 2014.
China Resources Co., Limited (“CRC”) has
a controlling interest of CR Bank and the
Company.

On 31st December, 2013, the Company
entered into an agreement in respect of the
use of commercial banking services with
CR Bank for 2 years (unless extended for a
further period). On 19th December, 2014,
the Company entered into a supplemental
agreement in respect of adjusting the
aggregate deposits amount and extending
the effective date to 31st December, 2015.

On 30th December , 2015, the Company
entered into a new agreement in respect of
deposit and non-deposit services received
from CR Bank for 3 years (unless extended
for a further period).

The interest on the deposits are based on the
same interest rate and on the same term and
conditions as apply to a similar deposit made
by any other customer of CR Bank, which
rates are determined by the Peoples’ Bank of
China.

Other than deposit services, the Company
utilised commercial banking services provided
by CR Bank. The services are provided on
normal commercial terms which apply to any
other customers of CR Bank.
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On 31st December, 2013, the Company entered
into an agreement in respect of the use of the trust
services with China Resources SZITIC Trust Co.,
Ltd., (“CR Trust"), for 2 years (unless extended for
a further period). CRC has a controlling interest
of CR Trust and the Company. China Resources
(Holdings) Company Limited, the Company’s
controlling shareholder, is a subsidiary of CRC.

On 30th December, 2015, the Company
entered into a new agreement in respect of
non-deposit services received from CR Trust
for 3 years (unless extended for a further
period).

The services are provided on normal
commercial terms and the fees are charged
at a rate no less favourable as apply to
a similar service provided to any other
customers of CR Trust.

Framework Loan Agreements

(i)

(ii)

On 31st December, 2013, the Company
entered into an agreement in respect of the
intra-group lending between the Company
(and any of its subsidiaries but exclude entity
established in the PRC) and China Resources
(Holdings) Company Limited, any China
Resources Group listed company and any of
their subsidiaries in respect of Hong Kong
dollar, RMB or, United States dollar loan for 3
years (unless extended for a further period).

On 31st December, 2013, the Company entered
into an agreement in respect of the intra-
group lending between any PRC established
subsidiary of the Company and CRC (and any
PRC established subsidiary of CRC) or a China
Resources Group listed company in respect of
RMB loan for 3 years (unless extended for a

further period).
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Related Party Transactions

Details of the material related party transactions under normal course
of business are provided under note 44 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements. None constitute a discloseable connected transaction as
defined under the Listing Rules.

The Company confirms that it has complied with the disclosure
requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules for
the year ended 31st December, 2015.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

Save as disclosed below, the Directors and chief executive of the
Company are not aware that there was any party (other than a Director
or chief executive of the Company), who, as at 31st December, 2015
had an interest or short position in the shares and underlying shares of
the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under
the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or which were
recorded in the register maintained by the Company pursuant to Section
336 of the SFO:

REQATNEFE Long position in the Company
i s
BERIL
FRA%KR BHEA Aggregate
BRREE 54 ERME Long or Number of  percentage
Name of shareholder Capacity Nature of interest short position shares  of interest'
ZHEE (KR BR HEafaA EanEAA e 1,407,828,991 63.30%
(r 2E/FTEI 'r’*'ﬁj) Beneficial owner Beneficial interest Long position
CRH (Gas) Limited
(“CRH Gas")?
£ (£8) ARARR ZEHARGER REER 1HE 1,422,298,991 63.95%
China Resources (Holdings) Controlled company'’s interest Corporate interest Long position
Company Limited?
CRC Bluesky Limited S AR ER AR A 1,422,298,991 63.95%
(“CRC Bluesky")? Controlled company'’s interest Corporate interest Long position
ERRODERAR ((EERH] . XEHRANER NEEE 2 1,422,298,991 63.95%
China Resources Co., Limited Controlled company'’s interest Corporate interest Long position
(“CRCL"y
mEERARA ((hEER])? RGN ER RARER 35 1,422,298,991 63.95%
China Resources National Corp. Controlled company’s interest Corporate interest Long position
(“CRNC")?
The Capital Group Companies, Inc.® S| A F) R L3 e 222,352,000 9.99%
Controlled company'’s interest Corporate interest Long position
Capital Research and Management E#Z%EA A ey 3o HE 222,352,000 9.99%

Company? Beneficial owner

Beneficial interest Long position
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Notes:

1. This represents the percentage of aggregate long position in shares to the
total issued shares of the Company as at 31st December, 2015.

2. CRH Gas and Commotra Company Limited directly interested in
1,407,828,991 shares and 14,470,000 shares in the Company respectively
and both companies are wholly-owned subsidiaries of China Resources
(Holdings) Company Limited. China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited
is therefore deemed to be interested in 1,422,298,991 shares of the
Company. China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited is a wholly-owned
subsidiary of CRC Bluesky, which is in turn wholly-owned by CRCL. CRCL
is a wholly-owned subsidiary of CRNC. So, China Resources (Holdings)
Company Limited, CRC Bluesky, CRCL and CRNC are therefore deemed to
have interest in 1,422,298,991 shares of the Company.

3. Capital Research and Management Company is a wholly-owned subsidiary
of The Capital Group Companies, Inc. So, The Capital Group Companies,
Inc. is deemed to have interest in 222,352,000 shares of the Company.

SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE OBLIGATIONS ON
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER

On 15th February, 2011, the Company, as borrower, entered into a
facility agreement with a bank in relation to a HK$800 million 5-year
term loan facility. The loan facility is unsecured and interest bearing
with any outstanding amount to be repaid in full on the date falling five
years from the date of the facility agreement.

On 11th July, 2011, the Company, as borrower, entered into a facility
agreement with a bank in relation to a HK$800 million 5-year term
loan facility. The facility is unsecured and interest bearing with any
outstanding amount to be repaid in full on the date falling five years
from the date of the facility agreement.

On 27th March, 2013, the Company, as borrower, entered into two
facility agreements in relation to a HK$800 million 3-year term loan
facility and a HK$300 million 3-year term loan facility with two banks
respectively. The loan facilities are unsecured and interest bearing
with any outstanding amounts to be repaid in full on the date falling
three years from the date of the facility agreements.
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On 13th May, 2013, the Company, as borrower, entered into two
facility agreements in relation to a HK$800 million 3-year term loan
facility and a HK$500 million 3-year term loan facility with two banks
respectively. The loan facilities are unsecured and interest bearing
with any outstanding amounts to be repaid in full on the date falling
three years from the date of the facility agreements.

On 23rd December, 2013, the Company, as borrower, entered into a
facility letter with a bank in relation to a HK$1,500 million 3-year term
loan facility. The loan facility is unsecured and interest bearing with
any outstanding amounts to be repaid in full on the date falling three
years from the date of first drawdown.

On 11th June, 2015, the Company, as borrower, entered into a facility
agreement in relation to a HK$2,000 million 3-year term loan facility
with a bank. The loan facility is unsecured and interest bearing with
any outstanding amounts to be repaid in full on the date falling three
years from the date of the facility agreement. The facility has been
used to repay the existing HK$2,000 million bilateral loan facility on
15th June, 2015.

On 6th August, 2015, the Company, as borrower entered into a facility
agreement in relation to a HK$1,000 million 3-year term loan facility
with a bank. The loan facility is unsecured and interest bearing with
any outstanding amounts to be repaid in full on the date falling three
year from the date of the facility agreement.

Pursuant to the aforesaid facility agreements and facility letter, the
controlling shareholder of the Company, China Resources (Holdings)
Company Limited is required, at all times, to hold an aggregate
beneficial ownership (directly or indirectly) of not less than 50% in
the issued share capital of the Company (the “Specific Performance
Obligation”). It will be an event of default if the Specific Performance
Obligation is breached; and in such case, the relevant banks
shall declare the commitments to be cancelled and/or declare all
outstanding amounts together with interests accrued thereon and
all other sums payable by the Company to be immediately due and
payable.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in this report, at no time during the year was the
Company, its parent company, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the directors to
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures
of, the Company or any other body corporate.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Save and except so far as the provisions of the Bye-law shall be avoided
by any provisions of the Statutes, the Board, President, Vice-president,
Managing Directors, alternate Directors, Secretary and other officers
for the time being of the Company and the trustees (if any) for the time
being acting in relation to any of the affairs of the Company, and their
respective executors or administrators, shall be indemnified and secured
harmless out of the assets of the Company from and against all actions,
costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which they or any of
them, their or any of their executors or administrators, shall or may incur
or sustain by reason of any act done, concurred in or omitted in or about
the execution of their duty or supposed duty in their respective offices
or trusts, except such (if any) as they shall incur or sustain through their
own wilful neglect or default, fraud and dishonesty respectively.

The Company has taken out insurance against the liabilities and costs
associated with defending any proceedings which may be brought
against the Directors of the Company.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed in this report, no equity-linked agreements were
entered into during the year or subsisted at the end of the year.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Other than as disclosed in this report, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s shares
during the year ended 31st December, 2015.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
bye-laws although there are no restrictions against such rights under
the laws of Bermuda.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of its Directors, as at the date of this annual report,
there is sufficient public float of not less than 25% of the Company’s
issued shares as required under the Listing Rules.

AUDITOR

The financial statements for the year have been audited by Messrs
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu. A resolution will be submitted to the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company to re-appoint
Messrs Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as the auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED
Chairman

WANG Chuandong

Hong Kong, 30th March, 2016
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Independent Auditor’s Report

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Resources Gas Group Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 75 to 202,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31st December, 2015, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes
in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other
explanatory information.

Directors’ Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and
for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial
statements based on our audit and to report our opinion solely to you,
as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda Companies
Act and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free
from material misstatement.
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An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about
the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements.
The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including
the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those
risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the
entity’s preparation of consolidated financial statements that give a true
and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as
well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial
statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the financial position of the Group as at 31st December, 2015,
and of its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have
been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong
30th March 2016
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ek EMEEBARR

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
HE-_T-—AGF+-_A=1+—HILFE

—E-HF —ZE—mEF
2015 2014
Bt 5 FHET FAET
NOTES HK$’000 HK$'000
(=75)
(Restated)
] Turnover 8 31,095,756 28,717,025
SHE A Cost of sales (21,306,934) (20,003,435)
EH Gross profit 9,788,822 8,713,590
HAhdA Other income 9 892,413 877,321
Hibuzs (E518) Other gains (losses) 10 (158,189) (74,045)
HERDHEAX Selling and distribution expenses (3,126,233) (2,739,397)
TR Administrative expenses (2,505,258) (2,343,847)
4,891,555 4,433,622
B 7 Ak 7R Finance costs 11 (540,722) (536,954)
EREERRIEE Share of results of joint ventures 840,428 755,508
FEMRBS & N R ¥EE Share of results of associates 120,082 105,213
B 758 BT o ) Profit before taxation 12 5,311,343 4,757,389
#E Taxation 13 (1,508,236) (1,408,260)
F i A Profit for the year 3,803,107 3,349,129
FAHMEEAS Other comprehensive expense
for the year
BEETEEN 7 EE Items that will not be subsequently
B HEEH reclassified to profit or loss
BMERZHEE Exchange differences arising on
EARER =% translation to presentation currency (1,565,831) (106,026)
FREMHE WA LREE Total comprehensive income for the year 2,237,276 3,243,103
LA A LS F A& F) Profit for the year attributable to:
ZiN/NCIEZ =N Owners of the Company 2,837,910 2,479,898
JEfE R Non-controlling interests 965,197 869,231
3,803,107 3,349,129
ATFALTEEFEA Total comprehensive income for
2HEIRABEE : the year attributable to:
RARER A Owners of the Company 1,573,301 2,386,713
AR R A Non-controlling interests 663,975 856,390
2,237,276 3,243,103
BT BT
HK$ HK$
FRRAF Earnings per share 16
E- 9N Basic 1.30 1.14
EEMRZERERAT . — T HEEFR 75
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2015 2014
M 5% FERT T
NOTES HK$’000 HK$'000
(&=51))
(Restated)
EMENEE Non-current assets
ME - BERXRE Property, plant and equipment 17 22,717,164 21,492,431
FBRIFE LB Prepaid lease payments 18 1,455,967 1,312,537
LEME Investment properties 19 39,855 45,757
REERNREDR Interests in joint ventures 20 9,993,948 9,559,564
REEE N RS Interests in associates 21 1,952,824 1,990,259
A ERE Available-for-sale investments 22 59,805 52,292
=R Goodwill 23 676,169 707,479
LB RE Operating rights 24 1,298,374 1,371,101
IRIEFHIEE E Deferred tax assets 36 190,323 127,738
LERIRS Deposits for operating rights 20,641 52171
FENBEORIBEZS Deposits for prepaid lease payments 65,460 67,578
BEMX  KFERREES Deposits for property, plant and
equipment 344,107 438,397
KREZR® Deposits for investments 731,098 76,058
39,545,735 37,293,362
MENE E Current assets
T8 Inventories 25 570,516 639,576
EUE 5 B 30 B E Aih & Uk X Trade and other receivables 26 7,368,988 6,992,209
EREFELITENRIE Amounts due from customers for
contract works 27 1,534,776 1,690,712
AR L FIR Prepaid lease payments 18 74,683 60,119
mREER A RRM 2 EFR  Loan to an intermediate holding
company 28 - 694,532
RBERMBARIREZER Loan to a fellow subsidiary 28 - 707,695
B IRITIER Pledged bank deposits 29 50,702 65,986
IRITHBRIA S Bank balances and cash
—HRekBREsE — Cash and cash equivalents 30(a) 10,750,872 7,552,519
— HibTFK — Other deposits 30(b) = 2,154,988
20,350,537 20,458,336
BB (E Current liabilities
BN E SRR N E M EN R Trade and other payables 31 12,441,037 12,840,328
EREFEHTIRENRE Amounts due to customers for
contract works 27 8,168,338 7,152,688
BT & Government grants 32 24,490 32,394
RITREMEE Bank and other borrowings 33 4,219,798 3,296,513
FEIFIR Taxation payable 569,771 456,621
25,423,434 23,778,544
RBAEFE Net current liabilities (5,072,897) (3,320,208)
34,472,838 33,973,154
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

At 31st December, 2015 pi -

FE+=ZA=+—H

—ZE—h8F —E—UF
2015 2014
B sE FET FHETT
NOTES HK$’000 HK$'000
(&E=71)
(Restated)

BN R i# R Capital and reserves
A& A Share capital 37 222,401 222,401
s Reserves 16,786,958 15,840,967

RREHER ABIGIRA Equity attributable to owners of

the Company 17,009,359 16,063,368
e AR A Non-controlling interests 5,477,647 5,064,551
22,487,006 21,127,919

FRBEE Non-current liabilities
B EE Government grants 32 104,489 82,472
RITREMEE Bank and other borrowings 33 4,970,773 5,933,818
BEER Senior notes 34 5,708,620 5,698,823
HEtREEE Other long-term liabilities 35 189,772 232,318
BEFIERE Deferred tax liabilities 36 1,012,178 897,804
11,985,832 12,845,235
34,472,838 33,973,154

FISE202B ZERA P BHREAHAEZTERN
TR -RFE=ZA=+HIERIRE T f
THATRREZSES

and are signed on its behalf by:

EER hEHE
WANG CHUANDONG SHI SHANBO
EF EF
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
EY: A
CHAIRMAN CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

EHRRERERLT - —T—HFFR

The consolidated financial statements on pages 75 to 202 were approved
and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 30th March, 2016
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

For the year ended 31st December, 2015 ey AE+ZA=+—HIEFE
LGN
Attributable to owners of the Company
BER
itilsE
2B
Shares FER
held for k&
RE  REGEE HABS%  ERBE  EXRE incenie HBRE AHEE R Non-  BA&E
Share Share Contributed  Capital Translation award Other ~ Merger Retained &3 controlling Total
capital premium  surplus  reserve  reserve  scheme reserves  reserve  profits Total interests  equity
Thr T TExr TEr TEr  TEr  TAr  TEr T AT T TEn
HK$000  HK§000  HKS000  HKS000  HK$000  HKS000  HK$000  HK$O000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000
(Miita)  (Hib) (M) (i)
(Note @)~ (Note b) (Notec) ~ (Note d)
RZE-RE-A-B At 1t January, 2014 222,401 6,378,643 7,388,600 20535 1492034  (186,113) 1,074,882 (8727,518) 6,519,471 14,182,935 4,432,903 18,615,838
g Proit for the year , - - - 5 - - - 2479898 2479898 869231 334919
ERREEENERZER Exchange differences arising on
Efp2ARR translation and other
comprehensive expense for the year - - - - (93189) - - - - (93,185)  (12,841) (106,026)
ER2E (Hx) RALE Total comprehensive (expense)
income for the year - - - - (93,18)) - - - 2479898 2386713 856390 3,243,103
FERERTE Capital contribution from
non-controlling interests - - - - - - - - - - 154253 1542583
WENBAR Acquisition of subsidiaries - - - - - = - - - - 165672 165672
BieEBENaD ES Deemed disposal of partial nterest
in an associate - - - - (9419 - - - 9415 - - -
HEARBEREZ RN Disposal of shares held for
incentive award scheme - - - - - 6,901 - - 30003 36904 - 36904
BfffE (Hik15) Dividends paid (note 15) - - - - - - - - (543,184) (543,184) - (543,184)
BRHBATHERERRSE  Dividends paid to non-controlling
interests of subsidiaries - - - - - - - - - - (544,667)  (544,667)
[t Transfer - - - - - - 212670 - (272670) - - -
RZE-ME+-A=F+-H  At31st December, 2014 222,401 6,378,643 7,388,600 20535 1389434 (179212) 1,347,552 (8,727,518) 8,222,933 16,083,368 5,064,551 21,127,919
ERigfl Profit for the year - - - - - - - - 2807910 2837910 965,197 3,803,107
ERREEENERZER Exchange differences arising on
Efp2ARR translation and other
comprehensive expense for the year - - - - (1,264,609 - - - - (1,264,609) (301,222) (1,565,831)
EREE (Fx) hAEE Total comprehensive (expense)
income for the year - - - - (1,264,609) - - - 2807910 1,573,301 663,975 2,237276
FARER A Capital contribution from
non-controlling interests - - - - - - - - - - 218356 278,356
WEHBAR Acquisition of a subsidiary - - - - - - - - - - 51400 51400
LEARBERAZ RN Disposal of shares held for
incentive award scheme - - - - - 4,755 - - 20,327 25,082 - 25082
BfiRS (HzH15) Dividends paid (note 15) - - - - - - - - (652392 (652,392 - (652392)
BRHBAFERESRS  Dividends paid to non-controling
interests of subsidiaries - - - - - - - - - - (580,635) (580,635)
BB Transfer - - - - - - 21,010 - (421,010) - - -
RZE-RETZA=F-H  At31st December, 2015 202,401 6,378,643 7,388,600 20535 124825  (174457) 1,768,562 (8,727518) 10,007,768 17,009,359 5477647 22,487,006
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RERTERBER
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

For the year ended 31st December, 2015 HE=ZT—AF+-A=+—HIFE

B3 Notes:

REARANR-_ZE——FHAA=+HEH
MRS ARG CHAENRRIRER - ©
#A7%7,388,600,0007% 7T # A& 17 /4 1B HE R 78
EEHEIRT B BEEHARR - MARRK
73T 53 e ek 88 X2 % P R S A AR B B <1981
FHRERRR) BIFNEMLBE -

BARFEERE()VWNBEFERAKENHRE
BERARKRARNMBLRKESE QRN
& R()HIFERE SR EN S R
BRIMBARMBIIMERMXNNREZ
fH) =5 -

HitFBEERTFEARLNRA ([HE])
PRIV B R A — AR R TE R
B CEBRRES  ZECRERBEBAR
BEFEEARARTE T E MR E R
AT T EASREREEEFECE
) o

—REHEDEFEETHBRRMBRBIEL
M IE5%E10%MEEDE - WHKRES
BENEZZRESIEARMMKSIZMAA
BITEE - %HEERBEER BxE
ARBFREENMEBZA °

AHFEFHEEOENREAE RADKER
EMBRARRAABMAETRND - E(i)ER
EETFRAHERBZCETRARGEESHE
Z R ZEE

Pursuant to the approval of a special resolution at the special general
meeting of the Company on 30th May, 2011, the amount of HK$7,388,600,000
standing to the credit of share premium has been reduced and transferred
to the contributed surplus. The contributed surplus is a distributable reserve
and will be used for payment of dividends and for such other purposes as
allowed by the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda.

Capital reserve aroses from (i) discount on acquisition of joint ventures
from an intermediate holding company and fellow subsidiaries of the Group
in prior years; and (ii) the difference between the amount by which the
non-controlling interests are adjusted and the consideration paid for the
acquisition of additional interest in subsidiaries.

Other reserves comprise general reserve, statutory surplus reserve,
enterprise expansion fund, statutory public welfare fund and discretionary
surplus reserve of subsidiaries established in the People’s Republic of China
(the “PRC”), and the change in net assets attributable to the Group in relation
to the increase in ownership interests in subsidiaries through cash injection.

General reserve is appropriated each year on the basis of 5% to 10% of the
profit after taxation of certain subsidiaries as determined by their board of
directors in accordance with the Articles of Association of the subsidiaries.
This reserve should only be used for making up losses, capitalisation into
capital and expansion of production and operation.

Merger reserve represented the difference between (i) the cash consideration
paid, deemed distribution to a fellow subsidiary and shares issued by the
Company; and (ii) the amount of issued capital and premium of the combined
entities under group reorganisations.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

For the year ended 31st December, 2015 HE=—T—hAF+-A=+—HIFE
—ZE—h8F —E—UF
2015 2014
FERT FHET
HK$’000 HK$’000
(#&=51)
(Restated)
K OPERATING ACTIVITIES
B 5% i g A Profit before taxation 5,311,343 4,757,389
THE Adjustments for:
B X H Interest expense 540,722 536,954
FEUA Interest income (252,766) (356,504)
EHERBT B & Government grants recognised (37,238) (25,851)
NI E Share of results of joint ventures (840,428) (755,508)
oy NG E Share of results of associates (120,082) (105,213)
HEYE  BENKEESE Loss on disposal of property,
plant and equipment 6,090 31,670
HEFBFR LR IEE 1B Loss on disposal of prepaid lease payments 1,061 19,716
BIELEBME AT HEZEIE  Loss on deemed disposal of partial interest
in an associate - 29,264
EHERIENE 5 R FUREEE Impairment loss recognised on trade
receivables 28,163 125,984
M - BRE RBETE Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment 980,687 916,096
RIS AL FREE Release of prepaid lease payments 72,696 50,423
KEMERE Depreciation of investment properties 3,371 1,305
e e Amortisation of operating rights 60,132 33,464
LEESEHINKLESELRE  Operating cash flows before movements in
working capital 5,753,751 5,259,189
FERD Decrease in inventories 32,987 158,684
FEULE 5 BR TR N E b B U FR 38 N Increase in trade and other receivables (688,049) (966,765)
EWERFE A %) T2z I3 Increase in amounts due from customers for
contract works (36,936) (687,901)
FE{ B8 5 BE 20 % E 4t B < 2R 4 N Increase in trade and other payables 488,743 981,881
ENEEA 4TI = Increase in amounts due to customers for
contract works 1,433,253 1,944,001
KEXEBEENRS Cash generated from operations 6,983,749 6,689,089
B ECEMER PRC Enterprise Income Tax paid (1,293,694) (1,212,827)
REEBMBRESFE NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 5,690,055 5,476,262
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mERERER

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

For the year ended 31st December, 2015 BE—ZT—hF+t-A=1T—HILHFE

—EB-HF —EZ—F
2015 2014
Bt 5 THERT FHET
NOTE HK$’°000 HK$’000
(&E=71)
(Restated)
REFH INVESTING ACTIVITIES
0 B b 7 s TS 3ka Proceeds from redemption of
other deposits 9,888,794 13,823,937
R A BB R Repayment from an intermediate
holding company 2,592,146 1,952,381
RRWB R GER Repayment from a fellow subsidiary 700,000 =
2R EERFRE Dividend received from joint ventures 348,393 361,782
2 U B Interest received 268,661 338,844
HEWE  BE X Proceeds from disposal of property,

RAEFTISROR plant and equipment 126,952 88,749
I HER B A A Acquisition of subsidiaries 40 103,067 (652,486)
B E N TR E Dividend received from associates 69,266 98,798
BB EE 8 Government grants received related

BStHEE to assets 58,057 40,598
R E LR AE S AE K Repayment from non-controlling

interests 18,057 35,871
B R RITF R Withdrawal of pledged bank deposits 15,553 156,890
S TER ALY Proceeds from disposal of

RIBFTS I8 prepaid lease payments 4,272 45,000
T BE b 77 3R Placement of other deposits (7,771,546) (13,129,584)
BEME BER Payments for acquisition of property,

B0k EN plant and equipment (3,523,267) (3,287,370)
A R R 3 AR A RIAR (it 2 3K Advance to an intermediate holding

company (1,917,978) (2,633,802)
WERS () B (Increase) decrease in deposits for

investments (659,481) 73,698
REERRINRE Investment in joint ventures (403,805) (294,281)
S TR LFIE Prepaid lease payments made (262,653) (199,964)
BEVE  BELREZS Deposits for property, plant and

equipment (172,776) (490,371)
BEEEWRENRBATNMZK  Payments for acquisition of subsidiaries

in prior year (96,048) -
FERBORIEBEZS Deposits for prepaid lease payments (65,460) (45,405)
FEERET R Payments for operating rights (37,052) (70,310)
B R RIRYIR A Investment in associates (31,367) (59,675)
KEgRE Deposits for operating rights (20,641) (31,554)
U BE A] it B E 3 B R Payments for acquisition of

available-for-sale investments (11,099) (1,839)
FEERRITER Placement of pledged bank deposits (3,625) (5,082)
—BAERNAIER Repayment from a joint venturer - 524,382
BENAIER Repayment from joint ventures - 63,709
HEREYFFTSHRIE Proceeds from disposal of

investment properties - 2,295
EIEEY NG BT Advance to fellow subsidiaries - (700,000)
BRI E M E R FR Payments for acquisition of

investment properties - (1,598)
REXKFTARSFE NET CASH USED IN

INVESTING ACTIVITIES (783,580) (3,996,387)

EHUMREREBRAF - —F - LFFR 81



—
RERETRER

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

For the year ended 31st December, 2015 HE=-T—AF+-A=+—HIFE

—E-hHF T —F
2015 2014
TERT FHET
HK$’000 HK$’000
(#&=51)
(Restated)
e FINANCING ACTIVITIES
FIERITREMEE New bank and other borrowings raised 1,282,081 1,700,496
MiEB A R FEE R & Contribution from non-controlling interests of
subsidiaries 278,356 154,253
REME AT IR MBS Advance from (repayment to) non-controlling
(RIFT B 2 B FE1E AR M s i 1) interests of subsidiaries 97,415 (12,624)
HEARBFEFEZ Proceeds from disposal of shares held for
R% 15 P S 20 18 incentive award scheme 25,082 36,904
BERITREMEE Repayments of bank and other borrowings (1,279,077) (920,622)
BEARE Dividends paid (652,392) (543,184)
ELAST Y B R B SRR AR 2R AR R Dividends paid to non-controlling interests
of subsidiaries (580,635) (544,667)
BEAFE Interest paid (524,190) (482,823)
A1E &R RIER Repayment to joint ventures (26,607) (20,252)
MEXBEFMARSTFE NET CASH USED IN FINANCING ACTIVITIES (1,379,967) (632,519)
HeRBESESEGMFE NET INCREASE IN CASH AND
CASH EQUIVALENTS 3,526,508 847,356
FNRERESEE CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT
BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 7,552,519 6,722,425
IEERBEN EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE RATE
CHANGES (328,155) (17,262)
FREASRESEE CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT
END OF THE YEAR,
BRTT4E IR S represented by bank balances and cash 10,750,872 7,552,519
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31st December, 2015 HE=ZT—AF+-A=+—HIFE

—REHR
ARRABR/—RKNBFEZMALHOE
BeBRAR - HROHNREEHAR
ZRARRAR (TBRA]) £ &
TRIBARARBEEMRINER
(£E) ERQR (EHEE]) : M
REERAR BTREBEAT ([H
BEE])  ZARAR/—RNPEKL
Wi BT HEA RIEHIE AR o &
NEIGEMM SR R TR EEME R
HER AR FRA R T E R —EF R -

ARABAB—REEZRQR] HFXE
MWEBAR - ALRaIRBENANE
9 BIH A 5146 - 471248 -

AABWNEEEBARE AR
¥ o ARREMBIT (DET]) ER
HE2HNEH  RARRRAA—ZRKK
R AP EH) EAE]

REBEAGEMBERER BRAR
RZEBE-—RE+-_A=+—RB K&
ENrnHEERaERSHEEY
5,072,897,000/8 ;T & A £ E B & AR
& #£92,182,912,0007% 7T © AN A 7
EECEEEREAEEN KRR A
BeEMn e RZE—RE+=-A=
+—H AEENRTREMEER
& #£499,190,571,000/8 7T © E 4
4,219,798,0008 T D AR B &
B ARRIEERE - NEBBERTT
WRIAERSELERSRAASEE
BIEERMERNRES

GENERAL

The Company is a listed public company incorporated in Bermuda
as an exempted company with limited liability and its shares are
listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”). The Company'’s intermediate parent company is China
Resources (Holdings) Company Limited (“CRH”), a company
incorporated in Hong Kong and its ultimate holding company is
China Resources National Corp. (“CRNC”), a company established
in the PRC which is owned and controlled by the PRC government.
The addresses of registered office and principal place of business
of the Company are disclosed in the Corporate Information to the
annual report.

The Company is an investment holding company. The activities of
its principal subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates are set out
in notes 46, 47 and 48, respectively.

The functional currency of the Company is Renminbi (“RMB”). The
Company uses Hong Kong dollars (“HKD”) as its presentation
currency because the Company is a public company with its shares
listed on the Stock Exchange.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company have given careful consideration to the future
liquidity of the Group in light of the fact that the Group’s
current liabilities exceeded its current assets by approximately
HK$5,072,897,000, and the Group has commitments of
approximately HK$2,182,912,000 as at 31st December, 2015. As
at 31st December, 2015, the Group has bank and other borrowings
totalling approximately HK$9,190,571,000 of which approximately
HK$4,219,798,000 was classified as current liabilities. The directors
of the Company are of the opinion that there are good track records
and relationship with banks which would enhance the Group’s
ability on renewing the borrowing facilities.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

The directors of the Company are of the opinion that, taking into
account of the internally generated funds of the Group and the
other factors described above, the Group has sufficient working
capital for its present requirements for the next twelve months
from 31st December, 2015. Accordingly, the consolidated financial
statements have been prepared on a going concern basis.

During the year ended 31st December, 2015, the identification and
determination of the fair values of the net identifiable assets of &
MEBRR AR AR (“Pengzhou CR Gas”) and KEFEBRRAR
‘A\] (“Changxing CR Gas”) acquired during the year ended 31st
December, 2014 (see note 40) have been completed. Thus, the
Group has restated comparative information in the consolidated
statement of financial position at 31st December, 2014 and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income for the year ended 31st December, 2014 to reflect the
fair value adjustments made upon completion of the purchase
accounting. The effect of fair value adjustments has no impact on
the consolidated statement of financial position as at 1st January,
2014.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31st December, 2015
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

(a)

The effects of those restatements described above on
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other

comprehensive income during the year ended 31st December,
2014 are as follows:

R
=N
RRTEER
SERE
—T—mEF 0% —T-mF
Effect of
the finalisation
of accounting
for acquisition
2014  of subsidiaries 2014
FAT FHT FHAT
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
(LRIZ51) (& E5)
(Previously
stated) (Restated)
BEE Turnover 28,717,025 = 28,717,025
SHER A Cost of sales (20,001,128) (2,307) (20,003,435)
E7 Gross profit 8,715,897 (2,307) 8,713,590
H bW A Other income 877,321 = 877,321
Hlhas (B18) Other gains (losses) (74,045) = (74,045)
HERDHERAZ Selling and distribution
expenses (2,739,397) - (2,739,397)
THAX Administrative expenses (2,343,847) = (2,343,847)
4,435,929 (2,307) 4,433,622
B AR Finance costs (536,954) - (536,954)
BEAEARIEE Share of results of joint
ventures 755,508 - 755,508
FEMREEE AR ELE Share of results of associates 105,213 = 105,213
R T Al g A Profit before taxation 4,759,696 (2,307) 4,757,389
1B Taxation (1,408,837) 577 (1,408,260)
F R A Profit for the year 3,350,859 (1,730) 3,349,129
FREMEEFAS Other comprehensive
expense for the year
GEE T BB SR Items that will not be
HIEH subsequently reclassified
to profit or loss
TEEMHEE Exchange differences arising
BacBREES on translation that will
HEE 5 Z 58 not be reclassified to
profit or loss (106,026) - (106,026)
FEREEB AL Total comprehensive income
for the year 3,244,833 (1,730) 3,243,103
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For the year ended 31st December, 2015 HE=-T—AF+-A=+—HIFE

2. WEEE (&F) 2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

(a) FENHBE—T—NF+= (a) The effects of those restatements described above on
A=+—HIEFEHREEaLE the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
tEEBRARKOZENT : comprehensive income during the year ended 31st December,
(&) 2014 are as follows: (Continued)

S
()=
RIRTEEHR
BatRe
—Z—F Epfr —T—F
Effect of
the finalisation
of accounting
for acquisition
2014 of subsidiaries 2014
FHET FHET THET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(ERIZ3) (FE71)
(Previously
stated) (Restated)
A TATEEERRF Profit for the year attributable to:
AARHER A Owners of the Company 2,481,628 (1,730) 2,479,898
FEE R Non-controlling interests 869,231 = 869,231
3,350,859 (1,730) 3,349,129
AT ALTEEFER Total comprehensive income
2T AEZE - for the year attributable to:
RABHER A Owners of the Company 2,388,443 (1,730) 2,386,713
R Non-controlling interests 856,390 = 856,390
3,244,833 (1,730) 3,243,103

(o) LB ARRKKEENE (b) The effects of the finalisation of accounting for subsidiaries
BESHE_T-—AF+=-_A= described above on results by line items presented
T-HILFEEFEER AN in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
EWARKFIZIER 250 EE comprehensive income during the year ended 31st December,
HENT - 2015 is as follows:

—E-RF

2015

FET

HK$’000

& A AN Decrease in cost of sales 526
TR 3 Increase in administrative expenses (18,656)
BRI Decrease in taxation 4,533
F (A4 A > Decrease in profit for the year (13,597)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31st December, 2015 HE=ZT—AF+-A=+—HIFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

(c) The effects of those restatements described above on
the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31st
December, 2014 is as follows:

HUhE
HE AR
B ERTETE A
2ETEE
—T—F ppZ —T—F
Effect of
the finalisation
of accounting
for acquisition
2014  of subsidiaries 2014
FAT FAT FAT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(%LRIZ27)) (F&E5)
(Previously
stated) (Restated)
IEMENE EE Non-current assets
Y% - BERZRE Property, plant and equipment 21,511,872 (19,441) 21,492,431
TR LTI Prepaid lease payments 1,298,818 13,719 1,312,537
B Investment properties 45,757 - 45,757
REERRER Interests in joint ventures 9,559,564 = 9,559,564
REEE N RS Interests in associates 1,990,259 = 1,990,259
A ERE Available-for-sale investments 52,292 = 52,292
G Goodwill 1,042,033 (334,554) 707,479
R Operating rights 790,569 580,532 1,371,101
RRETHIEE = Deferred tax assets 127,738 = 127,738
LIRS Deposits for operating rights 52,171 = 52,171
FENBEOFIBEZRS Deposits for prepaid lease
payments 67,578 - 67,578
EEVX - BEk&MEEE Deposits for property,
plant and equipment 438,397 - 438,397
KBRS Deposits for investments 76,058 - 76,058
37,053,106 240,256 37,293,362
mENE E Current assets
T8 Inventories 639,576 - 639,576
JEWE SR K EMEU T Trade and other receivables 6,997,804 (5,595) 6,992,209
BWEEA#ITIRTIAE Amounts due from customers
for contract work 1,590,712 - 1,590,712
BRI IE Prepaid lease payments 60,119 = 60,119
MR A IR 2 E3X  Loan to an intermediate
holding company 694,532 - 694,532
mE R B AGIRME 2 ER  Loan to a fellow subsidiary 707,695 - 707,695
BRI TIER Pledged bank deposits 65,986 = 65,986
RITHEB RIS Bank balances and cash
- BekReFE — Cash and cash equivalents 7,552,519 = 7,552,519
— HfFk — Other deposits 2,154,988 = 2,154,988
20,463,931 (5,595) 20,458,336
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BE-T-RFt-A=t-ALFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

FEHNEH —F-—mFE+=A= (c) The effects of those restatements described above on
T—BEEMBRARNZEN the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31st
T (&) December, 2014 is as follows: (Continued)
R
)N
TR
—T-E 0% —Z—mE
Effect of the
finalisation of
accounting for
acquisition of
2014 subsidiaries 2014
FHT FHET FHT
HK$’'000 HK$’'000 HK$'000
C:E2) (&=E75)
(Previously
stated) (Restated)
mEA & Current liabilities
BB SRR R EMERFL Trade and other payables 12,871,276 (30,948) 12,840,328
EREEAHIIRARIE Amounts due to customers
for contract work 7,152,688 - 7,152,688
B € Government grants 32,394 = 32,394
BRITREMES Bank and other borrowings 3,296,513 - 3,296,513
JERTFRIE Taxation payable 431,268 25,353 456,621
23,784,139 (5,595) 23,778,544
mEEEFE Net current liabilities (3,320,208) = (3,320,208)
33,732,898 240,256 33,973,154
BN R Capital and reserves
[N Share capital 222,401 = 222,401
G Reserves 15,842,697 (1,730) 15,840,967
RAEEE ABIERA Equity attributable to
owners of the Company 16,065,098 (1,730) 16,063,368
FEPE AR 2 Non-controlling interests 4,966,268 98,283 5,064,551
21,031,366 96,553 21,127,919
FERBBEE Non-current liabilities
BB E Government grants 82,472 - 82,472
SRITRHMEE Bank and other borrowings 5,933,818 - 5,933,818
BRER Senior notes 5,698,823 - 5,698,823
HEREEE Other long-term liabilities 232,318 - 232,318
EEIBEAE Deferred tax liabilities 754,101 143,703 897,804
12,701,532 143,703 12,845,235
33,732,898 240,256 33,973,154
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31st December, 2015 HE=ZT—AF+-A=+—HIFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”)

The Group has applied the following amendments to HKFRSs
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(the “HKICPA”) for the first time in the current year.

Amendments to HKAS 19 Defined benefit plans: Employee
contributions

Amendments to HKFRSs Annual improvements to HKFRSs
2010 - 2012 cycle

Amendments to HKFRSs Annual improvements to HKFRSs
2011 - 2013 cycle

The application of the above amendments to HKFRSs in the
current year has had no material impact on the Group’s financial
performance and position and/or disclosures set out in the Group’s
consolidated financial statements.

The Group has not early applied the following new and revised
HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective.

HKFRS 9 Financial instruments'

HKFRS 15 Revenue from contracts with
customers!

Amendments to HKFRSs Annual improvements to HKFRSs

2012 — 2014 cycle?

Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or contribution of assets
and HKAS 28 between an investor and
its associate or joint venture®
Amendments to HKFRS 10, Investment entities: Applying
HKFRS 12 and HKAS 28 the consolidation exception?

Amendments to HKFRS 11 Accounting for acquisitions of
interests in joint operations?®

Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure initiative?
Amendments to HKAS 16 Clarification of acceptable methods
and HKAS 38 of depreciation and amortisation?
Amendments to HKAS 16 Agriculture: Bearer plants?
and HKAS 41

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st January, 2018.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st January, 2016.

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be

determined.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

HKFRS 15 “Revenue from contracts with customers”

HKFRS 15 was issued which established a single comprehensive
model for entities to use in accounting for revenue arising from
contracts with customers. HKFRS 15 will supersede the current
revenue recognition guidance including HKAS 18 “Revenue”, HKAS
11 “Construction contracts” and the related interpretations when
it becomes effective.

The core principle of HKFRS 15 is that an entity should recognise
revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to
customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which
the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or
services. Specifically, the standard introduces a 5-step approach
to revenue recognition:

° Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer
° Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the contract
° Step 3: Determine the transaction price

° Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance
obligations in the contract

° Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a
performance obligation

Under HKFRS 15, an entity recognises revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the
goods or services underlying the particular performance obligation
is transferred to the customer. Far more prescriptive guidance
has been added in HKFRS 15 to deal with specific scenarios.
Furthermore, extensive disclosures are required by HKFRS 15.
The directors of the Company are in the process of assessing the
impact on the application of HKFRS 15. For the moment, it is not
practicable to provide a reasonable estimate of the effect of HKFRS
15 until the Group completes a detailed review.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application of
other new and revised HKFRSs will have no material impact on the
consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31st December, 2015 HE-ZT—FAF+-A=+—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued
by the HKICPA. In addition, the consolidated financial statements
include applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(“Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
("CO").

The disclosure requirements set out in the Listing Rules regarding
annual accounts have been amended with reference to the
provisions of the new Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap
622) regarding preparation of accounts and directors’ reports
and to streamline with HKFRSs. Accordingly the presentation and
disclosure of information in the consolidated financial statements
for the financial year ended 31st December, 2015 have been
changed to comply with these new requirements. Comparative
information in respect of the financial year ended 31st December,
2014 are presented or disclosed in the consolidated financial
statements based on the new requirements. Information previously
required to be disclosed under the predecessor CO or Listing
Rules but not under the new CO or amended Listing Rules are not
disclosed in these consolidated financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis except for certain financial instruments which
are measured at fair values as explained in the accounting policies
set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that
price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation
technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability,
the Group takes into account the characteristics of the asset or
liability if market participants would take those characteristics into
account when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date.
Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these
consolidated financial statements is determined on such a basis,
except for share-based payment transactions that are within the
scope of HKFRS 2 “Share-based payment”, leasing transactions
that are within the scope of HKAS 17 “Leases”, and measurements
that have some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such
as net realisable value in HKAS 2 “Inventories” or value in use in
HKAS 36 “Impairment of assets”.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the
degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are
observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value
measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

° Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can
access at the measurement date;

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included
within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly or indirectly; and

° Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED - Annual Report 2015
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31st December, 2015 HE=ZT—AF+-A=+—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the Company
and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved where the Company:

° has power over the investee;

o is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts
and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more
of the three elements of control listed above.

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting rights of
an investee, it has power over the investee when the voting rights
are sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct the relevant
activities of the investee unilaterally. The Group considers all
relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether or not the
Group’s voting rights in an investee are sufficient to give it power,
including:

o the size of the Group’s holding of voting rights relative to the
size and dispersion of holdings of the other vote holders;

o potential voting rights held by the Group, other vote holders
or other parties;

o rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

° the current ability to direct the relevant activities at the time

that decisions need to be made, including voting patterns at
previous shareholders’ meetings.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses
of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Group gains control until
the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income are
attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed
to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests
even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements
of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line with the
Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between members of the Group
are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing subsidiaries
that do not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiaries
are accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of
the Group’s interests and the non-controlling interests are adjusted
to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries.
Any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling
interests are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid
or received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners
of the Company.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED - Annual Report 2015
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For the year ended 31st December, 2015 HE=ZT—AF+-A=+—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses that are not combinations of business
under common control are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred in a business combination
is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of
the acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred by the
Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the
acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange
for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are generally
recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and
the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value at the
acquisition date, except that:

° deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or liabilities
or assets related to employee benefit arrangements are
recognised and measured in accordance with HKAS
12 “Income taxes” and HKAS 19 “Employee benefits”
respectively;

. liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based
payment arrangements of the acquiree or share-based
payment arrangements of the Group entered into to replace
share-based payment arrangements of the acquiree are
measured in accordance with HKFRS 2 at the acquisition
date; and

o assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale
in accordance with HKFRS 5 “Non-current assets held for sale
and discontinued operations” are measured in accordance
with that standard.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the
acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity
interest in the acquiree (if any) over the net of the acquisition-date
amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities
assumed. If, after re-assessment, the net of the acquisition-date
amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed
exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of
any non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value of
the acquirer’s previously held interest in the acquiree (if any), the
excess is recognised immediately in profit or loss as a bargain
purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests and
entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the entity’s net
assets in the event of liquidation may be initially measured either
at fair value or at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share
of the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets.
The choice of measurement basis is made on a transaction-by-
transaction basis. Other types of non-controlling interests are
measured at their fair value or, when applicable, on the basis
specified in another standard.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by
the end of the reporting period in which the combination occurs,
the Group reports provisional amounts for the items for which the
accounting is incomplete. Those provisional amounts are adjusted
during the measurement period and additional assets or liabilities
are recognised, to reflect new information obtained about facts
and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date that, if
known, would have affected the amounts recognised at that date.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED - Annual Report 2015
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For the year ended 31st December, 2015 HE=ZT—AF+-A=+—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at cost
as established at the date of acquisition of the business (see the
accounting policy above) less accumulated impairment losses, if
any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to
each of the cash-generating units, or groups of cash-generating
units, that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination. A cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been
allocated is tested for impairment annually, or more frequently
whenever there is indication that the unit may be impaired. For
goodwill arising on an acquisition in a reporting period, the cash-
generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated is tested
for impairment before the end of that reporting period. If the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less than the
carrying amount of the unit, the impairment loss is allocated first
to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit,
and then to the other assets of the unit pro-rata on the basis of
the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. An impairment loss
for goodwill is recognised in profit or loss and is not reversed in
subsequent periods.

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit or a joint venture,
the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the determination
of the amount of profit or loss on disposal.

The Group’s policy for goodwill arising on the acquisition of an
associate and a joint venture is described below.

Investments in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not
control or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have
joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net assets of the
joint arrangement. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing
of control of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions
about the relevant activities require unanimous consent of the
parties sharing control.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures (Continued)

The results and assets and liabilities of associates or joint ventures
are incorporated in these consolidated financial statements using
the equity method of accounting. Under the equity method, an
investment in an associate or a joint venture is initially recognised
in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost and
adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of the profit
or loss and other comprehensive income of the associate or joint
venture. When the Group’s share of losses of an associate or a
joint venture exceeds the Group’s interest in that associate or joint
venture, the Group discontinues recognising its share of further
losses. Additional losses are recognised only to the extent that
the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made
payments on behalf of the associate or joint venture.

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is accounted
for using the equity method from the date on which the investee
becomes an associate or a joint venture. On acquisition of the
investment in an associate or a joint venture, any excess of the
cost of the investment over the Group’s share of the net fair value
of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee is recognised
as goodwill, which is included within the carrying amount of the
investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of
the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of the investment,
after reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss in
the period in which the investment is acquired.

The requirements of HKAS 39 are applied to determine whether
it is necessary to recognise any impairment loss with respect to
the Group’s investment in an associate or a joint venture. When
necessary, the entire carrying amount of the investment (including
goodwill) is tested for impairment in accordance with HKAS 36 as a
single asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher of value
in use and fair value less costs to sell) with its carrying amount. Any
impairment loss recognised forms part of the carrying amount of
the investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognised
in accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable
amount of the investment subsequently increases.
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FRE BTSRRI
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31st December, 2015 HE-ZT—FAF+-A=+—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures (Continued)

The Group discontinues the use of the equity method from the
date when the investment ceases to be an associate or a joint
venture, or when the investment (or a portion thereof) is classified
as held for sale. When the Group retains an interest in the former
associate or joint venture and the retained interest is a financial
asset, the Group measures the retained interest at fair value at
that date and the fair value is regarded as its fair value on initial
recognition in accordance with HKAS 39. The difference between
the carrying amount of the associate or joint venture at the date
the equity method was discontinued, and the fair value of any
retained interest and any proceeds from disposing of a part interest
in the associate or joint venture is included in the determination
of the gain or loss on disposal of the associate or joint venture. In
addition, the Group accounts for all amounts previously recognised
in other comprehensive income in relation to that associate or joint
venture on the same basis as would be required if that associate
or joint venture had directly disposed of the related assets or
liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss previously recognised in other
comprehensive income by that associate or joint venture would be
reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the related assets
or liabilities, the Group reclassifies the gain or loss from equity to
profit or loss (as a reclassification adjustment) when the equity
method is discontinued.

The Group continues to use the equity method when an investment
in an associate becomes an investment in a joint venture or
an investment in a joint venture becomes an investment in an
associate. There is no remeasurement to fair value upon such
changes in ownership interests.

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an associate or
a joint venture but the Group continues to use the equity method,
the Group reclassifies to profit or loss the proportion of the gain or
loss that had previously been recognised in other comprehensive
income relating to that reduction in ownership interest if that gain
or loss would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the
related assets or liabilities.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures (Continued)

When a group entity transacts with an associate or a joint venture
of the Group (such as a sale or contribution of assets), profits
and losses resulting from the transactions with the associate or
joint venture are recognised in the Group’s consolidated financial
statements only to the extent of interests in the associate or joint
venture that are not related to the Group.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received
or receivable and represents amounts receivable for goods sold
and services provided in the normal course of business, net of
discounts and taxes.

Revenue from a construction contract for gas connection is
recognised when the outcome of the construction contract for gas
connection can be estimated reliably and the stage of completion
at the end of reporting period can be measured reliably. Revenue
from and expenses on construction contracts for gas connection
are recognised using the percentage of completion method,
measured by reference to the costs incurred during the year
relative to the estimated total costs of the contract. When the
outcome of a construction contract for gas connection cannot
be estimated reliably, revenue is recognised only to the extent of
contract cost incurred that is probable to be recoverable.

Revenue from gas supply is recognised when gas is used by
customers.

Revenue from sales of goods is recognised when goods are
delivered and title has passed.

Service income is recognised when services are provided.

Interest income from a financial asset is recognised when it is
probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the
amount of income can be measured reliably. Interest income from
a financial asset is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the
principal outstanding and at the effective interest rate applicable,
which is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash
receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to that
asset’s net carrying amount on initial recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31st December, 2015 HE=ZT—AF+-A=+—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Dividend income from investments is recognised when the
shareholders’ rights to receive payment have been established
(provided that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to
the Group and the amount of revenue can be measured reliably).

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including leasehold properties
held for use in the production or supply of goods or services, or
for administrative purposes (other than construction in progress)
are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at
cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

Construction in progress includes property, plant and equipment in
the course of construction for production or for own use purposes.
Construction in progress is carried at cost less any recognised
impairment loss. Construction in progress is classified to the
appropriate category of property, plant and equipment when
completed and ready for intended use. Depreciation of these
assets, on the same basis as other property assets commences
when the assets are ready for their intended use.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of items of
property, plant and equipment other than construction in progress
over their estimated useful lives and after taking into account their
estimated residual values, using the straight-line method. The
estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method
are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect
of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise
from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the
disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment
is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and
the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leasehold land and buildings under development for future
owner-occupied purpose

When the leasehold land and buildings are in the course of
development for production or for administrative purposes, the
leasehold land component classified as an operating lease is
classified as a prepaid lease payment and amortised on a straight-
line basis over the lease term. During the construction period, the
amortisation charge provided for the leasehold land is included
as part of costs of buildings under construction. Buildings under
construction are carried at cost, less any identified impairment
losses and are classified as property, plant and equipment.
Depreciation of buildings commences when they are available for
use (i.e. when they are in the location and condition necessary
for them to be capable of operating in the manner intended by
management).

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or
for capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including any
directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial recognition,
investment properties are stated at cost less subsequent
accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses.
Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of investment
properties over their estimated useful lives and after taking into
account their estimated residual values, using the straight-line
method.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when
the investment property is permanently withdrawn from use and
no future economic benefits are expected from its disposals. Any
gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as
the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset) is included in the profit or loss in the period
in which the item is derecognised.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2015 HE=ZT—AF+-A=+—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Construction contracts

When the outcome of a construction contract for gas connection
can be estimated reliably and the stage of contract completion at
the end of the reporting period can be measured reliably, revenue
and costs are recognised by reference to the stage of completion
of the contract activity at the end of the reporting period, measured
based on the proportion that contract costs incurred for work
performed to date relative to the estimated total contract costs.

When the outcome of a construction contract for gas connection
cannot be estimated reliably, contract costs are recognised as
an expense in the period in which they are incurred. When it is
probable that total contracts costs will exceed contract revenue,
the expected loss is recognised as an expense immediately.

Where contract costs incurred to date plus recognised profits less
recognised losses exceed progress billings, the surplus is shown
as amounts due from customers for contract work. For contracts
where progress billings exceed contract costs incurred to date
plus recognised profits less recognised losses, the surplus is
shown as amounts due to customers for contract work. Amounts
received before the related work is performed are included in
the consolidated statement of financial position, as a liability, as
advances received. Amounts billed for work performed but not yet
paid by the customer are included in the consolidated statement
of financial position under trade and other receivables.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets refer to the operating rights for city pipeline
network.

Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets acquired separately and with finite useful lives
are carried at costs less accumulated amortisation and any
accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation for intangible assets
with finite useful lives is provided on a straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Intangible assets (Continued)
Intangible assets acquired in a business combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination are
recognised separately from goodwill and are initially recognised
at their fair value at the acquisition date (which is regarded as
their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired in a
business combination with finite useful lives are reported at costs
less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment
losses, on the same basis as intangible assets that are acquired
separately.

An intangible asset is derecognised upon disposal or when no
future economic benefits are expected to arise from the continued
use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising from derecognition of
an intangible asset is measured as the difference between the
net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and
is recognised in profit or loss in the period when the asset is
derecognised.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost is calculated using the weighted average method.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the
consolidated statement of financial position when a group entity
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.
Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other
than financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the fair value of the
financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial
recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31st December, 2015 HE=ZT—AF+-A=+—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets

The Group’s financial assets are classified into one of the three
categories, including financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss (“FVTPL”), loans and receivables and available-for-sale
financial assets. The classification depends on the nature and
purpose of the financial assets and is determined at the time of
initial recognition.

Financial assets at FVTPL

A financial asset other than a financial asset held for trading may
be designated as at FVTPL upon initial recognition if:

° such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a
measurement or recognition inconsistency that would

otherwise arise; or

o the financial asset forms part of a group of financial assets
or financial liabilities or both, which is managed and its
performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance
with the Group’s documented risk management or investment
strategy, and information about the grouping is provided
internally on that basis; or

o it forms part of a contract containing one or more embedded
derivatives, and HKAS 39 permits the entire combined
contract (asset or liability) to be designated as at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are stated at fair value, with changes
in fair value arising from remeasurement directly recognised in
profit or loss in the period in which they arise. The net gain or
loss recognised in profit or loss excludes any dividend or interest
earned on the financial assets. Fair value is determined in the
manner described in note 7(c).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
(Continued)

POLICIES

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with
fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active
market. Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables
(including trade and other receivables, loans to an intermediate
holding company and a fellow subsidiary, pledged bank deposits
and bank balances and cash - cash and cash equivalents) are
carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method,
less any identified impairment losses (see accounting policy on
impairment loss on financial assets below).

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset and allocating interest income
over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts (including all fees
paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest
rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through
the expected life of the financial asset, or, where appropriate, a
shorter period to the net carrying amount of the asset on initial
recognition. Interest income is recognised on an effective interest
basis for debt instrument.

Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives that are
either designated or not classified as financial assets at FVTPL,
loans and receivables, or held-to-maturity investments.

Equity securities held by the Group that are classified as available-
for-sale and are traded in an active market are measured at fair
value at the end of each reporting period. Changes in the carrying
amount of available-for-sale financial assets are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated under the heading of
investments revaluation reserve. When the investment is disposed
of or is determined to be impaired, the cumulative gain or loss
previously accumulated in the investments revaluation reserve is
reclassified to profit or loss (see the accounting policy in respect
of impairment loss on financial assets below).
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For the year ended 31st December, 2015 HE-ZT—FAF+-A=+—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Available-for-sale financial assets (Continued)

Available-for-sale equity investments that do not have a quoted
market price in an active market and whose fair value cannot
be reliably measured are measured at cost less any identified
impairment losses at the end of each reporting period (see the
accounting policy in respect of impairment loss on financial assets
below).

Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets, other than those at FVTPL, are assessed for
indicators of impairment at the end of the reporting period.
Financial assets are considered to be impaired where there is
objective evidence that, as a result of one or more events that
occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset, the
estimated future cash flows of the financial assets have been
affected.

For an available-for-sale equity investment, a significant or
prolonged decline in the fair value of that investment below its
cost is considered to be objective evidence of impairment.

For all other financial assets, objective evidence of impairment
could include:

° significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty; or

o breach of contract, such as default or delinquency in interest
or principal payments; or

° it becomes probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy
or financial re-organisation.

For certain categories of financial asset, such as trade receivables,
assets that are assessed not to be impaired individually are, in
addition, assessed for impairment on a collective basis. Objective
evidence of impairment for a portfolio of receivables could include
the Group’s past experience of collecting payments, an increase in
the number of delayed payments in the portfolio past the average
credit period, as well as observable changes in national or local
economic conditions that correlate with default on receivables.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the
impairment loss recognised is the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future
cash flows discounted at the financial asset’s original effective
interest rate.

For investments in equity securities that are carried at cost, the
amount of the impairment loss is measured as the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the
estimated future cash flows discounted at the current market rate
of return for a similar financial asset. Such impairment loss will
not be reversed in subsequent periods. Any increase in fair value
subsequent to impairment loss is recognised directly in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in investment revaluation

reserve.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the
impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the exception
of trade receivables, where the carrying amount is reduced through
the use of an allowance account. When a trade receivable is
considered uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance
account. Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance account
are recognised in profit and loss. Subsequent recoveries of
amounts previously written off are credited to profit or loss.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a subsequent
period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the
decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the
impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment
loss is reversed through profit and loss to the extent that the
carrying amount of the investment at the date the impairment is
reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would have
been had the impairment not been recognised.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED - Annual Report 2015



TESHEE (&)

£RTH (&)
EHEERKRATA

EERMEITNEBRRAIAT
*ETF* HARHENEREER M EE
HERATANEEMEIELASHE
B -

BRATA

BATEAFHERECHKREMESR
EENEAEFNBEZNEMAELH - &
ARBITHRATAEE KATEBRE
WE BTN AGHE °

THEE

EHMAE (’TTEFEHE%HE?K&EW
N - MITREMEER BARE
AR EMEBHEE) E%mﬁ&ﬁ%é%
BN SORIRE KA E -

ERMNEEDAHES R B EOE K
ZF&??E*HE%HF?%"%' X Mo

c BERAMETIRE @B EFEFTF 1
‘JZ (W@ E ) %58 HIFE A Bl R AR R IR
eNF (BREENIEURBEERRNR
HRADNEHER  KZRARE
s BRI R ERNRBNTHER
SRR EDF AR A ALK - M B X
R BRI R A AERER

RULTERR

EREERSRENE OENER
B emEEREMEENBAX
HoREBRERERT S BB -
AEEFSRITERESMEE -

FRE BTSRRI
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are classified
as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the
substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of
a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities.
Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities, including trade and other payables, bank and
other borrowings, senior notes and other long-term liabilities, are
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method
subsequent to initial recognition.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments
(including all fees paid or received that form an integral part of
the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premium or
discounts) through the expected life of the financial liability, or,
where appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying amount on
initial recognition. Interest expense is recognised on an effective
interest basis.

Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual
rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when it transfers
the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the asset to another entity.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Derecognition (Continued)

On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference
between the asset's carrying amount and the sum of the
consideration received and receivable and the cumulative gain or
loss that had been recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity is recognised in profit or loss.

The Group derecognises financial liability when, and only when,
the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or expire.
The difference between the carrying amount of the financial
liability derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is
recognised in profit or loss.

Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the
lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

As lessor

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or loss
a straight-line basis over the relevant lease term.

As lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the relevant lease term. Benefits received
and receivable as an incentive to enter into an operating lease are
recognised as a reduction of rental expense over the lease term
on a straight-line basis.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leasing (Continued)
Leasehold land and building

When a lease includes both land and building elements, the Group
assesses the classification of each element as a finance or an
operating lease separately based on the assessment as to whether
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of
each element have been transferred to the Group, unless it is clear
that both elements are operating leases in which case the entire
lease is classified as an operating lease. Specifically, the minimum
lease payments (including any lump-sum upfront payments) are
allocated between the land and the building elements in proportion
to the relative fair values of the leasehold interests in the land
element and building element of the lease at the inception of the
lease.

To the extent the allocation of the lease payments can be made
reliably, interest in leasehold land that is accounted for as an
operating lease is presented as “prepaid lease payments” in
the consolidated statement of financial position and is amortised
over the lease term on a straight-line basis. When the lease
payments cannot be allocated reliably between the land and
building elements, the entire lease is generally classified as a
finance lease and accounted for as property, plant and equipment.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction
or production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily
take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended
use or sale, are added to the costs of those assets until such time
as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or
sale. Investment income earned on the temporary investment of
specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets
is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans/state-
managed retirement benefit schemes/the Mandatory Provident
Fund Scheme are recognised as an expense when employees have
rendered service entitling them to the contributions.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from profit before taxation as reported in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income because it excludes items of income or expense that are
taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes items
that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for
current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial
statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax
assets are generally recognised for all deductible temporary
differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will
be available against which those deductible temporary differences
can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if
the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial
recognition (other than in a business combination) of other assets
and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit
nor the accounting profit.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates
and joint ventures, except where the Group is able to control the
reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences
associated with such investments and interests are only recognised
to the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable
profits against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary
differences and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable
future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end
of the reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all
or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is
settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the
tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the
Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or
settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except
when it relates to items that are recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, in which case, the current and deferred
tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity respectively. Where current tax or deferred tax arises from
the initial accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is
included in the accounting for the business combination.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional currency
of that entity (foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of
exchanges prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At the end
of the reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date.
Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in
foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the
date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that
are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
not retranslated.

Exchange differences on monetary items are recognised in profit
or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the group entities are
translated into the presentation currency of the Group (i.e. HK$)
at the rates of exchange prevailing at the end of reporting period,
and their income and expenses are translated at the average
exchange rates for the year. Exchange differences arising, if any,
are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated
in equity under the heading of translation reserve.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets acquired
arising on an acquisition of a foreign operation on or after 1st
January, 2005 are treated as assets and liabilities of that foreign
operation and translated at the rate of exchange prevailing at the
end of the reporting period. Exchange differences arising are
recognised in the translation reserve.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED - Annual Report 2015
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Impairment losses of tangible and intangible assets other than
goodwill

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its tangible and intangible assets with finite useful
lives to determine whether there is any indication that those assets
have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine
the extent of the impairment loss, if any. When it is not possible to
estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group
estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit
to which the asset belongs. When a reasonable and consistent
basis of allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also
allocated to individual cash-generating units, or otherwise they are
allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating units for which
a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and
value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates
of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit)
is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced to
its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised as an
expense immediately.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is increased to
the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount
that would have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset (or a cash-generating unit) in prior
years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised as income

immediately.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching
to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic
basis over the periods in which the Group recognises as expenses
the related costs for which the grants are intended to compensate.
Government grants related to depreciable assets are recognised as
deferred income in the consolidated statement of financial position
and transferred to profit or loss on a systematic and rational basis
over the useful lives of the related assets. Other government grants
are recognised as revenue over the periods necessary to match
them with the costs for which they are intended to compensate,
on a systematic basis. Government grants that are receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for the
purpose of giving immediate financial support to the Group with no
future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they become receivable.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 4, the directors of the Company are required to
make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions
are based on historical experience and other factors that are
considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods
if the revision affects both current and future periods.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED - Annual Report 2015
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

The followings are the critical judgements, apart from those
involving estimations (see below), that the directors have made in
the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies and that
have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
consolidated financial statements.

Control over EFEBHMRRER LT

BSEBRIKER AR is subsidiary of the Group although the
Group has only 50% ownership interest and voting rights in &
FiEEREBMR AR, The Group has the 50% ownership since
June 2006 on EBGEBMEABR AR and the remaining 50% of
shareholdings are owned by a shareholder that is unrelated to the
Group. Details of these are set out in note 46.

The directors of the Company assessed whether or not the Group
has control over Z 52 ER R AR AT based on whether the Group
has the practical ability to direct the relevant activities of = 5% 4
KRR AR A B unilaterally. In making their judgement, the directors
considered the Group’s voting power of holding in EBZE BT A
A R]. The board of directors of BFFERHMAER A A comprise
7 directors. The Group nominated and appointed 4 directors in &
P EME AR AR and the relevant activities of ESEBMA A
[R 7~ 7] require over 50% of directors’ approval. After assessment,
the directors concluded that the Group has sufficiently dominant
voting interest to direct the relevant activities of &S E BRI EFRA
7] and therefore the Group has control over &[5 B RER A Al

Control over EHEBMRER L T

EHEHRRBIRAF is a subsidiary of the Group although the
Group has only 50% ownership interest and voting rights in &5
EHMABR AR The Group has the 50% ownership since April
2005 on &5 HM R AR A A and the remaining shareholdings are
owned by shareholders that are unrelated to the Group. Details of
these are set out in note 46.
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5.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Control over #EFEBRK AR A7 (Continued)

The directors of the Company assessed whether or not the Group
has control over #i5 % HIA R AR A7 based on whether the Group
has the practical ability to direct the relevant activities of #& 524
MRE AR A A unilaterally. In making their judgement, the directors
considered the Group’s voting power of holding in i3 Ek R A
R A&]. On 1st January, 2013, the shareholders of 3= BM R A
fR A 7] signed a memorandum in which the other shareholder would
agree the Group’s decisions on operating, investing and financing
activities of MIFERMABMRAAF], and the other shareholder
would agree the appointment of all senior management of #4853
ERE AR AR nominated by the Group. After assessment, the
directors concluded that the Group has sufficiently dominant voting
interest to direct the relevant activities of HEHZEBEMRR AR QA

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The followings are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets within the next
financial year.

Estimation of useful lives of property, plant and equipment

Management estimates the useful lives of property, plant and
equipment based on the expected lifespan of those property, plant
and equipment. The useful lives of property, plant and equipment
could change significantly as a result of technical innovation. When
the actual useful lives of property, plant and equipment due to the
change of commercial and technological environment are different
from their estimated useful lives, such difference will impact the
depreciation charges and the amounts of assets written down for
future periods.

The carrying amount of property, plant and equipment at 31st
December, 2015 is HK$22,717,164,000 (2014: HK$21,492,431,000).
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation
of the value in use of the cash-generating units to which goodwill
has been allocated. The value in use calculation requires the
Group to estimate the future cash flows expected to arise from
the cash-generating unit and a suitable discount rate in order to
calculate the present value. Where the actual future cash flows
are less than expected, a material impairment loss may arise.
As at 31st December, 2015, the carrying amount of goodwill
is HK$676,169,000 (2014: HK$707,479,000). Details of the
recoverable amount calculation are disclosed in note 23.

Impairment of operating rights

At the end of the reporting period, management assessed
the recoverability of its operating rights, in which the carrying
amount at 31st December, 2015 was HK$1,298,374,000 (2014:
HK$1,371,101,000). The business of the cash generating unit
continues to progress in a satisfactory manner. Detailed valuation
analysis has been carried out and management is confident that
the carrying amount of the asset will be recovered in full. This
situation will be closely monitored. Any change in the business
environment may lead to the change of expected future cashflows
in the future. If the future recoverable amounts fall below the
carrying amounts, additional impairment is required.

Allowance for doubtful debts

The Group makes allowance for doubtful debts based on an
assessment of the recoverability of debtors. Allowances are made
on trade debtors whenever there is any objective evidence that
the balances may not be collectible. The Group makes judgment
in assessing the collectability based on observable data including
creditworthiness and payment history of the customers (for details
please refer to note 26). When objective evidence for allowance
exists, the amount of allowance is the difference between the
carrying amounts of the debts and the present value of estimated
future cash flows, discounted at the original effective interest rate.
Where the expectation on the recoverability of the debts is different
from the original estimate, such difference will impact the carrying
amounts of debtors and doubtful debt expenses in the periods in
which such estimate has been changed.
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5.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Allowance for doubtful debts (Continued)

The carrying amount of trade debtors, net of allowance of
HK$179,257,000 (2014: HK$161,707,000), at 31st December, 2015
is HK$4,015,651,000 (2014: HK$3,955,378,000).

Allowance for inventories

The Group makes allowance for inventories based on an assessment
of the net realisable value of inventories. Allowances are applied to
inventories where events or changes in circumstances indicate that
the net realisable value is lower than the cost of inventories. The
identification of obsolete inventories requires the use of judgment
and estimates on the conditions and usefulness of the inventories.
In cases where the net realisable value of inventories assessed
are less than expected, a material recognition of allowance for
inventories may arise, which would be recognised in profit or loss
in the period in which such recognition takes place.

At 31st December, 2015, the carrying amount of inventories is
HK$570,516,000 (2014: HK$639,576,000).

Fair value measurements and valuation processes

Some of the Group’s assets and liabilities are measured at fair
value for financial reporting purposes.

In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group uses
market-observable data to the extent it is available. Where Level
1 inputs are not available, the Group establishes the appropriate
valuation techniques and inputs to perform the valuation.

The Group uses valuation techniques that include inputs that
are not based on observable market data to estimate the fair
value of certain types of financial instruments. Note 7(c) provides
detailed information about the valuation techniques, inputs and key
assumptions used in the determination of the fair value of various
assets and liabilities.
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CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to maintain a balance between
continuity of cash flows from operating activities and the flexibility
through the use of bank and other borrowings. The Group also
monitors the current and expected liquidity requirements and
its compliance with lending covenants regularly to ensure that
sufficient working capital and adequate committed lines of funding
are maintained to meet its liquidity requirements. The Group’s
overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debts, which include
bank and other borrowings, senior notes, net of bank balances and
equity attributable to owners of the Company, comprising issued
capital, retained profits and other reserves.

The management of the Group reviews the capital structure on
a regular basis. As part of this review, management considers
the cost of capital and the associated risk, and take appropriate
actions to adjust the Group’s capital structure through the payment
of dividends, new share issues as well as the issue of new debts
or the redemption of existing debts.

£MIA FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(a) €WMIEER (a) Categories of financial instruments
—B-AHF —F—pmF
2015 2014
FHET T
HK$’000 HK$'000
(& =51)
(Restated)
SREE Financial assets
WA EFABRZNESEEE Financial assets at FVTPL - 2,154,988
ERNERFE (B1ERE Loans and receivables
kIR EE) (including cash and
cash equivalents) 16,619,692 13,752,386
AR ERE Available-for-sale investments 59,805 52,292
LRERE Financial liabilities
S ARk K At amortised cost 22,237,818 22,503,843
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7. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include available-for-
sale investments, deposits for investments, trade and other
receivables, loans to an intermediate holding company and a
fellow subsidiary, pledged bank deposits, bank balances and
cash, trade and other payables, bank and other borrowings,
senior notes and other long-term liabilities. Details of these
financial instruments are disclosed in respective notes. The
risks associated with these financial instruments and the
policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out below. The
Group manages and monitors these exposures to ensure
appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and
effective manner.

Foreign currency risk

The carrying amounts of the Group’s monetary assets and
monetary liabilities denominated in foreign currencies, i.e.
currencies other than the functional currency of the respective
group entities, which are mainly loan to a fellow subsidiary,
pledged bank deposits, bank balances and cash, bank and
other borrowings and senior notes, at the end of the reporting
period are as follows:

—E-FHF —T—mF
2015 2014
FBT FT
HK$°000 HK$'000
EE Assets

%7t ([%Ex]) United States dollars (“USD”) 108,551 244,527
BT HKD 877,520 1,127,935

aE Liabilities
E7T usD 5,708,620 5,698,823
BT HKD 8,500,000 8,500,000
Az (THxT)) Japanese Yen (“JPY") 245,598 159,896

REBEBE )BT INEE R
BLARHIEINE R - REER
3 AT S AN IR A K08
FONE R o BT A 6 RS
ZEEPINE R

The Group manages its foreign currency risk by closely
monitoring the movements of foreign currency exchange
rates. The Group currently has not entered into any foreign
currency forward contracts to hedge against foreign currency
risk. Management will consider hedging foreign currency
exposure should the need arise.
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7. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Foreign currency risk (Continued)
Foreign currency sensitivity analysis

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 5%
(2014: 5%) increase and decrease in RMB, the functional
currency of the group entities, against relevant foreign
currencies. 5% (2014: 5%) is the sensitivity rate which
represents management’s assessment of the possible change
in foreign currency rates. The sensitivity analysis includes only
outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary items
and adjusts their translation at the year end for 5% (2014:
5%) change in foreign currency rates. A positive number
indicates an increase in pre-tax profit for the year when
RMB strengthens 5% (2014: 5%) against the relevant foreign
currencies. For a 5% (2014: 5%) weakening of RMB against
the relevant currency, there would be an equal but opposite
impact on the pre-tax profit for the year and the balances
below would be negative.

—E—AF —ZT—F
2015 2014
FHExT T
HK$’000 HK$’000
ES usD
F AT AR F Pre-tax profit for the year 280,003 272,715
BT HKD
FRF AT A Pre-tax profit for the year 381,124 368,603
= JPY
F AT AR F Pre-tax profit for the year 12,280 7,995

EEERA BREFLEERN
REBI TR eFHRE - Bt
BRRE DT TR EKE A BIMNE the year end exposure does not reflect the exposure during
BB o the year.

In management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis is
unrepresentative of the inherent foreign exchange risk as
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7. @R IA (&) 7. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(b) BIEEBREEBZEREEEK (&) (b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)
FIE 2 Interest rate risk
AEBRNRITEK (BETXK The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in relation
M EBL2HME30) FEE to prevailing market interest rate on bank balances (see note
W/ EANEEARRE MR 30 for details of these deposits) and floating-rate amounts
RITBARRHEHERRIRITR due from/to joint ventures, loan to a fellow subsidiary and
HtiEE (FAZSEENTS bank and other borrowings (see notes 26, 28, 31 and 33 for
i 2 B M 3326 - 28 « 31%33) details of these borrowings). The management continuously
AZEBITMISMNEGANR S monitors interest rate fluctuation and will consider further
MEFERR  BEEFEER hedging interest rate risk should the need arise.
FIREENERI AT BGE B
— I ER IR ER o
RNEE I FZ BB EIERA The Group is also exposed to fair value interest rate risk in
AR E BB - RITREAM relation to fixed-rate loan to an intermediate holding company,
BERELAZE (EHEFEHRZ bank and other borrowings and senior notes (see notes 28, 33
FIMi3E28 « 33%34) B9 FEF] and 34 for details). The management continuously monitors
Rk - BEREGRBERNEX interest rate exposure.
BB o
FUYEBRZ T Interest rate sensitivity analysis
BREDTEUARG BRI The sensitivity analysis has been determined based on the
LA K #R 17 R H At 18 B B 5 & & exposure to interest rates for interest bearing bank balances
B2 o T HRERSMEHARD and bank and other borrowings. The analysis is prepared
ZERBREHRNEF AN RE assuming those balances outstanding at the end of each
i o B A103k501@ £ 26 /935 N reporting period were outstanding for the whole year. A 10
SR RREEBEHFENE or 50 basis points increase or decrease which represents the
TR AT RE BB VEH RO AT A o management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change
in interest rates is used.
i % BRTEMRITAR - B If the interest rate on bank balances, pledged bank deposits,
HIRITER - MR RKERARE loan to a fellow subsidiary and amounts due from/to joint
HOERRER ERHEER ventures carried at variable rates had been 10 basis points
RIRBBHAE L, TIF10ME higher/lower and all other variables were held constant, the
BB BFA MBS BT pre-tax profit for the year ended 31st December, 2015 would
AlEEZ—FT—AF+t_A=+— increase/decrease by HK$9,069,000 (2014: HK$6,456,000).
B 1EF = &9 8 Al R A% 1 o~ If the interest rate on floating-rate bank and other borrowings
& 49,069,000 T (=& — 1Y had been 50 basis points higher/lower and all other variables
F : 6,456,000/ 7T) ° W% 2R were held constant, the pre-tax profit for the year ended 31st
TREMEENMNE LR T December, 2015 would decrease/increase by HK$43,487,000
JF50MEE RS B P B Hfh & S 5 (2014: HK$44,019,000). This is mainly attributable to the
T2 AEE=ZT—AF+=A Group’s exposure to interest rates benchmarked to Hong
=+ —BIEFEOBANEF AR Kong Interbank Offered Rate (“HIBOR”) on its floating-rate
4/ 1814143,487,000/8 7T (—F bank and other borrowings.
— P94 : 44,019,000 L) © &
FERHRAEEZEERITRE
B ENFRAFTBBITRER
BREE  AZFIERBRATK -
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7. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Interest rate risk (Continued)
Interest rate sensitivity analysis (Continued)

The Group’s exposure to cash flow interest rate risk is mainly
concentrated on the fluctuation of HIBOR arising from loan to
a fellow subsidiary and the Group’s borrowings denominated
in HKD and People’s Bank of China Base Rate arising from
the Group’s borrowings denominated in RMB.

Credit risk

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in the event
of the counterparties’ failure to perform their obligations in
relation to each class of recognised financial assets is the
carrying amount of those assets as stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position. In order to minimise the credit
risk, the Group has policies in place for determination of credit
limits, credit approvals and other monitoring procedures to
ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue
debts.

Before accepting any new customer, the Group carries
out searches on the creditability of the new customer and
assesses the potential customer’s credit quality and defines
credit limits by customer. Limits attributed to customers are
reviewed once a year.

In addition, the Group reviews the recoverability of each
individual trade debt on a regular basis to ensure that
adequate impairment losses are made for irrecoverable
amounts. In this regard, the Group considers that the credit
risk is significantly reduced.

At 31st December, 2015, the Group has credit risk in relation
to deposits for investments, which upon completion the Group
will hold 49% interest in a private entity (the “Investee”),
amounting to HK$731,098,000. The Investee has commenced
operation and engaged in sale of natural gas and connection
of gas pipelines. The Investee has been established but
certain documents for incorporation are still pending. The
Group has participated in the management board of the
Investee and considers that the Investee is of strong financial
strength. In this regard, the Group considers that the credit
risk is low.
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7. ERMIA (&) 7. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(b) BERBREEEERBER (&) (b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

EEREE (&) Credit risk (Continued)
HRRSGHFRABRIFEERT The credit risk on bank deposits is limited because the
R B RIS - B IRTTERE counterparties are financial institutions with high credit
EERRER - standing.
RZZE—RAF+=ZA=+—8 " At 31st December, 2015, the Group has concentration of credit
NEEBBEN A EZERAR risk in relation to the receivables from an intermediate holding
RAEWBARREE R AIFRERN company, a fellow subsidiary and joint ventures amounting
FESETRBAIAAT (:%— to nil (2014: HK$694,532,000), nil (2014: HK$707,695,000)
7O 4 : 694,532,000 7T) « T and HK$836,404,000 (2014: HK$525,078,000), respectively.
(=2 — @ % : 707,695,000/% In order to minimise the credit risk, the management has
JC) 836,404,000 T (= T reviewed the recoverable amount of each receivable from
— /4 % : 525,078,000/% JT) ° its intermediate holding company, fellow subsidiary and
AEEREEERR  EEER joint ventures at the end of each reporting period to ensure
EMERRHEHN S HEREF that adequate impairment losses are made for irrecoverable
FIERAR - AEKMBRRREA amounts. In this regard, the directors of the Company
ERRIFRIBH ATl 58 - DARE consider that the Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced.

REEN AT U B B R SR (E
J%}E MM E - ARREER
RAKENEERBRBEZRD

REE LA Liquidity risk

ERTHESRRE  AEBE In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors
RIWEFEERERA R ABAR and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed
SEEBNRERRESFMEK adequate by the management to finance the Group’s
FoOREEESHRASREN operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash
2. ERETERRITEENS flows. The management also monitors the utilisation of bank
A BRETERZ® (0H) - borrowings and ensures compliance with loan covenants, if

any.

RZE—RAF+=A=+— At 31st December, 2015, the Group has net current liabilities
H AXEBRBHEEFELHAR of approximately HK$5,072,897,000. Taking into account of
5,072,897,000/8 JT ° &L &t AR the internally generated funds of the Group and the other
SEANIEENE S R0 factors described in note 2, the Group has sufficient working
MmEMEMEAE - ANE l%ﬁ}fi capital for its present requirements for the next twelve months
NEEERAImEHE T — from 31st December, 2015.

F+=ZA=+— El»ti?iﬁwL:TI
FHIBREFERN o
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7. @I R (&) 7.

(b) HEABEEREREE (&)
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual
maturity for its financial liabilities. The table has been drawn
up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial
liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group
can be required to pay. The table includes both interest and
principal cash flows.

BB-F
BEXY {EFEBLE ARR
METHRIE 3-% Over ReREAE
Weighted On demand 1 year but BRLE Total BEE
average or less than not more Over  undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 1year  than5 years 5 years cash flows amounts
% TER TER TER TER TiEx
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
R=Z-EE+-B=1-H At31st December, 2015
EREZETREMENT  Trade and other payables
%8 - interest-free - 5,355,989 - - 5,355,989 5,355,989
—iE - interest bearing 1.26 1,792,092 - - 1,792,092 1,769,829
BOREMEE Bank and other borrowings 2.1 4,304,548 5,039,737 270,408 9,614,693 9,190,571
BEEE Senior notes 4.80 261,595 1,046,380 6,336,410 7,644,385 5,708,620
Bt REEE Other long-term liabilities 4.0 23,958 48,335 178,275 250,568 212,809
11,738,182 6,134,452 6,785,093 24,657,727 22,237,818
R=F-ME+-A=+-HB At 31st December, 2014
(&E5) (Restated)
ERNESEARAMEMNT  Trade and other payables
%8 - interest-free - 5,412,429 - - 5,412,429 5,412,429
—HE - interest bearing 186 1,943,389 - - 1943 389 1907 822
ROREMEE Bank and other borrowings 15 3,421,888 5,923,993 182,296 9,528,177 9,230,331
BLZE Senior notes 4.80 261,787 1,047,149 6,864,644 8,173,580 5,698,823
ERA8E Other long-term liabilities 4.14 23,036 96,893 172,009 291,938 254,438

11,062,529 7,068,035 7,218,949 25,349,513 22,503,843
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7. €®TI A (&) 7. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(c) AFEE (c) Fair value measurements
RNERERAR - AEENHD € Some of the Group’s financial assets are measured at fair
BB EDNRATERE - TRE value at the end of each reporting period. The following table
B TZECRHEER SR gives information about how the fair values of these financial
BEATFTENER (LERME assets and financial liabilities are determined (in particular,
REEETERBASE) the valuation technique(s) and inputs used).
TUBEEA
HERER EXTTER HERATE
IZHAEE PN ¢ MEE
AHEER Valuation Significant Relationship of
SHEE RTSIRBNATRE Fair value technique(s) and  unobservable unobservable HEE
Financial assets Fair value as at hierarchy key input(s) input(s) inputs to fair value ~Sensitivity
“5-1% “3-pE
t=A=t-B  fZR=+-H
31st December,  31st December,
2015 2014
fHERE Lokags-  hRAER- B4 ERTHAREN  TER NER TR
11,104,000 7T 2,606,007 B
Available-for-sale Listed equity Listed equity Level 1 Quoted bid prices  N/A N/A N/A
investments securities - securities - in an active market.
HKS$11,104,000 HK$2,606,000
FERBAMEMES  TER REREHRE =R ERBeRE AR BEUEENT  BHUEEDS 2 EERR - ARER
B AT RERENRERR 4.35%2510% [y TEAS- mEIBBEEE - &
TAMBATER RERBARENT E2ZEERNHE LG E
2,154,988,00072 0 EMEENARE 8 RORENER WERNATEY
8 ERBSEHF THRIARBHIA SYREX - IR
TNEERRNAE ER SHIHEEAH o
B3
Other deposits placed ~ N/A Bank depositsin ~ Level 3 Discounted cash ~ Expected yields, ~ The higher the The directors
in the banks the PRC with flow. Future determined by expected yields,  consider that
non-closely cash flows are reference to the higher the fair  the impact of
related embedded estimated based  the underlying value. the fluctuation in
derivatives - on share index and ~ share index, the expected yields
HK$2,154,988,000 expected yields money market to the fair value of
of the instruments  instruments and the other deposits was
invested by the debt instruments insignificant as
banks, discounted  invested by the the deposits have
at arate that banks, of 4.35% to short maturities,
reflects the credit ~ 5.10% and therefore no
risk of various sensitivity analysis
counterparties. is presented.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31st December, 2015 HE=ZT—AF+-A=+—HIFE

7. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(c) Fair value measurements (Continued)

There were no transfers between Level 1, 2 and 3 in the
current and prior years.

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying
amounts of other financial assets and financial liabilities
recorded at amortised cost in the consolidated financial
statements approximate to their fair values.

The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities
included in the level 3 category have been determined in
accordance with generally accepted pricing models based
on discounted cash flow analysis.

No gains or losses for the year ended 31st December,
2014 relating to other deposits placed in the banks were
recognised in profit or loss as the amount involved was
insignificant. Therefore no reconciliation of Level 3 fair value
measurements was presented.

TURNOVER AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information reported to the executive directors of the Company,
being the chief operating decision maker, for the purposes of
resource allocation and assessment of segment performance
focuses on types of goods or services delivered or provided.

The Group’s operating segments under HKFRS 8 “Operating
segments” are as follows:

Sale and distribution of gas fuel and related products — sale of
natural gas and to a much lesser extent, liquefied petroleum gas
for residential, commercial and industrial use

Gas connection — construction of gas pipelines networks under
gas connection contracts

Segments results represent the profit before taxation earned by
each segment, excluding rental income, sundry income, interest
income, finance costs, central administration costs, release of
prepaid lease payments and directors’ salaries. This is the measure
reported to the executive directors of the Company for the purpose
of resource allocation and assessment of segment performance.

EHRRERERLT - —T—HFFR 129



r

e MmN

2y =

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31st December, 2015

130

LRBERDEER (&) 8.

DR - DREE
BaBENERMT

BE-Z-AF+-A=+—HLEFE

HE_Z-—AF+T-_A=T—HILFE

(Continued)

assets and segment liabilities are as follows:

For the year ended 31st December, 2015

TURNOVER AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

The information of segment revenue, segment results, segment

T M am RFEE Segment revenue and results
HER
DHRERBR
HEER
Sale and
distribution of MEER
gas fuel and Gas &5t
related products connection Total
FHT FHx FHT
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BEE Turnover
SN External sales 24,226,958 6,868,798 31,095,756
Ed Results
R ES Segment results 3,033,303 3,100,175 6,133,478
Sk -VNGE Share of results of joint ventures 840,428
i AN ES Share of results of associates 120,082
BA RS A AR Finance costs (540,722)
AHEWA Unallocated income 733,553
AABAL Unallocated expenses (1,975,476)
BRAE AR F Profit before taxation 5,311,343
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EEBRIEER (B) 8. TURNOVER AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)
BE-Z-—RF+-HA=+—HLF For the year ended 31st December, 2015 (Continued)
E (&)
THEERERE Segment assets and liabilities
HER
DEHRERBAR
HEEm
Sale and
distribution of RRER
gas fuel and Gas =E
related products connection Consolidated
TER TExT TER
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$°000
BE ASSETS
DEEE Segment assets 30,209,974 4,566,332 34,776,306
REE AR ER Interests in joint ventures 9,993,948
PEEE AR AR Interests in associates 1,952,824
RIETBEE Deferred tax assets 190,323
APBEARIEE (Hfia) Unallocated corporate assets (Note a) 12,982,871
59,896,272
8% LIABILITIES
PEERE Segment liabilities 5,822,921 11,219,737 17,042,658
JEN T IE Taxation payable 569,771
BELEFHIERE Deferred tax liabilities 1,012,178
APEABEE (fiEb) Unallocated corporate liabilities (Note b) 18,784,659
37,409,266
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EEBERSEER (#) 8. TURNOVER AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)
BE-Z-—RF+-HA=+—HLF For the year ended 31st December, 2015 (Continued)
E (&)
Ht&# Other information
AESERFNRDBEEMTAZRK Amounts included in the measure of segment profit and segment
18 assets:
HER
DERERBR
HEEM
Sale and
distribution
of gas fuel RRER
and related Gas KO &5t
products connection Unallocated Total
TR THET THER THET
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000
NEIEREEE Additions to non-current assets 4,949,387 - 11,099 4,960,486
BB ARIFTES 2  Additions to non-current assets arising
EMBEERNE from acquisition of subsidiaries 5,609 - 5,150 10,759
ERE#E Depreciation and amortisation 1,040,819 - 3,371 1,044,190
JEWE SEFURERE  Impairment loss on trade receivables 28,163 - - 28,163
HEME  BE R Loss on disposal of property,
RIEEE plant and equipment 6,090 - - 6,090
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8. TURNOVER AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

For the year ended 31st December, 2014

Segment revenue and results (restated)

HE R
DRI R
FERE @
Sale and
distribution of WA
gas fuel and Gas =
related products connection Total
FHAT FTHAT FHET
HK$’'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
SED Turnover
GNEH External sales 22,480,639 6,236,386 28,717,025
E4 Results
DEEE Segment results 2,652,265 2,844,221 5,496,486
BREERRESE Share of results of joint ventures 755,508
[ ASUNGIE S Share of results of associates 105,213
B R AR Finance costs (536,954)
RABERA Unallocated income 785,427
RAOBRZ Unallocated expenses (1,848,291)
BR A5 Al 4 A Profit before taxation 4,757,389
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8. TURNOVER AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)
BE-Z-—NE+=-A=+—HLHF For the year ended 31st December, 2014 (Continued)
E (&)
DEEEREE (KES)) Segment assets and liabilities (restated)
HERD
SHR BB IR &
HBRE R
Sale and
distribution of MEER
gas fuel and Gas FoNe)
related products connection Consolidated
FHT FHET THT
HK$'000 HK$’'000 HK$'000
BE ASSETS
DEEE Segment assets 28,988,263 4,519,154 33,507,417
REBER AN ER Interests in joint ventures 9,559,564
B A R Interests in associates 1,990,259
RIEFBEE Deferred tax assets 127,738
APEAREE (fiFa) Unallocated corporate assets (Note a) 12,566,720
57,751,698
8fE LIABILITIES
HEEE Segment liabilities 5,345,185 10,446,347 15,791,532
JEN T TE Taxation payable 456,621
ZJJ)EEIEE% Deferred tax liabilities 897,804
rH &1& (f3rb) Unallocated corporate liabilities (Note b) 19,477,822
36,623,779
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AE+-A=+—BLLFE

TURNOVER AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)
BE-Z-—NFE+=-A=+—HLHF For the year ended 31st December, 2014 (Continued)
E (&)
HthER (L&) Other information (restated)
AENERFRSBEEMTAZRK Amounts included in the measure of segment profit and segment
18 assets:
SHE K
DRI R
HEER
Sale and
distribution
of gas fuel RS
and related Gas VAl Bt
products connection  Unallocated Total
FHET FHT FHET FHT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
RNEFTBEE Additions to non-current assets 6,096,993 - 1,598 6,098,591
BB ARIFTELS 2 Additions to non-current assets arising
SEMBEENRE from acquisition of subsidiaries 1,054,034 - 378,922 1,432,956
e R Depreciation and amortisation 949,560 = 1,305 950,865
fEWE ZEEFURERE  Impairment loss on trade receivables 125,984 = = 125,984
HEME  BER Loss on disposal of property,
RiEER plant and equipment 31,670 - - 31,670
Bt Notes:

ADBERARBEERERBRFHERD
SH R BBIEL R AR A R R R B
MBARMELENEE KREY
¥ REGEDANERS  AIHHE
RE - BMEYUGR - AR RERAE
REZHEARRENER  2ER
RITFEFARBITEBRED

AOEARBEEEMENRK - Bt
X - KEEME A RMENRE R
TREMER  BEARBUREME
HAaE (TeRRBELEENENX
) |RITREMEERELRES
AEENRETREE  MOBEAK
SEARAIE -

Unallocated corporate assets represent goodwill arising on
acquisition of subsidiaries which are engaged in sale and distribution
of gas fuel and related products and gas connection, investment
properties, deposits for investments in joint ventures, available-for-
sale investments, other receivables, loans to an intermediate holding
company and a fellow subsidiary, pledged bank deposits and bank
balances and cash.

Unallocated corporate liabilities represent other payables, accrued
expenses, consideration payable for acquisition of subsidiaries, bank
and other borrowings, senior notes and other long-term liabilities
(excluding payable for acquisition of operating rights). Bank and other
borrowings and senior notes are classified as unallocated corporate
liabilities because they are managed centrally by the treasury function
of the Group.

EHRRERERLT - —T—HFFR 135



r—

A SRR MEE
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31st December, 2015 HE=-T—AF+-A=+—HIFE

136

B &R
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TURNOVER AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

Geographical information

The Group’s turnover and non-current assets (excluding financial
instruments and deferred tax assets) are arisen in and located in
the PRC during both years.

Information about major customers

No single external customer contributed revenue from transactions
amounting to 10% or more of the revenue of the Group during
both years.

Higg A 9. OTHER INCOME
—E—8F —ZT—mF
2015 2014
FTHERT FAT
HK$’000 HK$'000
HAi A BE - Other income included:
BSfEhe Government grants 37,238 25,851
SRITIERH B U A Interest income from bank deposits 159,763 151,899
=g cE ISV PN Interest income from other deposits 34,006 116,872
REFHARZMBARATEFER Interest income from deposits placed with
FEUA a fellow subsidiary 30,098 20,396
WA BB A TR ER  Interest income from loan to an intermediate
FBUA holding company 19,689 51,603
A AR ZKB A RIREHIER  Interest income from loan to a fellow
FMEWA subsidiary 6,426 7,695
REEERRHFEWHA Interest income from joint ventures 2,784 2,945
RE—EAERAANAEWA  Interest income from a joint venturer - 5,094
REKEMENBSWA Rental income from investment properties
(FA3220,15678 7T (outgoings of HK$20,156
ZE—WUF : 24,146/57T)) (2014: HK$24,146)) 25,293 29,075
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10. Hfbl s (&18) 10. OTHER GAINS (LOSSES)
—EB-HF —EZF
2015 2014
THERT FAET
HK$’000 HK$'000
EH (BE) ks Exchange (loss) gain (151,038) 6,605
HEME - BEMREEE Loss on disposal of property, plant and
equipment (6,090) (31,670)
& BN L RIBEE Loss on disposal of prepaid lease payments (1,061) (19,716)
RIEHEH AN BOER Loss on deemed disposal of partial interest in
&8 (FsE) an associate (Note) - (29,264)
(158,189) (74,045)
M BE-_T—NF+=-_A=+—B1 Note: During the year ended 31st December, 2014, EEMRRAEBBR N AR D
FE EERREERMERAA AI(“EEMR) listed its shares on the Shanghai Stock Exchange. As a
([EBRR]) RN ELEBEFRRS result, the Group’s interest in EEWR reduced from 25% to 22.49%
Fr BT o Bt - REBREERTL and the Group had a loss of HK$29,264,000 on deemed disposal of
T 25 H25% 7 D £22.49% * ANEE partial interest in EEMAR.
REELEEERR DO ESSFE
829,264,000/ 7T °
1. BIF R 11. FINANCE COSTS
—E—8F —E=—NF
2015 2014
FHET FHET
HK$’000 HK$’000
A Interests on:
RITREMERK Bank and other borrowings 226,614 221,036
BEERE Senior notes 275,233 275,147
& &R RHIE Amounts due to joint ventures 36,327 38,036
EMREGE Other long-term liabilities 2,548 2,735
540,722 536,954
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BE-T-RFt-A=t-ALFE

12. PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION

—E-EHF —T—F
2015 2014
FExT FAET
HK$’000 HK$’000
(#&&E7)
(Restated)
BREADEFE 0k (FEA) ¢ Profit before taxation has been arrived
at after charging (crediting):
BIRA Staff costs
=M (MFE14) Directors’ emoluments (note 14) 14,845 22,254
HMET Other staff
— Fre MALR — Salaries and bonus 2,180,671 1,888,603
— Has — Other benefits 434,431 388,629
— $REE)ET 8 (AnPfEES8 — Performance related incentive
FTHRE) T iTER payments under the Incentive Award
fe Scheme (as defined in note 38) 19,255 27,213
— RINEFFTEIE R — Retirement benefits schemes
contributions 410,812 371,221
ERNp @G Total staff costs 3,060,014 2,697,920
ZERET BN & Auditor’s remuneration 11,372 8,831
M - BB RERETE Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 980,687 916,096
BRBR TR A AV FRIE Release of prepaid lease payments 72,696 50,423
REMERE Depreciation of investment properties 3,371 1,305
A A R B Amortisation of operating rights
(BEFATTBIAX) (included in administrative expenses) 60,132 33,464
U E 5 ERFUREEE Impairment loss on trade receivables 28,163 125,984
HEMENKEROES Operating lease rentals in respect of
rented premises 164,871 136,642
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13. B\ 13. TAXATION
—E-AF —Z e
2015 2014
FExT FAT
HK$’000 HK$'000
(&&&E5)
(Restated)
TIEXS BB The tax charge comprises:
BNEATRIA Current taxation
1 E TS H PRC Enterprise Income Tax 1,378,061 1,140,943
BEFE GBRERE) (Over) underprovision in prior years (13,294) 2,016
BETE
BBEFTBRIEED DI EN & Withholding tax paid for distributed profits 68,751 98,122
EEMAEAETFHTENE and intergroup restructuring of
investments in the PRC
1,433,518 1,241,081
EIEFIE (HI5E36) Deferred taxation (note 36) 74,718 167,179
1,508,236 1,408,260

F R BB TG IR & &G ER
%Rmﬂ%z%ﬁwes% T —JOF
16.5%) it & - KRR RERBHK
ERHMBARYMERTEHN A
It WERGE M IEREANFHEE S
ST B

BEFZEARLMBECERETE
([EEMRBERE] REEMEHEE
WEE - B —EENE—A—Hi
EIKI B A R K B25% © 1S T
EEERTEZERENE -

BIEM BRI EERE S GRS T
WEM (MR- ——FF15) 5
BREERAIBBESEDREN=
LT )\F— A — B 5 BREUA 5 F B Al
e BMmIENR MR ZBBRE
B AR F i 2 Ik B9 A% BRI ZB AR SR B
REMERF7TIEA R EF A E R
Bl 59115 5% 8 10%H) 1 = &1 4 1
XS (APEEERNR) -

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% (2014: 16.5%) on
the estimated assessable profits for the year. The Company and
its subsidiaries operating in Hong Kong do not have assessable
profits, accordingly, no provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has
been made in the consolidated financial statements.

Under the Law of the People’s Republic of China on Enterprise
Income Tax (the “EIT Law”) and Implementation Regulation of
the EIT Law, the tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% from 1st
January, 2008 onwards except for certain group entities which are
entitled to various concessionary tax rates.

According to a joint circular of the Ministry of Finance and State
Administration of Taxation, Cai Shui 2011 No. 1, only the profits
earned by foreign-investment enterprise prior to 1st January, 2008,
when distributed to foreign investors, can be grandfathered and
exempted from withholding tax. Whereas, dividend distributed
out of the profits generated thereafter, shall be subject to the
Enterprise Income Tax at 5% or 10% and withheld by the PRC
entities, pursuant to Articles 3 and 27 of the New Law and Article
91 of its Detailed Implementation Rules.
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13. i1\ (&)

FARBRAXATERGEEE R EM
2 YA SRR A5 B RR 5 AT A S AR

13. TAXATION (Continued)

The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to the profit before
taxation per consolidated statement of profit or loss and other

LUNNE comprehensive income as follows:
—2-h%F —TmE
2015 2014
FERT FAT
HK$’000 HK$'000
(#=E51)
(Restated)
BRAR AT ) Profit before taxation 5,311,343 4,757,389
RERATER225% (—ZZE—PY Tax at the applicable income tax rate of 25% 1,327,836 1,189,347
& 25%) st EHFIIE (2014: 25%)
BRI B A R A/ Tax effect of expenses not deductible for 280,202 191,871
Bz e tax purposes
MRS BERTLAL Tax effect of income not taxable for (58,411) (53,949)
M2 tax purposes
JEEEE N BEENTEE  Tax effect of share of results of associates (30,021) (26,303)
BIEAERNBEENTETE  Tax effect of share of results of joint ventures (210,107) (188,877)
RERRBEEORETE Tax effect of tax losses not recognised 42,427 38,651
AT RERNTIERE  Utilisation of tax losses previously not (19,980) (13,936)
recognised
AR BB A A Effect of tax exemptions and reliefs granted (31,897) (30,988)
FRERI TR 2 B 72 2 to subsidiaries operating in the PRC
REBRETENMEH Income tax at concessionary rates (7,928) (6,778)
BT B E R 5Dk E I H Withholding tax for undistributed profits 157,775 206,319
TEHH of investments in the PRC
BETRRISED D IRHEF& Withholding tax paid for distributed profits 68,751 98,122
EFERNEAL BN and intergroup restructuring of
investments in the PRC
BAEE (BEERME) BETZ  (Over) underprovision in prior years (13,294) 2,016
) Others 2,883 2,765
FERFHEL H Tax charge for the year 1,508,236 1,408,260
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HE_ZT-—AF+T-A=1T—RHILFE

EXECUTIVE’S

EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID

EMPLOYEES

Directors

The emoluments paid or payable to the directors are as follows:

Z2-5F 2015 “TIF 2014
f 3.2 Name of directors BHAE BHET SR R
R ke EHR ) ke SRl
Rf6EA  Performance  Retirement EtiEF  Performance  Retirement
Salaries related benefit Salaries related benefit
#&  andother  incentive schemes &it He and other incentive schemes A
Fees benefits payments ~ contributions Total Fees henefits payments  contributions Total
TR TEn TER TR TEn T TR Thn Thx ThL
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
€3 Executive directors
TER () Wang Chuandong (note) - 599 182 138 919 70 2,361 - 155 2,586
RER Shi Shanbo 70 1,923 3,126 168 5,287 70 1,963 6,144 155 8,332
TR Ong Thiam Kin, Ken 70 1,648 1,596 181 3,495 70 1,658 2,223 181 4132
Bl Ge Bin 70 1,412 2,703 9 4,284 60 1,400 4958 89 6,507
FifEs Non-executive directors
HXR Du Wenmin - - = = = - - - _ _
R Wei Bin - - - - - - - - - -
RE Chen Ying 70 - - - 70 70 - - - 70
iz Wang Yan 70 - - - 70 27 - - - 2
3 Huang Daoguo - - - - - - - - - -
BUEH7EE  Independent non-
executive directors
G Wong Tak Sing 180 - - - 180 150 - - - 150
T Yu Jian 180 - - - 180 150 - - - 150
AER Yu Hon To, David 180 - - - 180 150 - - - 150
g Qin Chaokui 180 - - - 180 160 - - - 160
1,070 5,582 7607 586 14,845 967 7,382 13,325 580 22,254

i3 EEREER-ZT-AFHMeRE
B (RE) BRARARE -

Note: The emoluments of Mr. Wang Chuandong for 2015 are borne by China

Resources (Holdings) Company Limited.
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14. EERITHAZMERE S 14. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
EEHES (&) EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
EMPLOYEES (Continued)
55 (#) Directors (Continued)
A EFEBITESHMNES HEEHE The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were mainly for
BREHRRAARANEEER ZHIRME their services in connection with the management of the affairs of
BIPRTS o A EFTEIERITE S KB the Company and the Group. The emoluments of the non-executive
IMTEENME N EBHYHEE directors and independent non-executive directors shown above
BANAREENRY - were mainly for their services as directors of the Company.
BEBEEERARNTNBE - LXK Mr. Shi Shanbo is the chief executive officer of the Company
BAEENMEeBRERERITTIRER and his emoluments disclosed above include those for services
REIREAEMS - rendered by him as the chief executive.
WNITEMNRE HIRBEAEENLEE Performance related incentive payments were determined with
¥E AARBRAHSEENTSR reference to the Group’s operating results, individual performances
STEURETE - AP B ERIBN 38T and comparable market statistics. Included therein were amounts
TE & W BEE)ET I T E 55,828,000 granted to directors of HK$5,828,000 (2014: HK$11,673,000) under
7t (ZZE—4 : 11,673,000/87T) ° the Incentive Award Scheme as defined in note 38.
THRBH S EEB RN ZM EF Neither the chief executive nor any of the directors waived any
ERETAE - emoluments in both years.
== Employees
rEBLEGZEHFALTEERE (Z The five highest paid individuals of the Group included two (2014:
T—NFE:WE) RITEF ' HEH two) executive directors, details of whose emoluments are set
MEFBHEREX - AEEE#B=F out above. The emoluments of the remaining three (2014: three)
ZTEWF: =) aaEEHNMH highest paid employees of the Group are as follows:
ST -
—B-EHF —F-mEF
2015 2014
FHET FAT
HK$°000 HK$'000
e REMEF Salaries and other benefits 3,943 3,924
WINITE K RS Performance related incentive payments 7,211 10,376
BB AT MK Retirement benefit schemes contributions 245 243
11,399 14,543
142 CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED - Annual Report 2015
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31st December, 2015 BE_Z—AF+-_A=+—HILFE

14. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
EMPLOYEES (Continued)

&8 (#) Employees (Continued)
LiiEERNME N A TEHE : The emoluments of the above employees are within the following
bands:
—B-HF —ZE-mE
2015 2014
EEAH EEAH
Number of Number of
employees employees
3,500,001/ 7C£4,000,000/5 7t HK$3,500,001 to HK$4,000,000 3 =
4,500,001/ 7L 25,000,000t HK$4,500,001 to HK$5,000,000 - 8
15. K& 15. DIVIDENDS
“Z-RF —Z-E
2015 2014
THET FET
HK$°000 HK$'000
FERNERED RS, Dividends recognised as distribution
during the year:
T -REHRERE — 2015 interim dividend — 10 HK cents per share
1075 (2014: 2014 interim dividend — 217,464 108,637
(—B—F : —T—FE 5 HK cents per share)
HHIRR . — ERRS B
T ERERSE — 2014 final dividend - 20 HK cents per share
FRZ20781L (2014: 2013 final dividend — 434,928 434,547
(=E—F: —FT—=F 20 HK cents per share)
REARR B — & AR207811)
652,392 543,184

EERBRNEBE-_T—RF+_A
=+ —HILEFEMNKREPRE TR23
B (ZZF— P F - 20%1l) - A%E
435,190,000/ T (= & — U 4 :
434,928,000/ 7T) °

The directors recommend the payment of a final dividend of
23 HK cents (2014: 20 HK cents) per share for the year ended
31st December, 2015 amounting to HK$435,190,000 (2014:
HK$434,928,000).
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e year ended 31st December, 2015 HE_T—AF+_A=+—HIFE

BRER 16. EARNINGS PER SHARE
BRERBRTIIZATEERE : The calculation of the basic earnings per share is based on the
following data:
—E-fHEF —Z g
2015 2014
FExT FHIT
HK$’000 HK$'000
(g =351)
(Restated)
BF Earnings:
AUGTESREARRBFHZEF  Earnings for the purposes of basic earnings
(RATHEE AEEERRT)  per share (profit for the year attributable
to owners of the Company) 2,837,910 2,479,898
—E-hf —ElF
2015 2014
ROEHAE : Number of shares:
R EERERBFIH Weighted average number of shares in issue
IEFEH B BITRNEE less shares held for incentive award scheme
AR T B A AR D for the purpose of basic earnings per share 2,175,077,350 2,172,768,251
B 0 P B 4E 3 4 B B 4T 1Y VB A T No diluted earnings per share is presented as there are no potential
Bg - B 25 S RRESE R A o ordinary shares during both years.
CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED - Annual Report 2015
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For the year ended 31st December, 2015 HE=ZT—AF+-A=+—HIFE

17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

BE
BERRE
Plant,
BENE machinery HREE GRREE HE#E HE HRIR
Leasehold and Gas Furniture Leasehold Motor  Construction &t
properties equipment pipelines  and fixtures  improvements vehicles in progress Total
T T T Tin T T T T
HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK§'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
358 THE GROUP
H& cosT
RZE-ME-A-H At 1st January, 2014 2411294 1,882,581 12,059,645 225,706 71759 611,875 2,769,480 20,032,340
B B% Exchange adjustments (6.251) (6:304) (26519) (590) 97 (2,009) (10552) (52,128
AE Additions 257,331 157,852 646,702 115,851 72,518 130,828 2,241,471 3,622,553
YEHEAR Acquisiion of subsidiaries 29,104 76,744 275,009 1,166 - 7,589 34,440 404052
tE Disposals (21,448) (39.875) (28,995) (15472) (1425) (59,675) (15,818) (182,708)
&2 Transfer 220,982 295,981 1,621,431 31,09 1,516 3342 (2,174351) -
R-B-ME+-F=f+-8  At31stDecember, 2014
(&=7) (Restated) 2,891,012 2,366,979 14,547,213 357,760 144,465 691,950 2,844,670 23,844,109
EiRE Exchange adjustments (192,641) (174,134) (858,645) (32910) (10,520) (47,391) (253,038) (1,669,279)
AE Additions 247,820 208,155 650,960 123,712 64,714 103,761 2,221,480 3,640,602
WEHBAR Acqisition of a subsidiary - - - 802 901 1678 2228 5609
tE Disposals (19,969) (46,454) (37.891) (13767) (1,952) (57,810) (27,662) (205,509)
&2 Transfer 239,390 276,373 1,428,908 18,877 4,354 3498 (1,971,400) -
RZE-2%+ZA=1+-B At 31st December, 2015 3,165,612 2,600,919 15,730,605 454,474 201,962 695,686 2,816,278 26,715,036
HERAE DEPRECIATION AND
IMPAIRMENT
RZE-ME-A-8 At 1st January, 2014 101,147 219,975 930,173 72,892 4611 148,784 26,831 1504479
B 5% Exchange adjustments (591) (1742) (3.437) (341) 144 (642) = (6:609)
REEEE Provided for the year 86,998 140,405 489,475 76,062 36,077 87,079 - 916,096
HERHER Eliminated on disposals (8,982) (14271) (6,682) (11973) vl (18,378) - (62,288)
R-E-RE+-A=+-H  At31stDecember, 2014
(Im&7) (Restated) 178,672 344 367 1,407,529 136,640 40,896 216,843 26,831 2,351,678
Eji% Exchange adjustments (24329) (54863) (138692) (16,820) (4810) (2202) - (261,530)
TEERE Provided for the year 101,987 150,386 519,871 71,954 52,399 78,090 - 980,687
HERHE Eliminated on disposals (8609) (16,391) (9672) (7,215) (42) (30,634) - (72,463)
R=F-R5+-A=1-A At 31st December, 2015 247,628 423,499 1,779,036 190,559 88,443 242,376 26,831 2,998,372
KEE CARRYING VALUES
R-E-R%F+-A=1-A At 31st December, 2015 2917,984 2,221,420 13,951,569 263915 113519 453310 2,789,447 22,717,164
R-E2-mE+-A=1-H At 31st December, 2014
(&m=5)) (Restated) 2,712,440 2,022,612 13,139,744 221,120 103,569 475,107 2,817,839 21,492,431
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t

17. W% - BERRE (&)

Lty BEEKRBEERE (BT
TRERSN) G E R FE AR
HET RIS EEBIATRE T IAIE -

HEmE 25F40F kiR AT
(MBEEA%E)

BE - #eEs  5E205F

K&t

MREB 202305

EYE 3E125

MEMERE SE5FRIEFHEES
(MBEEAE)

"E 3LE10F

AEBWEENEBRBURHE L
BT -

R-ZE—hA&E+-_A=+—8" &
T 42 {8 /30,798,000 7T (= Z —
F : 40,608,000/ 7T) MM ¥ - BE
RBRED KT USRI AEER
MERITIEE ©

18. R HELIFIE

.
BE_ZE

17. PROPERTY,

AE+-A=+—BLLFE

PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(Continued)

The above items of property, plant and equipment, other than
construction in progress, are depreciated over their estimated
useful lives and after taking into account their estimated residual
values, using the straight-line method, as follows:

Leasehold properties 25 to 40 years or over the relevant
lease terms, if shorter

Plant, machinery and 5 to 20 years
equipment

Gas pipelines

Furniture and fixtures

20 to 30 years

3to 12 years

Leasehold improvements 3 to 5 years or over the relevant
lease terms, if shorter

Motor vehicles 3 /s to 10 years

The Group’s leasehold properties comprise buildings situated on

land in the PRC.

At 31st December, 2015, property, plant and equipment with an
aggregate carrying value of HK$30,798,000 (2014: HK$40,608,000)
are pledged to secure the bank borrowings granted to the Group.

18. PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS

—E-RF —T—F
2015 2014
FE T FHT
HK$’000 HK$’'000
(& E5)
(Restated)
AEBMBMNELHRESIE The Group’s prepaid lease payments
R B E i comprise of leasehold land situated
in the PRC:
FERBEE Non-current assets 1,455,967 1,312,537
MENAE Current assets 74,683 60,119
1,530,650 1,372,656
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FRE BTSRRI
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

19. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

HE_Z—AF+-_A=+—HItFE

T

HK$’'000
2% COST
R=T—HWFE—H—H At 1st January, 2014 24,662
D 5 S Exchange adjustments (88)
NE Additions 1,598
i Ny NS Acquisition of a subsidiary 36,665
HE Disposals (2,853)
NR-E—ME+=-_A=1+—H At 31st December, 2014 59,984
FEE 5, 28 Exchange adjustments (8,502)
R-E—RFE+-_A=+—H At 31st December, 2015 56,482
e DEPRECIATION
RZE—mHE—H—H At 1st January, 2014 13,522
FEE 5, 28 Exchange adjustments (42)
INFE R Provided for the year 1,305
HeE Disposals (558)
RZE—NFE+—_A=+—H At 31st December, 2014 14,227
[ 5 3828 Exchange adjustments (971)
RNEFERAE Provided for the year 3,371
R-EBE—RF+-_A=+—H At 31st December, 2015 16,627
REE CARRYING VALUES
R-_BE—RF+-_A=+—H At 31st December, 2015 39,855
RZE-—NF+=_A=+—H At 31st December, 2014 45,757

AEBMBEAEERNTZTH AR
S WA REERNIZER RO
REEURAEAGFE  UHERK
EWMENR - TEDRFSRTHEFH
NEAREM R E MR AR -

RZE—RAFERZZT—NOF+=A=
+—8  AEENFEREMESN

All of the Group’s property interests held under operating leases

to earn rentals or for capital appreciation purposes are measured

using cost model and are classified and accounted for as

investment properties. Depreciation is provided to write off the

cost of investment properties using straight-line method over the

remaining terms of the leases.

At 31st December, 2015 and 2014, all of the Group’s investment
properties are situated in the PRC.

EERRERERAT . — T LFER

147



-
A SRR MEE
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31st December, 2015 HE=-T—AF+-A=+—HIFE

20. REE D TIER 20. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES
—E-R%F —TmF
2015 2014
FHET FHT
HK$’000 HK$'000
REZNRIFELETIRERAKA  Cost of unlisted investments in joint ventures 3,612,197 3,524,157
(EES Goodwill 890,700 945,927
FEAG U B 1805 F1| & Share of post-acquisition profits and
HEzmEmlA - other comprehensive income,
R B U AE B net of dividend received 5,491,051 5,089,480
9,993,948 9,559,564
NMBEHR AEBHTESLE AT Details of the Group principal joint ventures at the end of the
FEIEH A M FE47 - reporting period are set out in note 47.
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20. AEEATIRER (&)
EEMSYEBEANASEATNE

21.
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HE_Z-—AF+T-_A=T—HILFE

20. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued)

Aggregate information of joint ventures that are not individually

sTER material
BETHHHBILEE
Year ended
—E-RF —ZT—mF
+=—A=+—-H +=—A=+—H
31.12.2015 31.12.2014
FHExT FHT
HK$’000 HK$'000
RNE B E R T The Group’s share of profit and
PEAN PN total comprehensive income 224,016 168,078
REEE N TR 21. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES
—B-AHF —FmE
2015 2014
FHET FHETT
HK$’000 HK$'000
R R R E IR AN Cost of investments in associates
— NEBLAIN £ — Listed outside Hong Kong 1,396,906 1,498,955
— 3Lk — Unlisted 229,223 215,425
FEEsS Goodwill 3,482 3,482
FEEWE 1R E T R A b 2 Share of post-acquisition profits and
A - HIBR B U AR B other comprehensive income,
net of dividend received 323,213 272,397
1,952,824 1,990,259
FHRENAFE (M) Fair value of listed investments (Note) 6,345,934 4,401,246

i EmR 6 AT EHE (F—RA
FEHE) TR EER DS TE

RBERR  AEENEEBZ QT

B FE48

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED -

reporting period are set out in note 48.

Annual Report 2015

Note: The fair value measurements of the listed shares (Level 1 fair value
measurements) are derived from quoted prices in an active market.

Details of the Group’s principal associates at the end of the
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21. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

Group’s material associate, is set out below.

Summarised financial information of a material associate

Summarised financial information in respect of EEME, the

This associate is accounted for using the equity method in these

B Rz AL © consolidated financial statements.
—E—AF —Z—F
2015 2014
THET FHT
HK$’000 HK$’000
RENE E Current assets 3,753,419 3,550,559
FERBEE Non-current assets 5,506,899 5,602,078
mENaE Current liabilities (2,440,171) (2,159,313)
FERBAE Non-current liabilities (2,441,568) (2,475,434)
FEE AR A Non-controlling interests 331,712 342,489
BETIHHLFEE
Year ended
—E—AF —Z—F
+=A=+—-H +=ZA=+—H
31.12.2015 31.12.2014
THET T
HK$’000 HK$'000
A Revenue 7,396,857 7,224,605
FREA R E R ALLEE Profit and total comprehensive income
for the year 490,565 462,562
FREWEE RARIRE Dividends received from the associate
for the year 51,883 79,168
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21. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

Summarised financial information of a material associate
(Continued)

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the
carrying amount of the interest in the associate recognised in the

LN consolidated financial statements:
—ZE-EHF —Z-F
2015 2014
FET FHBT
HK$’000 HK$'000
7 RS DN NG Net assets of the associate
BEFE attributable to owners 4,046,867 4,175,401
AEEREERRD Proportion of the Group’s ownership
WA e interest in EEMEA 22.49% 22.49%
GRS Goodwill 3,482 3,482
R A T EFARNE Effect of fair value adjustments at acquisition 661,137 711,108
H {575 Other adjustments - (19,286)
AEEREERR T ESH Carrying amount of the Group’s
BREE interest in EEMA, 1,574,759 1,634,352

TEMENT DT ENRFEAEEN
UrEE) - HAKEIHERARIR
fehmR R ERMRER G HETH
MRERBEBRMER - HXTBEX
AR A E o

EEMEAFEERNBHEQARNA

The material associate is principally engaged in similar activities
as the Group and is strategic to the Group’s activities as sale of
natural gas and liquefied petroleum gas, and construction of gas
pipelines networks under gas connection contracts. Its principal
place of business is the PRC.

Aggregate information of associates that are not individually

ER material
—B-AHF —T—mF
2015 2014
FET FHET
HK$’000 HK$’'000
REB EG R The Group’s share of profit and
REHEBRALE total comprehensive income 29,537 30,484
AEERZER S QA Aggregate carrying amount of the Group’s
PSR R AL E interests in these associates 378,065 355,907

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED - Annual Report 2015
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22. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS

—E-R%F —TmF

2015 2014

THExT FHT

HK$’000 HK$'000

KA EHk) I AFE Listed shares in the PRC, at fair value 11,104 2,606
R B IE ETRRAIRE - Unlisted equity investments in the PRC,

I N at cost 48,701 49,686

59,805 52,292

EAROEORFERFE (B-—RAF
BFF8) iR B ERMm SN mERE

FELTRAREENBERBEKIZE
REER (X2RFRIERBEERMR
REBEBRER) METHIELTR
RESFHIRE  THIRRRE AR
AREREBERAE  BREAFE
A EERK  MEBERA/ER
FETRER TR -

The fair value measurements of the listed shares (Level 1 fair value
measurements) are derived from quoted prices in an active market.

The unlisted equity investments represent investments in unlisted
equity securities issued by private entities established in the
PRC, which are principally engaged in sales of liquefied gas
and connection of gas pipelines. They are measured at cost less
impairment losses at the end of the reporting period because
the range of reasonable fair value estimates is so significant that
the management is of the opinion that their fair values cannot be
measured reliably.

e 23. GOODWILL
FHT
HK$’'000
BREE CARRYING VALUE
R=ZZF—NF—H—H At 1st January, 2014 409,952
Ve R Exchange adjustments (2,5675)
IR BEHI B A A Acquisition of subsidiaries 300,102
R-ZZE—MNE+_A=+—H At 31st December, 2014 707,479
Ve 7 R Exchange adjustments (36,460)
i) Acquisition of a subsidiary 5,150
R-ZE—hF+-_HA=1+—H At 31st December, 2015 676,169
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23. GOODWILL (Continued)

Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated to
cash generating units (*CGUs”) that are expected to benefit from
that business combination. The management considers each
subsidiary represents a separate CGU for the purpose of goodwill
impairment testing. As the subsidiaries are engaged in both
“sale and distribution of gas fuel and related products” and “gas
connection” segments, the goodwill is not further allocated to each
segment. At the end of the reporting period, the carrying amount
of goodwill mainly represents goodwill arising from the acquisition
of subsidiaries as follows:

—E-HF —E—F

2015 2014

FaxT FHBT

HK$’000 HK$’000

(#eE%)

(Restated)

ZNEBRRERAF ZMNEBRRER AR 228,214 242 577
REZEBHRRBR AT RIZEHRRBR AT 126,689 132,622
EEELEBRRERAA EEEILERRRERAF 122,571 128,106
REZEBRRERAF REZEBHRTBRAA 54,166 57,525
EMNEBRTRHDFRA A MR RS B R A A 29,144 30,952
ZI5EBERABR AR ZI5EERRBR A A 32,487 34,182
ARZEBRRERAF ARZEBRREGRA A 22,281 23,662
HA Others 60,617 57,853
676,169 707,479

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED - Annual Report 2015
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23. GOODWILL (Continued)

The recoverable amounts of the CGUs are determined based on
value in use calculations. The key assumptions for the value in
use calculations are those regarding the discount rates, growth
rates and expected changes to selling prices and direct costs.
Management estimates discount rates using pre-tax rates that
reflect current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the CGUs. The growth rates are based
on industry growth forecasts. Changes in selling prices and direct
costs are based on past practices and expectations of future
changes in the market.

The Group prepares cash flows forecasts derived from the most
recent financial budgets approved by senior management for the
next 4 years, which is the general development period for sales
of liquefied gas and gas connection business and extrapolates
cash flows for the period beyond the budget period based on
the estimated growth rate of 5% for the first 8 years and 0% for
the remaining 7 years (2014: 5% for the first 8 years and 0% for
the remaining 7 years). The rate used to discount the forecast
cash flows for the CGUs is 10% (2014: 10%). In the opinion of the
directors, no material impairment loss of goodwill on gas operation
is identified at the end of the reporting period. Management
believes that any reasonably possible change in any of these
assumptions would not cause the aggregate carrying amount of
the CGU to exceed the aggregate carrying amount of the CGU.
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24, RERE 24. OPERATING RIGHTS
FHBT

HK$’'000
2% COST
RZZT—WmHFE—HA—H At 1st January, 2014 827,032
P 5 S Exchange adjustments (1,721)
NE Additions 67,162
i Ny =S| Acquisition of subsidiaries 580,781
R-ZE—NE+—-_A=+—H At 31st December, 2014 1,473,254
[ 5, 2 Exchange adjustments (88,788)
ViN=E Additions 67,733
R-E—RFE+-_A=+—H At 31st December, 2015 1,452,199
e AMORTISATION
RZE—mHE—H—H At 1st January, 2014 68,788
[EE 5, % Exchange adjustments (99)
INEE A Provided for the year 33,464
RZZE—mNE+=—A=+—H At 31st December, 2014 102,153
P& 5, 3 28 Exchange adjustments (8,460)
NEERE Provided for the year 60,132
R-ZZE—RF+-_A=+—H At 31st December, 2015 153,825
BRTEE CARRYING VALUES
R-ZE—RF+_A=+—H At 31st December, 2015 1,298,374
RZZE—NFEF+=-—A=+—H At 31st December, 2014 1,371,101
W EBRENEERTINEREER The operating rights for city pipeline network are amortised over
fHET A AFHI10E 505 A# Y - the estimated useful life ranging from 10 to 50 years on a straight-

line basis.
25. & 25. INVENTORIES
—B-HF —Z-mEF
2015 2014
FET FHBT
HK$’000 HK$’000
FEEM B Construction materials 394,229 405,590
25K Finished goods 176,287 233,986
570,516 639,576
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26. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

—EB-HF —ZF

2015 2014

FTHET FHET

HK$°000 HK$'000

(f&&E%)

(Restated)

[ E 5 IR Trade receivables 4,194,908 4,117,085

T REREHE Less: Allowance for doubtful debts (179,257) (161,707)

4,015,651 3,955,378

B A &R rRFRIE (Hizka) Amounts due from joint ventures (Note a) 836,404 525,078
FEUIEE PR IR B 7508 (FisEb)  Amounts due from non-controlling

shareholders (Note b) 22,735 40,792

R (FisEe) Deposits (Note c) 947,564 921,857

TR (KisEd) Prepayments (Note d) 1,334,404 1,338,698

H fh FE R Other receivables 212,230 210,406

7,368,988 6,992,209

B eE - Notes:

a. [ FEUL & & A B FkIE37,577,0005% 7T a. Except for the amounts due from joint ventures of HK$37,577,000
(== — g4 : 38,042,0005 7T) & (2014: HK$38,042,000) which are unsecured, bear variable interest
IR BN TB.92EE441E (= ranging from 3.92% to 4.41% (2014: 5.4% to 5.9%) per annum and
T —O4F : 54EFE59F) &M F repayable within one year, the remaining balances are unsecured,
BEFKE B RAER —EREEN - interest-free and repayable on demand.

TR AEER - R RARER
FREE -

b. FEUWSEIZ AR AR R T8 B4R - G 8 b. Amounts due from non-controlling shareholders are unsecured, interest
RAREREEEE - free and repayable on demand.

c. RETEBRIMFRAEERNIIR c. Deposits mainly include deposits paid to gas suppliers, utility and
& KEBRBERS - rental deposits.

d. ENZRTIFEREAMRERANES d. Prepayments mainly include prepayments for purchase of construction

REM BTN

materials for gas connection contracts.
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26. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

The Group generally allows credit periods ranging from 30 to 90
days to its customers. The aged analysis of trade receivables, net
of allowance for doubtful debts, is presented based on the invoice
date at the end of the reporting period, which approximated the
respective revenue recognition date as follows:

—Z=—8fF —T—NF

2015 2014

FET FAT

HK$’000 HK$’'000

0— 90K 0 - 90 days 3,376,657 3,356,160
91 — 180K 91 — 180 days 377,684 325,603
181 — 365K 181 — 365 days 221,288 194,180
365K Over 365 days 40,022 79,435
4,015,651 3,955,378

R_ZE—AF+-—A=+—BHEK
BH5ERBERRE BHaIARTN
JE L 85 7638,994,000/ 7T (—Z—
F : 599,218,000/ 70) - HAREB A
MEARREEXNEE A&
HZEREELRE EZETZS
EWEROEEEZRT - BEREH
IR E BB REE 8 o AN E A
RREFEBERFEEAEAR -

ESEHENRBENEKE S RRIRR

Included in trade receivables as at 31st December, 2015 are
receivables of HK$638,994,000 (2014: HK$599,218,000) which are
past due at the reporting date but are regarded as not impaired
as there has not been a significant change in the credit standing
of the debtors. The directors determined that such receivables
neither past due nor impaired are of good credit quality with no
history of default. The Group does not hold any collateral over
these receivables.

Aging of trade receivables which are past due but not impaired

—B-AHF T

2015 2014

TER FET

HK$°000 HK$'000

91— 180K 91 - 180 days 377,684 325,603
181 — 865K 181 - 365 days 221,288 194,180
365K A L Over 365 days 40,022 79,435
638,994 599,218

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED - Annual Report 2015
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26. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

Aging of trade receivables which are past due but not impaired
(Continued)

In determining the recoverability of a receivable, the Group
considers whether there has been adverse change in the credit
standing of the debtor from the date credit was initially granted.
The concentration of credit risk is limited as the Group’s customer
base comprises of a large number of customers. Accordingly, the
directors of the Company believe that there is no further credit
provision required in excess of the allowance for doubtful debts
already provided for in the consolidated financial statements.

Included in the allowance for doubtful debts are individually
impaired receivables due from certain debtors with an aggregate
amount of HK$179,257,000 (2014: HK$161,707,000) which have
either been placed under liquidation or are in financial difficulties.
The Group does not hold any collateral over these receivables.

RERESE Movement in the allowance for doubtful debts
—E-EHF —ZT—F
2015 2014
FE T FHT
HK$’000 HK$'000
Rn—A—H At 1st January 161,707 35,324
D 5 3 Exchange adjustments (10,613) 399
B HERREEE Impairment loss recognised 28,163 125,984
R+=—A=+—8” At 31st December 179,257 161,707
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AE+-A=+—BLLFE

AMOUNTS DUE FROM/TO CUSTOMERS FOR
CONTRACT WORKS

—B-AHF —T—mF
2015 2014
FET T
HK$’000 HK$'000
EAERA QAN RN Contract costs incurred plus profits recognised 2,464,691 2,839,735
B TIREE K Less: Progress billings (9,098,253) (8,401,711)
(6,633,562) (5,561,976)
ERMEITON Analysis for reporting purposes as:
BREFEANIRENRE Amounts due from customers
for contract works 1,534,776 1,590,712
EREFE4IENRE Amounts due to customers
for contract works (8,168,338) (7,152,688)
(6,633,562) (5,561,976)

| EER A E R E RS
ARRENER
RZZE—MF+=—A=+—8 [+
MERARRENERAERR &
E & F F £5.06[F 1 & o ZEHARN
HE-_ZT—AF+-_A=+—ALLF
EEE -

R-E—WE+=—A=+—0H " @R
RITEB AR RENER B ITIE -
BERR - REBRITAZEREERS
MEB1.95ERZEFIRAE - ZE
RERBE-_ZT—RF+=-A=1+—
BIEFEER -

SRHFRTER

M-ZT—RAE+-_A=+—08 #17
GHRERBIERBENRARMERD
BB SEANER - BEIFRITT
IR T % F A R0.35/F £2.75F (=
T—[U4F : 0.35EE2.9E) 5t 8 °

BEARITERIAARETE - A
REDAAEERMZARABRZE
B ARBEXZTEBMARE kA
PRBNMNEHZEFE S XD P EBA
Ha BNAD S B Il 1 49 o

28.

29.

LOANS TO AN INTERMEDIATE HOLDING
COMPANY AND A FELLOW SUBSIDIARY

At 31st December, 2014, loan to an intermediate holding company
was unsecured, carried fixed interest at 5.06% per annum. The loan
was repaid during the year ended 31st December, 2015.

At 31st December, 2014,
denominated in HKD, unsecured, carried variable interest at HIBOR

loan to a fellow subsidiary was

plus 1.95% per annum. The loan was repaid during the year ended
31st December, 2015.

PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS

At 31st December, 2015, bank deposits are pledged as security
for trade payables to suppliers of natural gas. The pledged bank
deposits carry interest at market rates ranging from 0.35% to 2.75%
(2014: 0.35% to 2.9%) per annum.

Pledged bank deposits are denominated in RMB which is not
a freely convertible currency in the international market. The
exchange rate of RMB is regulated by the government and the
remittance of these funds out of the PRC is subject to exchange
restrictions imposed by the PRC government.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED - Annual Report 2015
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TREBERRE

HeRBREEE

PITEBIETIBENEEEIE
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Hii e &

RZE—NF+=—HA=+—H"
HEMFReERRBTERNR
REFER - BEFF £4.35E =
512 SFHBERMHIES ¥
FRIFTRENEETSITAR
BEFTEMNKBME - WAERE
B BIHEAR B E 2 B
BE N T8EI3K (=T — A
Fm) o HihFHRRERHER
R IEE AR A TFERF AR -
REBSEZREHRARITE
TR -BFRAE  HMEFEZHQ
FE(KL2ERBRBRESREET
LARFE (i sE7(c)ArigEE)) &
HARSFEESE - AMERR-Z
—hAF—AZE=AER - EZE
BEA - AFEEHIFEK -

RZF—RAF+=A=+—H"
RTT#E B8 ) 3R $9,764,191,000/8
T (ZF — 4 £ 9,042,741,000
BIL) TAAREGE - AR
DR EERTSERERZE
®o ARBEXZHEBFRE
KA BEIRINE L2 FE SR E
o B R 8 A0 B S PR A6 761 46 o
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30. BANK BALANCES AND CASH

(a) Cash and cash equivalents

The bank balances carry interest at market rates ranging
from 0% to 3% (2014: 0% to 4%) per annum.

(b) Other deposits

At 31st December, 2014, other deposits consisted of
principal protected deposits issued by banks in the PRC
with expected interest rate from 4.35% to 5.1% per annum,
depending on the performance of the underlying share
index, money market instruments and debt instruments
invested by the counterparty banks, payable on maturity
where the maturity ranging from 85 to 93 days from the date
of purchase (2015: nil). Other deposits were designated
at FVTPL on initial recognition as they contain non-closely
related embedded derivatives. The directors considered
the fair values of other deposits, which were measured
by reference to the discounted cash flow approach as
disclosed in note 7(c), approximate to their principal
amounts. Other deposits were redeemed in January to
March 2015. The change in fair value up to the date of
redemption was not significant.

At 31st December, 2015, bank balances and cash of
HK$9,764,191,000 (2014: HK$9,042,741,000) are
denominated in RMB which is not a freely convertible
currency in the international market. The exchange rate of
RMB is regulated by the government and the remittance
of these funds out of the PRC is subject to exchange
restrictions imposed by the PRC government.
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BE-T-RFt-A=t-ALFE

31. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

&L (ZZ — M4 :1,907,822,000
BIT) REER BN T115EZE
2,75/ (ZZ — /U4 : 1.15/F £3.03
E) TERFBFRNERFERER—

FRBEIN KT EHRLERR 2

BRENEREEE -

interest-free and repayable on demand.

—EB-HF —E—mEF
2015 2014
FET FHT
HK$’000 HK$'000
(& E5)
(Restated)
T E SRR Trade payables 4,692,435 4,676,332
EftEERRFE (Hia) Amounts due to joint ventures (Note a) 2,066,163 2,123,549
e IEHE R IR B 3508 (FfsEb)  Amounts due to non-controlling
shareholders (Note b) 143,660 49,112
LGN Receipts in advance 3,400,322 3,412,214
Bz e Deposits received 695,234 767,417
BEYE - MR MR EE R A Payables for acquisition of property,
plant and equipment 175,644 318,368
LT s A5 e e B A FKTE Payables for acquisition of operating rights 23,037 22,120
IR P B A ] R (B Consideration payable for acquisition of
(Fff5E40) subsidiaries (note 40) 47,916 152,890
FEEH 8 TRA Accrued staff costs 786,632 747,283
HEh MR ETE R Other payables and accruals 409,994 571,043
12,441,037 12,840,328
Bt Notes:
a. [BERNAEE AR FKIE769,829,000 a.  Except for the amounts due to joint ventures of HK$1,769,829,000

(2014: HK$1,907,822,000) which are unsecured, bear variable interest
ranging from 1.15% to 2.75% (2014: 1.15% to 3.03%) per annum and
repayable within one year, the remaining balances are unsecured,

b. FE < SE420 IR IR B 2RI AR 4 8 b.  Amounts due to non-controlling shareholders are unsecured, interest-

RANBEREEE o

free and repayable on demand.
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31.

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continued)

The aged analysis of trade payables is presented based on invoice
date at the end of the reporting period as follows:

—B-HF —E-mE

2015 2014

FHExT T

HK$’000 HK$'000

0— 90K 0 - 90 days 2,872,775 2,867,924
91 — 180K 91 — 180 days 489,573 486,896
181 — 365k% 181 — 365 days 741,946 737,045
365K £ Over 365 days 588,141 584,467
4,692,435 4,676,332

BENTHEEHRA7TREI80K - A
SEES T BRREERE LA
RREBEEBRRS AR -

B

MW-_Z—AE+-_A=+—0  BF
f# Bh £128,979,000/%8 T (= & — M
F : 114,866,000/ 7T) = ZRRFEIK
REBERBRENEY - BIEAKE
ME - BEREEAREIMAEE
RIEES -

32.

The average credit period on purchases of goods ranges from 7
to 180 days. The Group has financial risk management policies in
place to ensure that all payables are within the credit timeframe.

GOVERNMENT GRANTS

At 31st December, 2015, government grants of HK$128,979,000
(2014: HK$114,866,000) mainly represent subsidies granted by
PRC governmental authorities for the purpose of financing the
acquisition of property, plant and equipment and construction of
gas pipelines.
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33. |ITRHMEE 33. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS
—B-AHF —T—F
2015 2014
FET FHET
HK$’000 HK$'000
WITER Bank loans 9,106,197 9,137,672
HEMER Other loans 84,374 92,659
9,190,571 9,230,331
HiKH Secured 182,642 318,449
A 1 Unsecured 9,007,929 8,911,882
9,190,571 9,230,331

AEERRITREMMEERE The Group’s bank and other borrowings

LA BRFE (B8 are repayable*:
—F R Within one year 4,219,798 3,296,513
ZR—FBTBBRE More than one year,
but not exceeding two years 1,590,278 4,103,240
ZRMEENBRASE More than two years,
but not exceeding five years 3,096,701 1,670,683
ZRAE More than five years 283,794 159,895
9,190,571 9,230,331
B MBBEMRN—FERN Less: Amount due within one year shown
E|BAR) K18 under current liabilities (4,219,798) (3,296,513)
ERBEBARN—FR Amount due after one year shown as
FI BRI 5RE non-current liabilities 4,970,773 5,933,818
* FERERBERBEAMENHE o

The amounts due are based on scheduled repayment dates set out in
the loan agreements.
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33. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (Continued)

Details of the terms of the Group’s bank and other borrowings are

LU set out below:
BRFF| %
Effective
interest rates —E-HF —T-F
per annum 2015 2014
TERT FHET
HK$°000 HK$’000
EEMEE: Fixed rate borrowings:
IR A R IRITE R Unsecured RMB bank loans 4.35% — 6.15% 163,169 107,749
I AR E Unsecured RMB other loans 2.55% 32,279 37,334
EERBTHRITER Unsecured JPY bank loan 0.65% 245,598 159,896
EEBARKETER Secured RMB bank loans 5.76% — 8.39% — 66,171
EEAARBEEMER Secured RMB other loans 6.4% 52,095 55,325
EEEEBE Total fixed rate borrowings 493,141 426,475
FEEE Floating rate borrowings:
K ARBIRITER ©  Unsecured RMB bank loans
ZEEMPEARRIT at margin plus People’s Bank
ERFIEGE of China Base Rate 5.23% — 6.08% 66,883 106,903
ERABTIRITER Unsecured HKD bank loans
REEZMBEEBRT at margin plus HIBOR
RIZEFBEGE 1.35% - 2.2% 8,500,000 8,500,000
BIEMARKIEITER - Secured RMB bank loans at
RBEMFEARET margin plus People’s Bank
ERF B of China Base Rate 4.97% 130,547 196,953
FEEERE Total floating rate borrowings 8,697,430 8,803,856
BEEmzE Total borrowings 9,190,571 9,230,331

2

RBGRITREMEENFEREE

R FHIB BN KT E43 ©

borrowings are set out in note 43.

Details of the pledged assets to

ERRRIERERART . — T AFFH

secure the bank and other
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RZE——FMBHA ARAIRE
BEEI7.S%MEEBETACER
750,000,000 7T (#H %5 745,818,890,000
BT MEXERE ([BERR] - 8%
ERIR B EREFAE%TE  WRAE
BHFEIMN—IK R 2T —F
ABEIH - EARZHRAEEIF - Wik
B FNEL8%:TE - NEEZT—H
F+-A=+—HLLFE - B85k
#F B 5 57 £275,233,000/8 7T (ZZ—
U4 : 275,147,00087T)

BEAZBERFTNEELFRSMARR
AL - BAZBERBREHARANATF
B (RE—RLATFEH=FHE) @5 A
775,335,000 7T (1% 796,047,613,000
7 or) (ZF — M0 4 : 786,382,000%% 7T
(#8 % 7°6,133,783,000/5 7T)) * J9i% %
BHKRTTEETE -

RSB R 7 B = B HA B pi (A Ry E
BREXEZERANSER100%I0EE
RARFE  BHMIIEBHERFME
BEER -

I
3 =

=
=

EFE+-A=+—HIFE

34. SENIOR NOTES

On 5th April, 2012, the Company issued senior notes with principal
amount of US$750,000,000 (equivalent to HK$5,818,890,000) at
an offer price of 97.95% of the face value of the notes (“Senior
Notes”). The Senior Notes bear coupon interest at 4.5% per annum
payable semi-annually in arrears and are due on 4th April, 2022.
The Senior Notes are unsecured and carry effective interest rate
of 4.8% per annum. Interest expenses of HK$275,233,000 (2014
HK$275,147,000) was charged to profit or loss during the year
ended 31st December, 2015.

The Senior Notes are listed on the Singapore Exchange Securities
Trading Limited. The fair value of the Senior Notes at the end of the
reporting period, which was measured at fair value on Level 1 fair
value measurement, was estimated at US$775,335,000 (equivalent
to HK$6,047,613,000) (2014: US$786,382,000 (equivalent to
HK$6,133,783,000)), which was determined based on the closing
market price at that date.

The Group has the option to redeem all of the Senior Notes, in full
but not in part, at 100% of their principal amount plus accrued and
unpaid interest at any time up to the maturity date.
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35. OTHER LONG-TERM LIABILITIES

Included in other long-term liabilities at 31st December, 2015
are an amount of HK$189,772,000 (2014: HK$181,700,000),
representing non-current portion of payables for acquisition of
operating rights for city pipeline network.

The payables for acquisition of operating rights for city pipeline
network are payable as follows:

—E-REF —Z=—F
2015 2014
FHERT FHET
HK$’000 HK$’'000
—F R Within one year 23,037 22,120
ZR—FENBBAMRE More than one year, but not exceeding
two years 17,353 16,806
ZHRMERTEBBAT More than two years, but not exceeding
five years 25,890 24,463
ZRAF More than five years 146,529 140,431
212,809 203,820
B B A EATRET AR Less: Amount due within one year included
B 5 BRI A AN R in trade and other payables shown
R—FRE| R RIE under current liabilities (23,037) (22,120)
ERBEBEMRN—F& Amount due after one year shown as
F| BRI FRIE non-current liabilities 189,772 181,700

ZERBEDNETBRESREFE - 7
FEANTEXEDERNERENT102
50FMEBRFNE40E (ZT— 1
F:37E) -

—T-NE+-A=+—HANHEME
BB EATEE/50,618,00078 T /5 H
RAUEE — R B AR MR R(E - B
RZT—RFEE (RF40) (=2
—RF:E)e

The present values were based on cash flows discounted using
effective interest rate of 4.0% (2014: 3.7%) per annum for terms
ranging from 10 to 50 years.

Included in other long-term liabilities at 31st December, 2014 was
an amount of HK$50,618,000, representing deferred consideration
for the acquisition of a subsidiary and being repayable in 2016 (see
note 40) (2015: nil).
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36.

170

IEFE B 1E 36. DEFERRED TAXATION
NTRAREFERNEIFETZEER The followings are the major deferred tax assets (liabilities)
BEHIBEE (AfE) REZS) recognised and movements thereon during the current and prior
years:
ROERFN
S Hith
MEHIFHE Withholding TREE
Accelerated KeE tax on Other
tax Operating  undistributed temporary a5t
depreciation rights profits differences Total
TR THT THT TR TR
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
RZZ—M&E—F—H At 1istJanuary, 2014 (397,547) (49,050) (78,020) 62,290 (462,327)
ERRAE Exchange adjustments 1,332 167 261 631 2,391
FREE (ZH) Credit (charge) for the year 3,113 3,172 (206,319) 32,855 (167,179)
E=ING Acquisition of subsidiaries 853 (145,133) - 1,329 (142,951)
RZ2-—mE At 31st December, 2014
+-A=1+—-H (392,249) (190,844) (284,078) 97,105 (770,066)
[ 5 Exchange adjustments 6,603 7,999 15,953 (11,943) 18,612
FEREE () Credit (charge) for the year 1,554 7,550 (157,775) 73,953 (74,718)
WEEH B AR Acquisition of a subsidiary - = = 4,317 4,317
RZE—R% At 31st December, 2015
+-A=+-H (384,092) (175,295) (425,900) 163,432 (821,855)
SRR A DT Analysed for reporting purpose as:
—B-HF —ZT—mE
2015 2014
FTERT FHET
HK$’000 HK$'000
(=751)
(Restated)
EEFIEEE Deferred tax assets 190,323 127,738
EEFIBEAE Deferred tax liabilities (1,012,178) (897,804)
(821,855) (770,066)
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36. DEFERRED TAXATION (Continued)

At 31st December, 2015, the Group had unused tax losses
of HK$471,428,000 (2014: HK$381,640,000) available to offset
against future profits. No deferred tax asset has been recognised
in respect of such losses due to the unpredictability of future
profit streams. Except for the tax loss of HK$69,551,000 (2014:
HK$69,551,000) which may be carried forward indefinitely, the
remaining losses will expire within 5 years from the year of
origination.

At 31st December, 2015, the aggregate amount of temporary
differences associated with undistributed earnings of subsidiaries
for which deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised was
HK$34,489,000 (2014: HK$334,731,000). No liability has been
recognised in respect of these differences because the Group is
in a position to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences and it is probable that such differences will not reverse
in the foreseeable future.

i 7= 37. SHARE CAPITAL
REE ROEE
Number of Nominal value
shares of shares
FHET
HK$'000
HFH%0.108 T HIRR (D Shares of HK$0.10 each
JERE ¢ Authorised:
RZZT—MNE—HA—H " At 1st January, 2014, 31st December,
—E-NFE+-_A=F+—HBK 2014 and 31st December, 2015
—ZT—hF+=—A=+—H 10,000,000,000 1,000,000
EETRAR : Issued and fully paid:
R=ZE—NF—HF—H - At 1st January, 2014, 31st December,
—E—NE+-_A=+—H8BK 2014 and 31st December, 2015
—E—RFE+-_A=1+—8H 2,224,012,871 222,401

ADFEE  BBTRMRBAR
R4 PO R AE T 8 -

There were no changes in the Company’s authorised, issued and
fully paid share capital during both years.
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38. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

On 1st December, 2008, the Company adopted the share
repurchased cash award scheme (“Incentive Award Scheme”)
as an incentive to retain and encourage the employees for the
continual operation and development of the Group.

Pursuant to the Incentive Award Scheme, existing shares of the
Company will be purchased by the trustee from the market out
of cash contributed by the Group and be held in trust for the
selected employees until such shares are vested with the selected
employees. No restricted shares will be granted if the aggregate
number of restricted shares awarded throughout the duration of
the scheme to be in excess of the 5% of the issued share capital
of the Company at the adoption date of the scheme. The maximum
number of restricted shares which may be awarded to a selected
employee under the Incentive Award Scheme shall not exceed
0.5% of the issued share capital of the Company from time to time.

On 16th March, 2010, the Company amended the Incentive
Award Scheme such that cash instead of restricted shares will be
awarded. The Company will utilise the proceeds generated from
disposal of the restricted shares held by the trustee for making
cash awards under the Incentive Award Scheme.

During the year ended 31st December, 2015, 1,310,000 (2014:
1,905,100) shares were disposed of by the trustee to the market
at an average price of HK$19.15 (2014: HK$19.37) per share.
The proceeds from disposal of those shares amounted to
HK$25,082,000 (2014: HK$36,904,000). The whole amount of the
proceeds was awarded in cash to certain directors and employees
of the Group, with an equivalent expense recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income as employee benefits during the year. The difference of
HK$20,327,000 (2014: HK$30,003,000) between the cost of the
shares and the proceeds was credited to retained profits. There
are 48,063,384 (2014: 49,373,384) shares held by the trustee at
the end of reporting period.

No restricted shares were granted to eligible employees pursuant
to the Incentive Award Scheme.
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39. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

Hong Kong

The Group participates in both a defined contribution scheme
which is registered under the Occupational Retirement Scheme
Ordinance (the “ORSO Scheme”) and a Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) established under the Hong Kong
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance. The assets of the
schemes are held separately from those of the Group, in funds
under the control of trustees. Employees who were members of the
ORSO Scheme prior to the establishment of the MPF Scheme were
offered a choice of staying within the ORSO Scheme or switching to
the MPF Scheme, whereas all new employees joining the Group on
or after 1st December, 2000 are required to join the MPF Scheme.

The ORSO Scheme is funded by monthly contributions from both
employees and the Group based on a specified percentage of
the employee’s basic salary, depending on the length of service
with the Group. Where there are employees who leave the ORSO
Scheme prior to vesting, the contributions payable by the Group
are reduced by the amount of forfeited contributions. No forfeited
contributions were utilised in this manner for both years.

For members of the MPF Scheme, the Group contributes 5% of
relevant payroll costs or at monthly maximum cap of HK$1,500
each person (before 1st June, 2014: HK$1,250 each person) to the
scheme, which contribution is matched by the employees.

At 31st December, 2015 and 2014, the amount of forfeited
contributions available to reduce contributions payable in the
future years is insignificant.

PRC

The employees of the Group in the PRC are members of state-
managed retirement benefit schemes operated by the local
government in the PRC. The Group is required to contribute a
specified percentage of the payroll costs to the retirement benefit
schemes to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the Group with
respect to the retirement benefit schemes is to make the specified
contributions.
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40. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES

For the year ended 31st December, 2015

EERBRATABMR LA (“Longyan Kunrun Gas”) was 35% held
by the Group and 65% by two other joint venturers and accounted
for as a joint venture. In April 2015, the Group acquired an
additional 36% equity interest in Longyan Kunrun Gas from one
joint venturer at a cash consideration of RMB54,000,000 (equivalent
to HK$68,475,000). The acquisition was completed on 26th May,
2015, on that date the control of Longyan Kunrun Gas was passed
to the Group. Longyan Kunrun Gas is principally engaged in sales
of liquefied gas and connection of gas pipelines. The acquisition
is part of the on-going expansion strategy of the Group with
the aim of becoming the market leader in the downstream city
gas industry. The transaction has been accounted for using the
acquisition method.

T
HK$’'000
EWEEEEE R HRARAHANEE R Fair value of identifiable assets and liabilities of
BERESEHEZEBNHATE Longyan Kunrun Gas acquired at the date of
FTRI0R : obtaining control are as follows:
ME - BB KEE Property, plant and equipment 5,609
FEIERIIAE B Deferred tax assets 4,317
TE Inventories 1,268
JEULEZ 5 BR TR N b & IR Trade and other receivables 506
BEEE Taxation recoverable 15
RITHEMRRIRS Bank balances and cash 171,542
FERTE 5 AR 3R % E A FE AT R Trade and other payables (6,018)
177,239
EEEAE (UBREXM) Consideration transferred, satisfied by cash 68,475
ARG &R AR R TE Previously held interest, represented by 62,514
B ER interests in joint ventures
N ESERR R Plus: Non-controlling interests 51,400
B BB EERE Less: Net assets acquired (177,239)
I EE E R P 2 Goodwill arising on acquisition 5,150
WEEEEBRRAARNIRE R Analysis of net outflow of cash and cash equivalents
ReEERLIFEIN : in respect of acquisition of Longyan Kunrun Gas:
ENBEERE Cash consideration paid (68,475)
FSHRITHEBRRIE® Bank balances and cash acquired 171,542
103,067
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40. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

For the year ended 31st December, 2015 (Continued)

During the year ended 31st December, 2015, the acquisition of
the subsidiary resulted in inclusion of post-acquisition revenue of
nil and loss of HK$4,886,000 in the Group’s consolidated financial
statements.

Had the acquisitions been completed on 1st January, 2015, the
Group’s revenue for the year would have been HK$31,095,756,000,
and profit for the year would have been HK$ 3,796,027,000. The
pro forma information is for illustrative purposes only and is not
necessarily an indication of revenue and results of operations of the
Group that actually would have been achieved had the acquisition
been completed on 1st January, 2015, nor is it intended to be a
projection of future results.

For the year ended 31st December, 2014

(a) In April 2014, the Group acquired 95.95% equity interest
in Pengzhou CR Gas, which is principally engaged in
sales of liquefied gas and connection of gas pipelines
from independent third parties for a cash consideration
of RMB401,425,000 (equivalent to HK$506,177,000). The
acquisition is part of the on-going expansion strategy of
the Group with the aim of becoming the market leader in
the downstream city gas industry. The transaction has been
accounted for using the acquisition method. During the
year ended 31st December, 2015, the identification and
determination of the fair values of the net identifiable assets
of Pengzhou CR Gas have been completed.
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WEEHEB AT (&) 40. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

BE-Z2-—NFE+-A=+—-HLF

E (&)

For the year ended 31st December, 2014 (Continued)

(a) (#&) (a) (Continued)
REEE
BESTREN
AEE
Fair value upon
completion
of acquisition
accounting
FHT
HK$'000
(#=5)
(Restated)
DU EZINE R R A &R EE N EE Fair value of identifiable assets and liabilities of
RESEFEE AN AFEF RN T :  Pengzhou CR Gas acquired at the date of
obtaining control are as follows:
ME - B K&E Property, plant and equipment 219,651
TR A RIE Prepaid lease payments 10,918
K Operating rights 249
RIEFHIAE & Deferred tax assets 1,329
T8 Inventories 5,904
FEWE 5 Bk 7R e H A & sk Trade and other receivables 67,895
AT el 7 18 Taxation recoverable 207
RITHEMRRIRS Bank balances and cash 62,214
FEAT B 55 R 3k R ELAth FE ST 3K Trade and other payables (70,458)
RITREAMIEE Bank and other borrowings (3,038)
BRI R R Deferred tax liabilities (23,070)
271,801
BEERE (LB MH) Consideration transferred, satisfied by cash 404,941
RIERAE Deferred consideration
— BRf AR B ET R E AR - included in other payables in current liabilities 50,618
—BRtAEMEHEE — included in other long-term liabilities
(BR=ZZ—REXH) (payable in 2016) 50,618
o IEPERRAE R Plus: Non-controlling interests 8,201
W BEREEEFE Less: Net assets acquired (271,801)
W E AR R Goodwill arising on acquisition 242 577
W EBRRANRE R Analysis of net outflow of cash and
REEB/RLFEIMN ¢ cash equivalents in respect of acquisition of
Pengzhou CR Gas:
ENBEERE Cash consideration paid (404,941)
FrSiRITHEBR RS Bank balances and cash acquired 62,214
(342,727)
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40. WEEMIB AR (&) 40. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

BE-Z—NE+=-HA=+—HLF For the year ended 31st December, 2014 (Continued)

E (&)

(a) (#&) (a) (Continued)

REBEZE-_ZT-—NF+_A=+—8H During the year ended 31st December, 2014, the acquisition of

IEFEE WEMBARABRASE the subsidiary resulted in inclusion of post-acquisition revenue

AP RERIT AKEZKA of HK$302,649,000 and profit of HK$38,471,000 in the Group’s

302,649,000/ 7T % i 138,471,000 consolidated financial statements.

BT o

(o) RZZT—MF+=A ~"EE (b) In December 2014, the Group acquired 70% equity interest
& R E AR %335,234,0007T in Changxing CR Gas, which is principally engaged in
(F8% 7 424,954,000/ 1) BB sales of liquefied gas and connection of gas pipelines
VEZHFREREEBRR70% from independent third parties for a cash consideration
IR AR  Z AR ETEHRER of RMB335,234,000 (equivalent to HK$424,954,000). The
EREEMMAEEERELR - acquisition is part of the on-going expansion strategy of
W EIE A EFEERRE the Group with the aim of becoming the market leader in
HW—85 BERKA NEN the downstream city gas industry. The transaction has been
MMRRITENTIZEEE - B accounted for using the acquisition method. During the
RSEEAWEENR - RBZE year ended 31st December, 2015, the identification and
—E-—RE+-_A=+—HIF determination of the fair values of the net identifiable assets
E - AEED S REE RN of Changxing CR Gas have been completed.
RAIBRIEEFEL T EHHA
NEETE o
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40. WIEKIE AR (&)
BE-Z2-—NFE+-A=+—-HLF
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40. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

For the year ended 31st December, 2014 (Continued)

E (&)
(b)y (#&) (b) (Continued)
REEE
BESTREN
NEE
Fair value upon
completion
of acquisition
accounting
FHET
HK$’'000
(# &%)
(Restated)
B Uk i & S R AR A R & Fair value of identifiable assets of Changxing
REGBZEGIES BNAFE CR Gas acquired at the date of obtaining
FTREAT « control are as follows:
ME - BB K&E Property, plant and equipment 204,401
"EME Investment properties 36,665
Ya TR A A Prepaid lease payments 38,283
L Operating rights 580,532
REE QAR Interests in joint ventures 36,128
A ERE Available-for-sale investments 42 155
FE Inventories 3,659
eI B 5 B 7R K2 EL fih e UL 3R Trade and other receivables 62,248
RITHEBRIR S Bank balances and cash 12,923
FE & 5 R 3k M B A FE A 3R Trade and other payables (79,597)
RITREAMIEE Bank and other borrowings (258,054)
FERTA 1A Taxation payable (33,233)
REFRIEE & Deferred tax liabilities (121,210)
524,900
BEEERE (AREIM) Consideration transferred, satisfied by cash 322,682
Bt AREN S ER A E b B A Deferred consideration included in
BERE other payables in current liabilities 102,272
o SRR RE R Plus: Non-controlling interests 157,471
B BWEAEFE Less: Net assets acquired (524,900)
W B E AR B P Goodwill arising on acquisition 57,525
I R B AR AR S K Analysis of net outflow of cash and
REEERLFEIMN ¢ cash equivalents in respect of acquisition of
Changxing CR Gas:
EfRRERE Cash consideration paid (322,682)
SRR RS Bank balances and cash acquired 12,923
(309,759)
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40. WIEKIE AR (&)

4.

BE-Z2-—NFE+-A=+—-HLF

E (&)

(o) (#&)

REBE-_T-HF+-A=+—
BLILFE - WEMBARL RS
BAKESGA M RA AMRE
BURA T ©

MET AW EEN T —NF—
A—HAZK  FRAEERKA
#5 /£29,005,230,000/8 7T » M F
)% F 15 /43,387,000,000/8 7T, ©
IEEEREHRTARR - B
—EAMWMBEEER =T —NF
—A—BRRASEERERE
A RIS & EBEOIEE - 5
EEERARRERETEA -

REEY
AEBEREBA

RI|EHR - NEEA A REHEE
HHAE  ZERENRRKEES
NHROBHEMOT

For the year ended 31st December, 2015

FRE BTSRRI
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

HE_Z—AF+-_A=+—HItFE

40. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

For the year ended 31st December, 2014 (Continued)

(b)

(Continued)

During the year ended 31st December, 2014, the acquisition
of the subsidiary did not result in inclusion of post-acquisition
revenue or profit in the Group’s consolidated financial
statements.

Had all the acquisitions been completed on 1st January,
2014, the Group’s revenue for the year would have been
HK$29,005,230,000, and profit for the year would have been
HK$3,387,000,000. The pro forma information is for illustrative
purposes only and is not necessarily an indication of revenue
and results of operations of the Group that actually would
have been achieved had the acquisition been completed
on 1st January, 2014, nor is it intended to be a projection of
future results.

41. OPERATING LEASES

The Group as lessee

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had commitments for

future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating

leases which fall due as follows:

= —E-mF

2015 2014

FTHERT FHT

HK$’000 HK$’'000

—F R Within one year 36,500 46,833
EFEERF

(RREREEMFEEAN) In the second to fifth year inclusive 150,122 123,963

AEFEE After five years 9,393 53,794

196,015 224,590

REBONRDEAEERNAE
BEMENENES - BOTEER
BE HeREFH-—E=+HF (ZF
—PUE —E4EF) BEE o

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the Group

for office and factory premises. Leases are negotiated and rentals

are fixed for term ranging from one to fifteen years (2014: one to

ten years).
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41, BEHEN (&)
AEBERSEBEA

RI|BERR - NEEEABABR L
T HHEEEHELN - RRAEANH
RIEEZOZEEMT

HE_Z-—AF+T-_A=T—HILFE

41. OPERATING LEASES (Continued)
The Group as lessor

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had contracted with
lessees for the following future minimum lease payments under
non-cancellable operating leases which fall due as follows:

—E-—HF —T-IF

2015 2014

FET FHT

HK$’000 HK$’'000

—F R Within one year 22,607 20,742
F_EFEFERF

(BREREEMFEEAN) In the second to fifth year inclusive 35,376 20,473

hFIE After five years 44 1,554

58,027 42,769

FREREAREAYESEBE LT —
EF+ZFH(ZTE—NFE: —E+=
FH) WA - MmEpE Ea A S A
LZHEM S AR ST HE -

The investment properties rented during the year have committed
tenants for term ranging from one to twelve years (2014: one to
twelve years). No contingent rent was arranged for the above
operating lease arrangements.
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BE_ZE

AE+-A=+—BLLFE

42, &I 42. COMMITMENTS
—E-R%F —TmF
2015 2014
FET FHT
HK$’000 HK$'000
MATEEERILER Capital expenditure contracted for but not
RAEBE I REK B provided in the Group’s financial
BENERAE : statements in respect of:
HBEYZE  BER Acquisition of property, plant and
=E AN ERE equipment/prepaid lease payments 1,265,243 243,231
& (fisE) Investments (Note) 331,949 741,443
1,597,192 984,674
REBE R EREME QA The Group’s share of the capital commitments
HEELEELESE QA made jointly with other joint venturers
BREANERNEENT : relating to its joint ventures are as follows:
BEWE  BER Acquisition of property, plant and
& FENEERE equipment/prepaid lease payments 585,720 257,928

Mz : AEERBUE=AFILETH
& NERBEKZE TRFIIE

B

43. EEEKH

R-ZB—RE+-_A=+—80 " K&
EEERTIEEERRITEERE
NHFRAREEFOENE HERD

PRC.

43. PLEDGE OF ASSETS

At 31st December, 2015, the Group pledged the following assets

of natural gas as follows:

Note: The Group entered into several agreements with independent third
parties to establish certain sino-foreign joint venture enterprises in the

as securities for bank borrowings and trade payables to suppliers

AR
—E-HEF —ZE—OF
2015 2014
THET FHT
HK$’000 HK$'000
ME - BB K& Property, plant and equipment 82,407 40,608
EIRIRIRITER Pledged bank deposits 50,702 65,986
BRI IE Prepaid lease payments 57,016 22,261
190,125 128,855

EERRERERAT . — T LFER
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44. BEALTHE 44. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES
HEEALHNRS Transactions with related parties
BRABRAMT SEFTE BB A TR SN - In addition to the related party transactions set out in the respective
REENFANEBEATETIIE notes, the Group entered into the following material transactions
ARG - with related parties during the year:
—E-REF —ZT—F
2015 2014
FET FHET
HK$’000 HK$’'000
HEETFAEAR Sales to joint ventures 503,133 841,064
HE THEE AR Sales to associates 44,680 48,580
HETRREMMBAR Sales to fellow subsidiaries 17,933 9,956
HE THEB AR M IEZER Sales to non-controlling
RRE shareholders of subsidiaries 138,450 -
A AR A AR A Interest income from loan to
BHFEWA an intermediate holding company 19,689 51,603
BIGE NGRS Interest income from loan to
B 2 HA a fellow subsidiary 6,426 7,695
NEES YNGR Gol Interest income from deposits placed
FERA BN in a fellow subsidiary 30,098 20,396
e —BELATNNEWA Interest income from a joint venturer - 5,094
KEE =R AR EWA Interest income from joint ventures 2,784 2,945
BEAEAA Purchase from joint ventures 101,163 66,700
% B M A R IR AR AR R Purchase from non-controlling
shareholders of subsidiaries 973,749 799,315
ENALATIMMN SRS Interest expenses paid to joint ventures 36,327 38,036
EFRRMBATNHELES  Rental expenses paid to fellow subsidiaries 4,159 3,675
ENMEERRNAEAY Rental expenses paid to a joint venture 8,219 4,481
EERENEPNGIE S o) Rental expenses paid to non-controlling
HEFZ shareholders of subsidiaries 4,794 3,773
RN—FE—FRE+—_A=+—8 &% At 31st December, 2015, the Group placed bank and other
MRER R R ZNEA R EEEE deposits of HK$576,909,000 (2014: HK$947,513,000) with China
TERNERANGFEASRTEEMT Resources Bank of Zhuhai Co., Ltd., a fellow subsidiary of the
576,909,000/ 7T (= & — PO 4 : Company, and these deposits were included in bank balances
947,513,000% 7T) + X FRITF KT and cash.

ANSRITHEB RIS -

182 CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED - Annual Report 2015
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HEMEEEHERNRS &k

AEEB S /T EBTZESR T EE
EETBRAKERFTN—HD - MA
B B AT AT BRG] - KRR
HREMEAFZENINEBSETNR

BRRES -

BRESABLEMNBARNRZS (B
PR B B TS SR 2k A0 A B SR AR ER)
S - AN SR [ IR AR B R S B R Sk PR R
rEH - KREFSEMERZE DD
EREAEEBRIETETESL
EE AR RITIF R AR B U
A EBTRIT REAREE AR AR
BRRA - REORERBOMRIEE

FRE BTSRRI
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31st December, 2015 HE=ZT—AF+-A=+—HIFE

44. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (Continued)

Transactions/balances with other state-controlled entities

The Group itself is part of a larger group of companies under CRNC
which is controlled by the government of the PRC and the Group
operates in an economic environment currently predominated by
entities controlled, jointly controlled or significantly influenced by
the PRC government.

Apart from the transactions with the parent company and its
subsidiaries which have been disclosed in other notes to the
consolidated financial statements, the Group also conducts
businesses with entities directly or indirectly controlled, jointly
controlled or significantly influenced by the PRC government in the
ordinary course of business, including majority of its bank deposits
and the corresponding interest income, certain bank and other
borrowings and the corresponding finance costs, large portion of
purchases and part of sales of gas.

TEFETEEEAEME Compensation of key management personnel of the Group
—2-1F —FmF
2015 2014
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$'000
REREF Short-term benefits 49,954 66,737
RINERA Post-employment benefits 1,604 1,598
51,558 68,335
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45. 72 7] B #& AR R 5k 45. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF

THE COMPANY

—E-RF —Z=—F
2015 2014
FET T
HK$’000 HK$'000
EREEE Non-current assets
Yz - WE M Property, plant and equipment 649 1,162
RITB AR A EHIRE Unlisted investments in subsidiaries 12,890,687 13,027,899
FEULHT B A R FRIB Amounts due from subsidiaries 13,133,573 14,360,687
mIk B A RN E R Loan to a subsidiary 2,856,603 1,858,724
28,881,512 29,248,472
MENEE Current assets
H At R UK Other receivables 71,728 56,187
AR IENGIE ] Amounts due from subsidiaries 514,782 149,904
MR RZHTB A AR EANER Loan to a fellow subsidiary - 707,695
IRITHEB RIS Bank balances and cash 610,082 849,974
1,196,592 1,763,760
MBEE Current liabilities
HEh R ERE B Other payables and accrued charges 191,058 222,949
FEIH B A RIZRIE Amounts due to subsidiaries 348,158 152,365
HEBARRENER Loan from a subsidiary 1,111,986 773,767
IRITEE Bank borrowings 4,000,000 3,000,000
5,651,202 4,149,081
nBBEFE Net current liabilities (4,454,610) (2,385,321)
24,426,902 26,863,151
BN fE Capital and reserves
R& A Share capital 222,401 222,401
itz Reserves 13,995,881 15,441,927
14,218,282 15,664,328
ERFEE Non-current liabilities
RITEE Bank borrowings 4,500,000 5,500,000
BRERE Senior notes 5,708,620 5,698,823
10,208,620 11,198,823
24,426,902 26,863,151

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED - Annual Report 2015



iRE TSR M A
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31st December, 2015 HE=ZT—AF+-A=+—HIFE

45. KD T EARREK (42) 45. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF

THE COMPANY (Continued)

RABEEEE : Movement in the Company’s reserves:
RAEBIE
REZRB
Shares
held for
R4 R E AR incentive ELfE 5yl
Share  Contributed award Exchange Accumulated &t
premium surplus scheme reserve profits Total
FET FET TET TET TET TET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
RZZT—WF—H—H At 1st January, 2014 6,378,643 7,388,600 (186,113) 361,404 1,303,559 15,246,093
T Profit for the year = = - - 749,425 749,425
FREHEENER Exchange difference arising
ERREMZARY on translation and other
comprehensive expense
for the year - - - (47,311) - (47,311)
FERN2E (%) Total comprehensive (expense)
LONE: income for the year - - - (47,311) 749,425 702,114
& B IRE T2 Disposal of shares held for
AR incentive award scheme - - 6,901 - 30,003 36,904
B S Dividends paid - - - - (543,184) (543,184)
R_T—HmEF At 31st December, 2014
+-A=+—~H 6,378,643 7,388,600 (179,212) 314,093 1,539,803 15,441,927
FREE Loss for the year - - - - (25,938) (25,938)
FREEEENER Exchange difference arising
ERKEMZARY on translation and other
comprehensive expense
for the year - - - (792,798) - (792,798)
FRNREFSEE Total comprehensive expense
for the year - - - (792,798) (25,938) (818,736)
& B2 Disposal of shares held for
A ZRH incentive award scheme - - 4,755 - 20,327 25,082
BERARS Dividends paid - - - - (652,392) (652,392)
RZT—H%F At 31st December, 2015
+-A=+—H 6,378,643 7,388,600 (174,457) (478,705) 881,800 13,995,881
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T
BE—=

EFE+-A=+—HIFE

46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

General information of subsidiaries

RBERR  ARBEHBERTNER

HHOT -

186

ARER
Name of company

ML
XL it 2

Place of
incorporation/
establishment

Details of the Group’s subsidiaries at the end of the reporting

period are set out below.

ERTRAR
R,/ ERRA
Issued and

fully paid share/
registered capital

rEBELRE
Attributable
equity interest
of the Group
ZE-RF —TWF

TEXK
Principal activities

2015 2014
% %
EHRRERAT HERIES LRR4ETT 100 100 REZER
China Resources Gas Limited  British Virgin Ordinary US$4 Investment holding
Islands
AEI China Gas Limited REEES LimA%1,000% T 100 100 REZER
Cayman Islands Ordinary US$1,000 Investment holding
BARERRRERAF H AR #50,000,0007T 80.4 80.4 HERIR
PRC RMB50,000,000 Sales of liquefied gas
FHNERRRERRAN H 15,000,000% 7T 70 70 HER(IEREK
PRC US$15,000,000 EEBREE
Sales of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines
EGERRRERAR? H 16,000,000 7T 50 50 HER(LAK
PRC US$16,000,000 EXBREd
Sales of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines
EEEERRERAR? H 4,000,000% 7T 100 100  #HER(AER
PRC US$4,000,000 EREREE

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED -

Annual Report 2015
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46. TEHEBARER (&) 46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
(Continued)
MEBARN—RER (&) General information of subsidiaries (Continued)
Bl ERTRAR
FR L 3t B i/ EMBRA B ELL R AE
Place of Issued and Attributable
NGIE:E incorporation/ fully paid share/ equity interest TEEHR
Name of company establishment registered capital of the Group Principal activities
ZE2-RF —T-F
2015 2014
% %
ELEBRRBRAF" i 11,000,000% 7T 57.11 57.11  HERERR
PRC US$11,000,000 ERBRES

Sales of liquefied gas
and connection of

gas pipelines
ARZEBERIBR AR HE AER#81,500,00070 75 75 HERLEER
PRC RMB81,500,000 BERBRER

Sales of liquefied gas
and connection of

gas pipelines
G REBMRRERAR HE AR#50,000,00070 75 75 HER(EER
PRC RMB50,000,000 ERRRES

Sales of liquefied gas
and connection of

gas pipelines
EGERRRBERAR FE AR #70,000,0007T 71.43 7143  HEREER
PRC RMB70,000,000 EEHREE

Sales of liquefied gas
and connection of

gas pipelines
BEREBRIBR AR HE AE#10,000,0007T 100 100  $HERLEER
PRC RMB10,000,000 ERRRER

Sales of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines
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46. TEMBARER (£2) 46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

188

NG
Name of company

incorporation/
establishment

fully paid share/
registered capital

equity interest
of the Group
ZE-RF —T[OF

(Continued)
MEARIN—RER (&) General information of subsidiaries (Continued)
FMERL BRTRER
FRZ 3t 2k W13/ MR A REE R R RE
Place of Issued and Attributable

FTEEH

Principal activities

2015 2014
% %
ELEBRRARR A HEY AR #10,000,0007C 100 100 SHERILER
PRC RMB10,000,000 EXERES
Sales of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines
REZRRRERRAF)N FE AR#51,300,0007C 51 51  HERLREKR
PRC RMB51,300,000 ERBREE
Sales of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines
RCRZEBRRARAA! i 7,788,900% 7T 100 100 HEEREER
PRC US$7,788,900 ERERES
Sales of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines
ftRERRRER AR HE AR #29,890,6007T 51 51  HERERK
PRC RMB29,890,600 EREREE
Sales of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines
BMNEBRRRARAA HE AE#80,000,0007T 70 70 HERIER
PRC RMB80,000,000 EREREE
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46. TEMBATER (&) 46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

(Continued)
MEARN—RER (2) General information of subsidiaries (Continued)
MR, BRTRARE
PR 37 36 B R SRR A AEBELRE
Place of Issued and Attributable

GRS
Name of company

incorporation/
establishment

fully paid share/
registered capital

equity interest
of the Group
ZEB-HF —T-F
2015 2014
% %

FTEXEH

Principal activities

AWERRRERAR

ERMMEE BN AAERA R

WHEBRRRAERAT

AR IEEBRRARAR

EHEERRERAAC

k3
PRC

B
PRC

HE
PRC

k3
PRC

k3
PRC

AR #5,000,0007T
RMB5,000,000

AE#50,000,0007T
RMB50,000,000

AR #680,000,0007T
RMB680,000,000

AR #667,000,0007C
RMB667,000,000

29,980,000 7T
US$29,980,000

100 100

100 100

88 88

70 70

50 50

HERILRAR
BEEBRES

Sales of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines

HERILRR
EXBRER

Sales of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines

HERAREN
TR R
R AR K
BEMRES

Sales of natural gas
pressure control
equipment and gas
appliances and
construction of gas
pipelines

HERILRER
ERBRES

Sales of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines

HERIRER
ERBRES

Sales of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines
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46. TEMBLATRER (&)

190

M QRN —RER (&)

NEAW
Name of company

e
BE—Z

EFE+-A=+—HIFE

46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

MR

FR 3t 26

Place of
incorporation/
establishment

(Continued)

General information of subsidiaries (Continued)

ERTRAR
R/ ERRA
Issued and

fully paid share/
registered capital

rEERERE
Attributable
equity interest
of the Group
ZE-RF —TOF

IEER

Principal activities

2015 2014
% %
BEEERRERAR"C B A #286,582,8587T 51 51  HERLREKR
PRC RMB286,582,858 EXERES
Sales of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines
ERERRRERRAN FE AR#227,180,0007T 64 64 HERELREKX
PRC RMB227,180,000 ERBREE
Sales of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines
ZMEBRRER AR i AR#7,904,0007T 95.95 95.95 HERELAK
PRC RMB7,904,000 EREREER
Sales of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines
REERARERRAFN HE AR#55,000,0007C 70 70 HEREREK
PRC RMB55,000,000 EREREE
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46. TEMBARER (&) 46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
(Continued)
WEBATMN—RER (&) General information of subsidiaries (Continued)
Bl ERTRAR
FR L 3t B i/ EMBRA B ELL R AE
Place of Issued and Attributable
NGIE:E incorporation/ fully paid share/ equity interest TEEHR
Name of company establishment registered capital of the Group Principal activities
ZE2-RF —T-F
2015 2014
% %
RAERRRARR A HE AR #300,190,0007T 55 55 HERILRR
PRC RMB300,190,000 ERBRES

Sales of liquefied gas
and connection of

gas pipelines
REBRR (RE) ERAA  HE AK#300,000,0007T 50 50 SHERERR
PRC RMB300,000,000 BERBRER

Sales of liquefied gas
and connection of

gas pipelines
ZHERRRARA A" h A #258,686,0007C 65 65 BERLER
PRC RMB258,686,000 ERRRES

Sales of liquefied gas
and connection of

gas pipelines
SEBEERIBR AR H AR #252,000,0007T 65 65 HERELER
PRC RMB252,000,000 ERHREE

Sales of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines
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46. TEMBEARER (&) 46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

192

M QRN —RER (&)

1 EEAAERENRNSELENT
R -

2 MR RSB IRE50% M EHESR A
B RARBRNAERSZMNEA
AIHERES) - FIt - ZAFRER
REEMNHE AR

3 REARERELUNEEAL LN
RFHE -

4 AEEFEWEB R F54%04E - Wik
BRI ED1557.11%m )

5 ZRARARFEKIOBOHAERA
A HHBRR -Z——F_"A+WmAH
RIFERS AT BT

6 HREAKRERITNESSET S5
SR () 2 7 S [ 9 o P IS 1 R 4
B RENBEEBMIENRE A
FEBERHBRABREEAERRS
MERMERE BMAKERES
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(Continued)

General information of subsidiaries (Continued)

1 These companies were established in the PRC in the form of sino-
foreign equity joint venture enterprise.

2 The Group has existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the
relevant activities of the subsidiary as the Group is able to nominate
over 50% of the board of directors. Accordingly, the company is
regarded as a subsidiary of the Group.

3 These companies were established in the PRC in the form of wholly
foreign-owned enterprise.

4 The Group holds 54% equity interest in the subsidiary and shares profit
at 57.11% according to the shareholders’ agreement.

5 The company was established in the PRC as a joint stock limited
company and its H shares were listed on the Stock Exchange until
14th February, 2012.

6 The Group has existing rights that give it the current ability to direct
the relevant activities of the subsidiary as the Group signed a
memorandum in which the other shareholder would agree the Group’s
decisions on operating, investing and financing activities of the
subsidiary, and the other shareholder would agree the appointment
of all senior management nominated by the Group. Accordingly, the
company is regarded as a subsidiary of the Group.

Except for China Resources Gas Limited which is directly held by
the Company, all other above principal subsidiaries are indirectly
held by the Company and are operating principally in their place
of incorporation/establishment.

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities outstanding at
31st December, 2015 and 2014 or at any time during the year.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Group which, in the
opinion of the directors of the Company, principally affected the
results or assets and liabilities of the Group. To give details of other
subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors of the Company,
result in particulars of excessive length.
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46. TEMBRAREHR (&) 46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
(Continued)
BEEAREERESNIEZEHED Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have material
GlEEIS non-controlling interests
TR RERERIFERERNANE The table below shows details of non-wholly-owned subsidiaries of
B2 EM B A TS the Group that have material non-controlling interests:
BEEERR
B R R FiERER
TEEXNH FiERERELH
Place of Proportion of PEFFERERN
establishment ownership interests w7l (E8) R FERESR
and principal and voting rights held Profit (loss) allocated Accumulated
HEA R LR place of by non-controlling to non-controlling non-controlling
Name of subsidiary business interests interests interests
—2-1f _T-NF =B-1IFf C"T-MF =B-EF _T-IF
2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014
% % TER TEL TR THAT
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000
(&&71)
(Restated)
BMEBREERAT G
PRC 30 30 32,268 30,809 98,442 107,061
ERERRRBRAR hEl
PRC 50 50 15,728 12,084 116,458 122,104
ECERRRARAR thEl
PRC 28.57 28.57 41,826 46,609 82,547 87,665
REEENRERAA hE
PRC 49 49 50,942 45,094 190,904 169,783

HERTEEERRERAR HE

PRC 30 30 32,639 40,221 298,301 296,916
EHERMRERAT hE

PRC 50 50 326,928 314,250 794,003 763,873
ELERRRERAR hE

PRC 42.89 42.89 33,184 28,491 81,450 108,428
RAERMRERRT e

PRC 45 45 2,852 (3,067) 151,429 156,443
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46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
(Continued)

Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have material

non-controlling interests (Continued)

BFEEREER
FRRES
FrisR L f)
Proportion of
ownership interests

PETHERERE

A (B8)

EHEZAE

and principal and voting rights held Profit (loss) allocated Accumulated
HEAR AR place of by non-controlling to non-controlling non-controlling
Name of subsidiary business interests interests interests
—B-R% “T-QmF Z%-HF "T-NF ZB-EF _—T-OF
2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014
% % TER THEL TER TEL
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
(& &31)
(Restated)
BMERME (UF) BRAR HE
PRC 50 50 12,791 9,280 192,131 198,523
BMERRERERAR i
PRC 20 20 141,156 124,793 458,133 413,451
ZEERRRER AR i
PRC 35 35 34,964 46,675 196,844 193,961
REEEERAERAR i
PRC 35 35 (2,284) (34,852) 137,639 149,177
BEERERRERAT HE
PRC 49 49 57,817 52,945 309,096 280,111
ERERRRERAR HE
PRC 36 36 9,110 3,261 100,089 111,522
R SRR A
ERIZEEAHE AR
Individually immaterial
subsidiaries with
non-controlling interests 2,270,181 1,905,533
5,477,647 5,064,551
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47. T ESE N TER 47. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL JOINT
VENTURES
REBEGRE
FROL it 2 Attributable
NEERB Place of R A equity interest TEEH
Name of company establishment Registered capital of the Group Principal activities
—E-1F —TF
2015 2014
% %
REE TR AR EEAR I AR #800,000,0007T 36 36 HERILRK
PRC RMB800,000,000 EEHRER
Sales of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines
EMEREERRARAR i AE#117,939,5007T 40 40 HERILRK
PRC RMB117,939,500 EEHRER
Sales of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines
BIEERRARAR H AR #150,000,0007T 51 51 HERILRK
PRC RMB 150,000,000 EEHRER
Sales of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines
HBERRRBRAA H AE#5194,541,0007T 51 51 HERILRK
PRC RMB194,541,000 EEHRER
Sales of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines
EFERRRARAR H AR #1,000,000,0007T 49 49 HERILRK
PRC RMB1,000,000,000 ERERER
Sales of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines
HEEBRRAERAA FE AK#200,000,0007T 50 50 EERER
PRC RMB200,000,000 ERERER

Sales of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines
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VENTURES (Continued)
rEEELRE

47. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL JOINT

BR L 2 Attributable
NEER Place of R equity interest TEER
Name of company establishment Registered capital of the Group Principal activities
—E-1F —T-[NF
2015 2014
% %
WIERRRERDA H AR #129,068,8007T 51 51 HERIERR
PRC RMB129,068,800 EXBREE
Sales of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines
RILEBRTREERAA 3 AR #148,000,0007T 49.9 49.9 HERILRK
PRC RMB148,000,000 EXBREE
Sales of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines
mEREBRARNERAR + AR#122,423,3727T 50 50 HERIERR
PRC RMB122,423,372 EXBREE
Sales of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines
RILARREERAR HE AR #164,444,4007T 55 55 HERIERR
PRC RMB164,444,400 EXBREE
Sales of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines
HETMRRARLRA HE AR #100,000,0007T 49 49 HEBRILRK
PRC RMB100,000,000 EEBREE
Sales of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines
BINERRRFRDA HE AR #488,376,0007T 49 49 HEBRILRK
PRC RMB488,376,000 EEBREE

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED - Annual Report 2015
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For the year ended 31st December, 2015 HE=ZT—AF+-A=+—HIFE

47. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL JOINT
VENTURES (Continued)

rEEELRE
RS 1t B Attributable
NEER Place of AR A equity interest TEER
Name of company establishment Registered capital of the Group Principal activities
ZE-RF —T-MF
2015 2014
% %
EMEBRRARAT i A #5,000,000,0007 49 9  HERLER
PRC RMB5,000,000,000 EREREE
Sales of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines
FLSEBRAARAT i AE#600,000,0007 49 - HERLER
PRC RMB600,000,000 EREREE

* FZABNRZE—RFHKIL °

FAEGHOREO T ERKE R
AN—BRAE - wAKEAYH
BT ARSI - itk - %
AR RAEENGE QT

AR mE 5%

N o> B
EID)D)E

N

RRAIBEERR  LRMINAEHE
AEDREAKREFANEEREX
CERBRAREEEFEERR
VNN T§$m% B EMEE
AMFBERSAREBNITLE °

|

N

\a|

o

L\) P W D> $

Sales of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines

*

The company was newly set up in 2015.

The Group is able to exercise joint control over these companies
which the decisions about the relevant activities require the
unanimous consent of the Group and the joint venturers.
Accordingly, these companies are regarded as joint ventures of
the Group.

The above table lists the joint ventures of the Group which, in the
opinion of the directors of the Company, principally affected the
results of the year or form a substantial portion of the net assets
of the Group. To give details of other joint ventures would, in the
opinion of the directors of the Company, result in particulars of
excessive length.
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48. T EHE N TFFHE

202

AEER
Name of company

B S7 1 Bk
Place of

L}

#H = —F
BE—=

EFE+-A=+—HIFE

48. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL ASSOCIATES

fRA

establishment Registered capital

RERR/ WELR
BFENREER
Equity interest

held by the joint

ventures/subsidiaries

AEEESRE
Attributable
interest equity
of the Group

TREH

Principal activities

“E-FF TN ZB-RE —T-NF
2015 2014 2015 2014
% % % %
FTERELURREREERF +E AE#95,590,0007T 27 27 25.92 2592  HERRE
PRC RMB95,590,000 RALBARE R
MREER
REMRRES
Sale of natural gas,
LPG and gas
appliances and
construction gas
pipelines
BEMRREERN FE AEK®1,556,000,0007C 22.49 22.49 22.49 22.49 HERELER
ARAF PRC RMB1,556,000,000 BERHREE
Sale of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines
EHRMTABERNR  PE AR40,000,0007T 49 49 24.5 245  HEREIK
ARAT PRC RMB40,000,000 ERHREE
Sale of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines
EEPACER HE AE#40,000,0007T 36 36 36 b HEERLELAK
EREAXFERAA  PRC RMB40,000,000 ERHREE
Sale of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines
IEXARBEEERAR HE AK#30,000,0007T 49 49 49 49  HERLEAR
PRC RMB30,000,000 BERHREE

* ZRRZBRHENR-_ZT-—NFELE
EHRZ G L

ARBEERR - LRAIIOAER
BENRHARENEGEHEERR
BEEBEAXE ARAEZERS #H
SR E QR NHIBE B ARG B

b BE N\

RITE °

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED

*

Sale of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines

The company listed its shares on the Shanghai Stock Exchange in
2014.

The above table lists the associates of the Group which, in the

opinion of the directors of the Company, principally affected the

results or assets and liabilities of the Group. To give details of other

associates would, in the opinion of the directors of the Company,

result in particulars of excessive length.

- Annual Report 2015
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Financial Summary

E4 RESULTS
BE+-A=+—HLFE
Year ended 31st December,
T —T——F —T-=fF —ZT-mF —E-1f
2011 2012 2013 2014 2015
TR TR TR TAL TR
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000
(s&=351)
(Restated)
L TURNOVER 14,208,046 13,621,787 22,288,027 28,717,025 31,095,756
FEREF PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 1,572,401 2,029,284 2,823,754 3,349,129 3,803,107
BE1E ATTRIBUTABLE TO:
RRARAEBA OWNERS OF THE COMPANY 1,176,268 1,645,543 2,160,945 2,479,898 2,837,910
FERER NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS 396,133 383,741 662,809 869,231 965,197
1,572,401 2,029,284 2,823,754 3,349,129 3,803,107
EEREE ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
+=A=1—H
31st December,
—T——F —T——F —T-=F —T-mF —E-FF
2011 2012 2013 2014 2015
THT TR TR TAT TER
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
(&&=351)
(Restated)
EEAE TOTAL ASSETS 24,844,175 37,682,535 50,481,791 57,751,698 59,896,272
BE4E TOTAL LIABILITIES (13,040,466) (22,996,545) (31,865,953) (36,623,779) (37,409,266)
A E TOTAL EQUITY 11,803,709 14,685,990 18,615,838 21,127,919 22,487,006
NG 2PN EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE TO 9,318,659 11,698,852 14,182,935 16,063,368 17,009,359
FEME R AR OWNERS OF THE COMPANY
FERESR NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS 2,485,050 2,987,138 4,432,903 5,064,551 5,477,647
A E TOTAL EQUITY 11,803,709 14,685,990 18,615,838 21,127,919 22,487,006
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Corporate Information

EEg BOARD OF DIRECTORS
HITES Executive Directors

TEREE (F7) Mr. WANG Chuandong (Chairman)
aEHEE (8F) Mr. SHI Shanbo (Chief Executive Officer)
BWhE (BIFE) Mr. GE Bin (Vice Chairman)

FARBREE (BEHHFE) Mr. ONG Thiam Kin (Chief Financial Officer)
FHITES Non-executive Directors

MXREA Mr. DU Wenmin

Rt Mr. WEI Bin

PRIE St 4 Mr. CHEN Ying

TEXRE Mr. WANG Yan

BAFHTES Independent Non-executive Directors
H5EBEE Mr. WONG Tak Shing

Falz+ Ms. YU Jian

BEELE Mr. YU Hon To, David

U A Mr. QIN Chaokui
ERHEEREEZES AUDIT AND RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE
EELEE (EE) Mr. YU Hon To, David (Chairman)

=SB TE Mr. WONG Tak Shing

A Mr. WEI Bin

TEXRE Mr. WANG Yan

Falz+t Ms. YU Jian

FMEEE REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
=5EBLAE (FF) Mr. WONG Tak Shing (Chairman)
MXREE Mr. DU Wenmin

BEELA Mr. YU Hon To, David

REEE® NOMINATION COMMITTEE
FEREE (FE) Mr. WANG Chuandong (Chairman)
hEHLE Mr. SHI Shanbo

HXREE Mr. DU Wenmin

=HEBEE Mr. WONG Tak Shing

Falz+t Ms. YU Jian

BNEE A Mr. YU Hon To, David

REARSEAE Mr. QIN Chaokui

REZES INVESTMENT COMMITTEE
B A (FE) Mr. WEI Bin (Chairman)

FEREE Mr. WANG Chuandong

PeR 18 % A Mr. CHEN Ying

=iFBEE Mr. WONG Tak Shing

204 CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED - Annual Report 2015



ERMRERERD A

China Resources Gas Group Limited

BEBEFEEE265 Room 1901-02, China Resources Building,
ZEMAE1901-02%Z 26 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong.

T & Telephone : 2593 8200
{8& Facsimile : 2598 8228
#34E Website : www.crgas.com.hk

B H Email . investor-relations@crgas.com.hk
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